Social and spatial inequalities in healthcare use and health

outcomes among people living with dementia in England

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements of the University of Liverpool for the degree of Doctor in Philosophy (or other degree as appropriate)

by James Robert Watson

March 2023

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors for supporting and helping me through my PhD. Their help, guidance, and friendship during the last three and a half years have bene invaluable. The work I have done, the things I have learnt, and this PhD thesis would not exist if it were not for them. Thank you to Dr. Mark Green, Dr. Clarissa Giebel, Dr. Fran Darlington Pollock and Dr. Asangaedem Akpan for everything you have done for me.

I would also like to thank the other PhDs and researchers I have met during my PhD. I have met a lot of people at the University of Liverpool – including the GDSL and the dementia research forum - and elsewhere as a result of my PhD. I'm glad to be able to call them friends. Going through the same process - particularly in the last few years – helped make it an enjoyable experience.

I would also like to thank my family, in particular my partner Rachel. Rachel has supported me so much in everything I have done - including my PhD - and kept me going in times I felt out of my depth.

James Robert Watson

Social and spatial inequalities in healthcare use and health outcomes among people living with dementia in England

Abstract

Introduction

The number of people living with dementia (PLWD) continues to rise. PLWD from disadvantaged groups are more likely to experience delayed or incorrect diagnoses, suboptimal care, transitions into nursing care, lower quality of life and increased mortality risk. Big data can support understanding of inequalities in among PLWD and identify solutions for narrowing these inequalities. The aims of this PhD project were to: (i) synthesise evidence of inequalities from existing research using routine and cohort datasets, and identify gaps in the current literature. In identify variations among PLWD in (ii) their use of different types of primary and secondary healthcare services, (iii) risk of mortality, and (iv) experience of different temporal patterns in primary and secondary healthcare use in the five-years after dementia diagnoses, and the risk of subsequent mortality.

Methods

To address the aims of this PhD, three quantitative research studies and a systematic review were conducted. A systematic review synthesised evidence of dementia inequalities from research using routinely-collected data and identified gaps in the existing research. The gaps in the literature led to the development of three quantitative research papers utilising big data. Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD) data included ~120 million healthcare contacts for over 142,300 people diagnosed with dementia in England between 2002-2016, examining geographic and socio-economic inequalities. Regression models evidenced the simultaneous impact of explanatory factors on mortality risk and healthcare use. Finally,

clusters of PLWD were created based on healthcare use trajectories post-diagnosis. Cox proportional hazards regression evidenced variation in subsequent mortality across clusters.

Results

Findings highlight numerous inequalities for PLWD. The systematic review showed differences in care transitions, care quality, dementia progression and survival, associated with demographic, geographic and socio-economic factors. Quantitative studies demonstrated variations in mortality risk and healthcare use, associated with age, sex, ethnicity, deprivation and geography. Specifically, men, older PLWD and PLWD from more deprived areas experience greater risk of mortality, and men, people from White ethnicity groups and PLWD from more deprived and rural areas were more likely to encounter healthcare use associated with poor health outcomes. Additionally, four distinct trajectories in healthcare use were noted in early- and late-onset populations. Variation in mortality risk was associated with different patterns in healthcare use.

Discussion

This PhD sought to address gaps in the dementia care inequalities literature. By using big data this PhD identifies the simultaneous impact of multiple social and spatial factors in healthcare use and mortality risk among PLWD. Novel evidence also demonstrates temporal patterns in healthcare use among PLWD, and the impact of healthcare trajectories on subsequent mortality. This PhD demonstrates geographic and socio-economic inequalities in dementia, and the extent to which mortality risk varies based on healthcare pathways. Some subpopulations encounter suboptimal care and worse health outcomes, exacerbated by an underfunded and understaffed health and social care system. Our findings highlight the need for health and social care to view care among PLWD as heterogenous, and the benefits of involving PLWD and carers in their own care decisions. Promoting better and more accessible and consistent care for PLWD requires identification of initial, and changing needs. Identification of need, and person-centred care can illuminate the specific needs of

the individual and make care more appropriate and accessible to the individual, which has the potential to narrow inequalities in how PLWD experience care and health outcomes. Future research should explore more factors of inequalities, comprehensive care trajectories, develop international collaborations and employ data science to support decision-making.

Table of Contents

List of A	bbreviationsi
List of Fi	iguresii
List of Ta	ablesiii
1. Chaj	pter 1: Introduction1
1.1.	Background1
1.1.1	1. Aims:
1.2.	Thesis structure9
1.3.	Publications and Contributions11
1.4.	Dissemination and Public and Patient Involvement and Engagement (PPIE).14
1.4.1	1. Public Involvement and Engagement14
1.4.2	2. Conference presentations:14
1.4.3	3. Workshops:
1.4.4	Blogs, Podcasts, Seminars and Webinars:15
1.5.	Why I did this PhD?16
2. Chaj	oter 2: Systematic Review: Use of routine and cohort data to explore
inequalit	ies in dementia
2.1.	Introduction
2.2.	Methods
2.2.1	21 Search Strategy
2.2.2	2. Inclusion criteria
2.2.3	3. Exclusion criteria
2.2.4	A. Assessment of quality
2.2.5	5. Data extraction
2.2.6	5. Data Synthesis
2.3.	Results
2.3.1	1. Search Outcomes
2.3.2	2. Characteristics of included studies24
2.3.3	3. Study Outcomes/Stage in Care Pathway
2.3.4	4. Transitions to nursing care
2.3.5	5. Anti-dementia medication
2.3.6	6. Health and Social Care Interaction
2.3.7	7. Disease progression, mortality and survival
2.3.8	3. Study Quality
2.4.	Discussion
2.4.1	1. Limitations

2.4.	.2.	Conclusions and Implications	44
2.5. R	lesea	rch developments from Chapter 2	45
3. Cha on Mort	apter ality	3: The Impact of Demographic, Socio-Economic and Geographic Factor Risk among People Living with Dementia in England (2002–2016)	s 46
3.1.	Intro	oduction	48
3.2.	Mate	erials and Methods	50
3.2.	.1.	Data Access and Ethical Approval	50
3.2.	.2.	Outcome Variable	51
3.2.	.3.	Explanatory Variables	51
3.2.	.4.	Missing Data	52
3.2.	.5.	Sample Population	53
3.2.	.6.	Statistical Analysis	53
3.3.	Res	ults	54
3.3.	.1.	Sample Population Characteristics	54
3.3.	.2.	Mortality Inequalities in Early-Onset Dementia	56
3.3.	.3.	Mortality Inequalities in Late-Onset Dementia	57
3.4.	Disc	cussion	57
3.4.	.1.	Key Findings	57
3.4.	.2.	Research Context	58
3.4.	.3.	Implications for Policy, Practice and Research	60
3.4.	.4.	Limitations	61
3.4.	.5.	Conclusions	64
3.5. R	lesea	rch developments from Chapter 3	65
4. Cha	apter	4: Social and spatial inequalities in healthcare use among people living is in England (2002, 2016)	66
4 1	Intre	a III England (2002-2010)	00 60
4.1.	Mot	orials and Mathads	00
4.2.	1		70
4.2.	. I. ว	Sample Deputation	70
4.2.	2.		71
4.2.	.s. 1		/ I 7 2
4.2.	.4. 5	Explanatory variables	73
4.2.	.). 6	Missing Data	73
4.2. 12	.u.	ulte	74 75
יו.ט. עע	1	Samole population	75
4.3. 12	2	Multivariable logistic regression: primary and secondary healthcare use	د ر 27
4.3.	<u>~</u> .		10

4.4.	Discussion	83
4.4.1	. Limitations	85
4.4.2	. Conclusions	87
4.5.	Appendices	
4.6. Re	search developments from Chapter 4	92
5. Chap	oter 5: Identifying longitudinal healthcare pathways and subseque	ent mortality
for peopl analysis.	e living with dementia in England: an observational group-based	trajectory
5.1. I	ntroduction	
5.2.	Methods	
5.2.1	. Data Access and Ethical Approval	98
5.2.2	. Sample population	
5.2.3	. Outcome Variable	
5.2.4	. Healthcare Use Trajectories	
5.2.5	. Temporal Healthcare Use	
5.2.6	Explanatory Factors	101
5.2.7	Loss-to follow-up and missing data	101
5.2.8	. Statistical Analysis	
5.3. F	Results	104
5.3.1	. Sample population characteristics	104
5.3.2	. Attrition from sample population	104
5.3.3	Selection of healthcare use trajectory clusters	
5.3.4	Defining healthcare use trajectory clusters:	106
i.	Early-onset	106
ii.	Late-onset	
5.3.5	Social and spatial variations in cluster membership	110
iii.	Characteristics of early-onset healthcare trajectory clusters	110
iv.	Characteristics of late-onset healthcare trajectory clusters	111
5.3.6	. Healthcare use cluster survival	113
i.	Early-onset	113
ii.	Late-onset	
5.4. I	Discussion	
5.4.1	. Limitations	120
5.4.2	. Conclusion	122
5.5.	Appendices	124
6. Chap	oter 6: Discussion	

6.′	1.	Intro	oduction	.128
6.2	2.	Key	Findings	.129
	6.2.	1.	Healthcare use	.131
	6.2.	2.	Age	.133
	6.2.	3.	Sex	.134
	6.2.	4.	Ethnicity	. 135
	6.2.	5.	Deprivation	.136
	6.2.	6.	Geography	.137
	6.2.	7.	Contribution to wider research and knowledge	.138
6.3	3.	Stre	engths and Limitations	.140
	6.3.	1.	Strengths	.140
	6.3.	2.	Limitations	.141
6.4	4.	Futu	ure Research	.144
	6.4.	1.	Additional variables, potential inequalities and outcomes	.144
	6.4.	2.	Comprehensive and integrated trajectories in care	. 145
	6.4.	З.	Applying methods internationally and cross-country comparisons	.146
	6.4.	4.	Machine learning for supporting person-centred care	.146
6.	5.	Poli	cy and Practice Recommendations	. 147
	6.5. and	1. ' cont	Reduce health inequalities for disadvantaged groups through improved acc tinuity of care	ess . 147
	6.5.	2.	Improve provision and access to care for PLWD in rural areas	.148
	6.5. diag	3. gnosi	Develop infrastructure and practice in primary care to enable better access s and care	<i>to</i> . 149
	6.5.	4.	Person-centred care	. 149
Refe	eren	ces.		.150

List of Abbreviations

A&E	Accident & Emergency
AChEI	Acetylcholinesterase inhibitor
ADPR	Alzheimer's Disease Patient Registry
BIC	Bayesian Information Criterion
CERAD	Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease
CFAS	Cognitive Function and Ageing Studies
CI	Confidence Interval(s)
CPH	Cox Proportional Hazards
CPRD	Clinical Practice Research Datalink
CRIS	Clinical Record Interactive Search
EHR	Electronic Health Record
ELSA	English Longitudinal Study of Ageing
GP	General Practice(s)
HDR	Hospital Discharge Register
HR	Hazard Ratio(s)
IIR	Incidence Rate Ratio(s)
ILTC	Institutional Long-Term Care
IMD	Indices of Multiple Deprivation
LogLik	Log-Likelihood
MADRC	Massachusetts Alzheimer's Disease Research Center
MEDALZ	Medication Use and Alzheimer's Disease
NACC	National Alzheimer's Coordinating Center
NHS	National Health Service
NIH	National institutes of Health
NIHR	National Institute for Health Research
NLCS	National Longitudinal Caregiver Study
ONS	Office for national Statistics
OR	Odds Ratio(s)
PLWD	People Living With Dementia
PPIE	Public and Patient Involvement and Engagement
PR	Population Register
ReDiGi	Registry of Dementia of Girona
RR	Relative Risk
RTPC	RightTimePlaceCare
SATS	Swedish Alzheimer Treatment Study
SLAM	South London Maudsley
SveDem	
	Swedish Dementia Registry
THIN	Swedish Dementia Registry The Health Improvement Network
THIN UK	Swedish Dementia Registry The Health Improvement Network United Kingdom

List of Figures

List of Tables

Table 2.1: Summary characteristics of included papers 26
Table 2.2: Papers analysing socio-economic deprivation or geography (country of residence)as a potential factor in outcome measures for PLWD
Table 2.3: Quality rating checklist and applied scores
Table 3.2. Demographics of UK dementia population vs. sample population
Table 3.3. Sample population mortality and available years of data (from year of diagnosis to date of final recorded GP contact/death), by socio-economic and geographic variables 55
Table 3.4. Fully-adjusted for covariates1. Cox proportional hazards model for samplepopulation with early- and late-onset dementia, by explanatory factors56
Table 4.1: Demographic characteristics of sample population vs. UK dementia population. 77
Appendix 4.3: Healthcare contact rates per patient year for early-onset dementia sample population, by healthcare type and explanatory factor
Appendix 4.4: Healthcare contact rates per patient year for late-onset dementia sample population, by healthcare type and explanatory factor
Table 5.1: % representation of early- and late-onset sample populations in each cluster, bydemographic, geographic and socio-economic variables112
Appendix 5.1: Loss to follow-up for early- and late-onset population, for 10 years after date of diagnosis
Appendix 5.2: Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) and Log-likelihood (logLik) values for group-based trajectory models of one to ten groups (k) for both early- and late-onset sample populations
Appendix 5.3: Inclusion in GBTM analyses, missing data and those who died in early- and late-onset dementia populations, by explanatory factors
Appendix 5.4: Multinomial logistic regression output for likelihood of cluster membership based on socio-economic and geographic explanatory factors
Appendix 5.5: Cox Proportional Hazards regression outputs for association between mortality risk and explanatory factors

1. Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. Background

Dementia is an umbrella term for a group of syndromes associated with impaired cognitive function and progressive neurocognitive decline (NHS, 2020). Some symptoms are more common among people living with dementia (PLWD) and can impact their day-to-day functioning. These include both instrumental activities of daily living (IADL) - such as household tasks, meal preparation and adherence to medications - and basic activities of daily living (ADL) – such as bathing and dressing oneself (Giebel, Sutcliffe and Challis, 2015). There are subtypes of dementia which have additional or differential symptomatology (NHS, 2022 (2)). Alzheimer's Disease is the most prevalent subtype of dementia and often exhibits memory loss and difficulties in social situations, particularly in unfamiliar environments (NHS, 2020). Symptoms of dementia can be less or more severe depending on the subtype, especially in the early stages. Vascular dementia can include muscle weakness, short-term paralysis and difficulties with movement, mood and understanding (NHS, 2020 (2)). Dementia with Lewy bodies can present with impairment in vision and perception, motor difficulties, difficulties in speech and speed of thinking, and hallucinations, unsteadiness and sleep disturbances (NHS, 2020 (3)). Frontotemporal dementia can present with behavioural changes – including inappropriate or less-empathetic behaviour (NHS, 2020 (4)). As dementia progresses, the number and severity of symptoms can increase. More acute issues with memory, communication and mobility, combined with the potential for greater behavioural changes and issues with maintaining ones' health can present greater needs in ADLs and IADLs for PLWD (Alzheimer's Society, 2021). Dementia currently has no cure and treatment is aimed at managing and delaying the symptoms and impacts of dementia (NHS, 2021), making timely and effective diagnosis, treatment and support vital (Alzheimer's Society, 2021 (2)).

There are approximately 944,000 PLWD in the UK (Dementia Statistics Hub, Alzheimer's Society, 2022). Having accounted for less than 4% of all deaths in the UK in 2005, dementia was the primary cause of one in every ten deaths in 2021 (Dementia Statistics Hub, Alzheimer's Society, 2022). In part due to an ageing UK population (Alzheimer's Society, 2022), the prevalence of dementia is set to continue to rise, with forecasts suggesting that there will be more than 1 million PLWD by 2024, and by 2040 that figure is expected to reach 1.4 million (Dementia Statistics Hub, Alzheimer's Research UK, 2022 (2)). The largest proportional increase in the number of PLWD is expected to be among those with more severe symptoms, and therefore more acute needs (Wittenberg et al., 2020). Due to the increasing number of PLWD, and a greater proportion of PLWD having more acute needs as a result of the severity of their condition, the cost of providing health and social care to PLWD is projected to increase threefold by 2030 (Andersen et al., 2003; Wittenberg et al., 2020).

In 2015, the government published '*The Prime Minister's Challenge on Dementia*'. This paper stated the government saw dementia as a public health priority and they would deliver on specific targets by 2020 (Department of Health and Social Care, 2015). These targets have not been delivered on, and even prior to the end of the target period one review illustrated that professionals felt some commitments would not be delivered (British Geriatrics Society, 2018). Public health authorities, GPs, and the wider health and social care workforce were not adequately funded to provide the length and breadth of support needed to improve the situation for PLWD (British Geriatrics Society, 2018). Since these Government commitments, reform of an unfair system and greater funding have not been delivered. Instead, care for PLWD has stagnated, and with greater demand, services are under growing pressures (Local Government, 2021; UK Parliament, 2021). The intensive and specific support needs for PLWD were amplified during the COVID-19 pandemic and the impact of the pandemic has not been fully alleviated (Alzheimer's Society, 2020(1); Giebel et al., 2021; Numbers and Brodaty, 2021). Health and social care services are

stretched, and a lack of resources and staffing are resulting in a system struggling to meet growing demands from an increasingly ageing population (Alzheimer's Society, 2022). A new 10-year dementia plan was announced by the UK Government in 2022, with further commitments to funding dementia care and research (Department of Health and Social Care, 2022). However, Governmental changes have meant the plan remains inactive, and once again professionals and experts feel this funding would fall short of that required to significantly impact care for PLWD (Alzheimer's Society, 2022; Alzheimer's Society, 2023).

Lack of funding results in suboptimal service delivery and inadequate staffing, which has an impact on the level and quality of care PLWD receive (Alzheimer's Society, 2022). Government inaction will impact the UK population of PLWD, but different groups in society are more likely to be unequally affected and experience poorer health as a result (UK Dementia Research Institute, 2022). Health inequalities are the 'avoidable differences in health outcomes between groups or populations' (Office for Health Improvement & Disparities, 2022). In the Marmot review in 2010, large swathes of health inequalities were noted across the life course, highlighting the impact of the wider, social determinants of health (Institute of Health Equity, 2010). The wider determinants of health refer to the distribution of access and availability of resources which enable positive health (Institute of Health Equity, 2010).

The demographic, geographic, socio-economic and wider determinants of health do not exist in silos. They are often cumulative and multifactorial (The King's Fund, 2022). When studying these wider determinants of health, we therefore need to consider frameworks which make explicit the multiple and interacting nature of the drivers of inequalities. One important framework that underpins the thinking in this thesis is intersectionality. With roots in Black Feminist literature, intersectionality makes explicit the multiple interacting dimensions for how structural issues produce injustices in health (Agenor, 2020). The presence of intersectionality has been evidenced in dementia, particularly when identifying gaps in the experiences of PLWD (Dilworth-Anderson, Moon and Aranda, 2020; Roes et al., 2022), and when evidencing the social exclusion and subsequent impacts on the use of services and health outcomes (Adames et al., 2020; Archibald, Innes and Murphy, 2004; Harari and Lee, 2022). As such, it is important to be cognizant of the intersectional nature of factors that can impact health, health and social care access, and health outcomes (Archibald, Innes and Murphy, 2004). While this thesis was unable to fully implement a truly intersectional analysis, this framework is key for justifying the need to consider a multitude of axes of inequality in the analyses.

Some social groups are less likely to have access, or have limited availability, to green spaces, job market or quality education for example, that can enable good quality health (Dahlgren and Whitehead, 1991). Those more likely to be disadvantaged are more likely to experience poorer relative health and health outcomes (The King's Fund, 2021). Health and health outcome inequalities exist by sex, whether a person lives in an urban or rural area, those from more socio-economically deprived areas or with lower incomes, and people from minoritised ethnic groups (Institute of Health Equity, 2020; The King's Fund, 2022).

There are inequalities in many outcomes in dementia. From the outset, PLWD may encounter issues in accessing a dementia diagnosis (Ahmad et al., 2010; Mukadam et al., 2013; Vohra et al., 2021). They may also face inequalities once they receive their dementia diagnosis, in terms of their access to health and social care (Giebel et al., 2021), and in their likelihood of experiencing poor health outcomes (Wu et al., 2018). There are variations in the health of PLWD, the quality of the health and social care they encounter, and their risk of worse health outcomes, as a result of demographic, geographic and socio-economic characteristics (UK Dementia Research Institute, 2022). For example, people living in areas of greater deprivation and from minoritised ethnic backgrounds are more likely to have dementia, but are less likely to receive an official diagnosis (Gamble et al., 2022; Tsamakis et al., 2021). Getting a dementia diagnosis is a gateway to accessing care and treatment (Morgan et al., 2009), but delays, misdiagnoses of dementia subtypes, particularly among some communities lead to a lack of access to the treatment and support they would benefit

from (Bradford et al., 2010; Leist, 2017; Robinson, Tang and Taylor, 2015). As a result, those communities who tend to face barriers in accessing a diagnosis are less likely to receive timely treatment to maintain their cognition and manage their general health (Cooper et al., 2016; Lin et al., 2021).

Even after receiving a dementia diagnosis, some groups receive less frequent and poorer quality care, and experience greater barriers to treatment. Level of deprivation, ethnicity, gender and other socio-economic factors impact the level and quality of treatment and support received in dementia (Cooper et al., 2016; Giebel et al., 2021; Kenning et al., 2017; Sourial et al., 2020; Wu et al., 2018). A lack of early care and treatment will result in a lack of support and management of symptoms remaining unresolved (Bradford et al., 2009). This can increase the likelihood of dementia progressing rapidly (Moise, Schwarzinger and Um, 2004). More advanced dementia and more frequent symptoms put significant pressure on care at home, and may increase the need for acute care and support. Increased care needs and suboptimal treatment can place greater pressure on unpaid carers and care at home, resulting in avoidable, emergency healthcare use (de Vugt and Verhey, 2013; Sommerlad et al., 2019), transitions into formal care settings, and increased risk of death (Reeves et al., 2023). Existing inequalities in the level and quality of care, support and treatment are likely to widen due to the growing need coinciding with shortfalls in local and national government service funding and provision (Giebel et al., 2021; Grand et al., 2011; Hu et al., 2022).

The number of PLWD increasing in the UK, particularly among those with more severe symptomatology and greater day-to-day needs. Coupled with a lack of funding and services struggling to meet current demand, this is only likely to exacerbate inequalities, and as such, it is essential we understand the situation now, to ease current and negate future inequalities among PLWD. There is a body of research exploring inequalities or disparities in the health and social care use and health outcome among PLWD (Bambra et al., 2010; Cookson et al., 2016). There has also been a substantial amount of research using cohort or secondary datasets to explore inequalities in general health and in different health conditions (Institute

of Health Equity, 2010), with some investigating those among PLWD (Cooper et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2018). However, there has seemingly been no synthesis of the literature identifying research employing routine or cohort data to explore demographic, geographic or socio-economic inequalities in the care and health outcomes of PLWD. The existing literature – highlighted in the systematic review – identifies the gaps in the literature that currently exist. Firstly, there is a lack of research encompassing a range of demographic, geographic or socio-economic variables as factors associated with inequalities. Secondly, existing research does not simultaneously investigate the use of a range of different healthcare services. Finally, existing research tends to frame contact with healthcare as oneoff, unrelated events, rather than as a cumulative, inherently interlinked series of events.

The focus of this PhD was to demonstrate the potential of secondary data to identify inequalities in service use and health outcomes among PLWD. Secondary datasets can be classed as big data if incorporating one or more of the three key concepts of what defines big data: volume, velocity and variety (Russom, 2011). The three Vs refer to the size of the data (Volume), the exponential growth in the data (Velocity) or different types of data or opportunities for analysis of the data (Variety) (Russom, 2011). Large databases of routinelycollected data such as electronic health records can be classed as big data, and can provide the basis for research to examine health inequalities (Dash et al., 2019). Big data has been used extensively to explore health and health inequalities (Pastorino et al., 2019; WHO, 2022) and continues to provide great benefits to research and the people research seeks to benefit, but not extensively in dementia research. Big data of larger populations can provide better representation of societal groups often under-represented in data and research (Redwood and Gill, 2013). Research encompassing larger populations can enable greater representation of the experience of ethnic minority groups, those from more deprived areas, and provide better comparison of experience between geographic regions (Zhang et al., 2017). There is estimated to be 944,000 people in the UK living with dementia, but figures from Public Health England estimate that as of 2022, only 62.0% of PLWD aged 65 and over

in England had an official recorded diagnosis (Public Health England, 2023). There are also relatively few people with early-onset dementia, so a larger sample population can allow for a more representative analysis of the experience of early-onset dementia. As such, representation in routinely-collected datasets could be somewhat limited. Using big data of large populations can enable greater representation of both people with early- and lateonset. From Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD), this thesis employed large volumes of electronic health records – primary healthcare contacts and linked secondary healthcare contacts - for a large population of PLWD. CPRD has previously been used to investigate health, healthcare and inequalities (Hawkins et al., 2012; Head et al., 2021), but not extensively in research among populations of PLWD. The linked data of EHR from CPRD will be used to explore and describe variations in healthcare use and health outcomes among different social and spatial groups of PLWD in England. With that said, it is important to understand how we can employ such large volumes of secondary data in dementia to represent the wider experience of the breadth of people with dementia. We need to understand how existing research has employed large volumes of secondary data to examine inequalities among PLWD, as well as identifying the gaps in the research. I can then focus on research areas with limited knowledge. Using big data, I can explore the simultaneous impact geographic and socio-economic factors may have on contact with different types of healthcare, and risk of mortality post-diagnosis. This will be done initially through a series of association-based regression analyses of demographic, geographic and socio-economic factors and different outcome measures. The first outcomes measure is mortality risk (based on the presence, or not, of a date of death in CPRD data), secondly the frequency or likelihood of using three types of primary healthcare (GP observations, dementia medications and non-dementia medications) and secondary healthcare (A&E attendances, emergency hospital admissions and elective hospital admissions) services. Finally, members of the sample population(s) will be clustered into groups, based on temporal patterns in their use of primary and secondary healthcare services in the first five

full years after dementia diagnosis. Regression analyses will then examine the association between membership to the different healthcare use cluster, and subsequent mortality risk.

Due to the existing evidence, the gaps in the literature and the growing need to evidence inequalities among PLWD, a set of aims were developed. To effectively support PLWD, informal carers, and health and social care staff, I need to understand the current picture of demographic, geographic and socio-economic inequalities in the healthcare use and health outcomes among PLWD. From this knowledge, I can identify policy changes and potential changes to health and social care practice which can improve care for PLWD, and reduce the potential future inequalities. These recommendations also aim to highlight inequalities in service access and quality, and health outcomes, with the direct intention of improving the situation for the social and spatial groups of PLWD already encountering poor care and outcomes.

Aims

The focus of this PhD project was to examine how electronic health records can be used to identify inequalities in service use and health outcomes among PLWD, as a means to identifying areas of potential policy and practice change to aid care, support and health outcome benefits for PLWD. In order to fulfil the intent of this PhD project, four sequential aims were developed:

1.1.1. Aims:

- 1. Explore the potential of routinely collected data for investigating dementia inequalities
- 2. Examine potential inequalities in healthcare use among PLWD
- 3. Examine potential inequalities in health outcomes (e.g. mortality risk) among PLWD
- 4. Identify variations in healthcare use and its impact on health outcomes.

The first aim provides a rationale from which the subsequent research within this PhD came. A systematic review will demonstrate how existing research has used routine datasets to understand demographic, geographic and socio-economic variation and inequalities in the care, treatment, health and health outcomes among PLWD. By synthesising existing research employing secondary datasets to examine socio-economic inequalities among PLWD, we can identify how health and care outcomes vary among different groups. It is also possible to highlight the limitations of the current literature and highlights gaps in the research which can be addressed through the subsequent research in this PhD project.

The second and third aims contribute to improving our understanding on the nature and extent of social inequalities in dementia outcomes. Analyses will consider how both the level of contact with healthcare services and the risk of worse health outcomes (e.g., mortality) vary between different social and spatial groups. The fourth aim will extend this work through introducing a longitudinal element towards how inequalities were characterised in aims two and three. It will identify the different temporal trajectories in the level of contact PLWD have with different types of primary and secondary healthcare, and how they relate to health outcomes. This is important to do since it can begin to highlight the importance of healthcare as a sequence of linked events, rather than a series of individual, one-off contacts.

1.2. Thesis structure

There are six chapters in this thesis, sequential in order with each generating the evidence to proceed with the next. The thesis follows the 'thesis by publication' route, representing a collection of published and drafted papers with additional written narrative in-between. The second chapter is a systematic review exploring how existing research has used routine data to investigate geographic and socio-economic inequalities among PLWD. As the first of four research papers from this PhD thesis, this review draws together the global evidence of variations among PLWD, from diagnosis, through their trajectory - including health and social care use - to survival and mortality risk. From here we can illustrate which inequalities exist and which groups within society are most likely to have poor health and health outcomes, and experience poor health and social care contacts. Having drawn together the available research on the topic, it is then possible to demonstrate any gaps in the existing literature on

inequalities in dementia. As a result, it is possible to know how primary research - using routine data and quantitative methods - can start to fill the spaces in the existing knowledge.

The next chapters present three quantitative analyses informed from the review. The research papers presented in chapters three, four and five all utilised Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD) primary healthcare use data. Data linkage allowed access to records of these patients' secondary healthcare use and their anonymised patient-level geographic and socio-economic variables. Chapter three investigates how primary healthcare use and medications, geography and socio-economic factors can impact mortality risk among PLWD post-diagnosis. Employing large-scale, secondary datasets this paper examines the variation in risk of mortality among 142,340 people with either early- and late-onset dementia based on how much they access GP care, where they live and access GP care, and their demographic and socio-economic background. This paper produced a novel analysis incorporating a multitude of social and spatial variables as both factors for mortality risk and as potential confounders. The paper also highlights the potential for further research employing CPRD healthcare use data to explore social and spatial inequalities in other outcomes among PLWD, including use of primary and secondary healthcare services.

Chapter four examines the impact of these explanatory factors on the frequency or likelihood of using six different types of primary and secondary healthcare. This paper highlighted social and spatial variations in GP contacts, medications for both dementia and non-dementia medications, their use of A&E and both emergency and elective admissions to hospital. With limited previous exploration of variations in the use of multiple healthcare services by the same population, this study provides novel evidence. This is important given the number of demographic, geographic and socio-economic factors incorporated as factors for inequalities in the rates of likelihood of using different healthcare services. This study also gives narrative context to the potential reasons why some groups in society may encounter primary and secondary healthcare services more or less than others. This study also illuminated potential avenues of future research, again using CPRD data. Healthcare use is

not a series of one-off events, they are inherently linked and are sequential, with each having the potential to impact the occurrence and frequency of subsequent healthcare use.

The fifth chapter goes on to explore temporal patterns in primary and secondary healthcare use among PLWD, something with extremely limited exploration in previous research. Employing over 80 million electronic health records for PLWD, we employed novel temporal clustering methods to identify groups of PLWD who experience similar patterns in their use of GP services, dementia and non-dementia medication, and an all-encompassing secondary healthcare use variable. Defining the populations of people with early- and late-onset dementia, we were able to demonstrate groups of PLWD with similar temporal patterns in the use of healthcare. Once clusters were generated, it was possible to explore the social and spatial constituency of each, to highlight inequalities in the likelihood of experiencing different healthcare pathways by social and spatial factors. Finally, this study went on to demonstrate that PLWD who experience certain healthcare pathways had a greater risk of subsequent mortality. The methods employed in this study and the findings generated, are novel, particularly in dementia inequalities research, but also highlighted potential areas of future research to build on this paper.

Chapter six is the Discussion chapter, bringing together the evidence generated from this thesis, how these findings sit within the existing research, giving a narrative and wider, social context to how and why these results came about. The final chapter highlights the findings across the thesis, generating evidence-based recommendations to inform both policy and practice. Recommendations are raised with a view to improving the situation for PLWD, informal carers, health and social care services and staff, and to reduce inequalities which may be encountered more acutely by some geographic or social groups.

1.3. Publications and Contributions

At point of thesis submission (March 2023), I have published three of my PhD chapters, and submitted a fourth and final one to a journal (currently undergoing peer review).

Chapter 1: **Introduction.** James Watson wrote this chapter. Asangaedem Akpan, Clarissa Giebel and Mark Green offered revision contributions.

Chapter 2: **Systematic Review.** James Watson was the lead author, producing the search strategy, extracting relevant research papers and findings related to the review topic. James Watson also synthesising the research evidence, developing findings and themes from the encompassed literature, developing the narrative discussion, conclusions, and both practice and future research recommendations. Asangaedem Akpan, Clarissa Giebel, Fran Darlington Pollock and Mark Green co-authored the chapter contributing revisions. James Watson and Clarissa Giebel produced the study design and acted as reviewers of the research papers to be included. This paper was published in the International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry:

Watson J, Giebel C, Green M, Darlington-Pollock F and Akpan A. Use of routine and cohort data globally in exploring dementia care pathways and inequalities: A systematic review. *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*. 2021;**36**(2), pp. 252. doi: 10.1002/gps.5419

Chapter 3: **Research study 1**. James Watson was the lead author, produced the study design, formatting, cleaning and development of data and variables needed for analysis. James Watson cleaned the data, formatted variables needed for analysis, and conducted the analysis, producing and enacting code for descriptive and statistical analysis, as well as producing the synthesised findings narrative discussion, conclusions and recommendations. Mark Green and Fran Darlington Pollock offered contributions to study design and data formatting. Asangaedem Akpan, Clarissa Giebel, Fran Darlington Pollock and Mark Green co-authored the chapter contributing revisions. James Watson and a public advisor discussed the findings, discussions and recommendations to apply a real-world lens to the paper. the narrative around the findings and discussion. This paper was published in the International Journal of Environmental Research in Public Health:

Watson J, Darlington-Pollock F, Green M, Giebel C, Akpan A. The Impact of Demographic, Socio-Economic and Geographic Factors on Mortality Risk among People Living with Dementia in England (2002-2016). *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* 2021 Dec 20;18(24):13405. doi: 10.3390/ijerph182413405

Chapter 4: **Research study 2.** James Watson was the lead author and produced the study design. James Watson cleaned and formatted the data and variables, selected analytical methods, wrote and enacted the code for descriptive and statistical analyses, synthesised findings and produced the discussion narrative, draw conclusions and recommendations for policy, practice and future research. Mark Green and Fran Darlington Pollock offered contributions to study design and data formatting. Asangaedem Akpan, Clarissa Giebel, Fran Darlington Pollock and Mark Green co-authored the chapter contributing revisions. James Watson and a public advisor discussed the findings, discussions and recommendations to apply a real-world lens to the paper. This paper was published in Aging and Mental Health:

Watson J, Green MA, Giebel C, Darlington-Pollock F, Akpan A. Social and spatial inequalities in healthcare use among people living with dementia in England (2002-2016). *Aging Ment Health*. 2022 Aug 12:1-12. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2022.2107176

Chapter 5: Research study 3. James Watson was the lead author. James Watson and Mark Green generated the study design and choice of analytical methods. James Watson cleaned and formatted data ready for analysis, wrote the code to enact descriptive and statistical analyses, synthesised findings, produced the narrative discussion and developed the conclusions recommendations for future research, and both policy and practice. Asangaedem Akpan, Clarissa Giebel and Mark Green offered contributions to revised versions of the paper. James Watson and a public advisor discussed the findings, discussions and recommendations to apply a real-world lens to the paper. James Watson and a public advisor discussed the study design to understand the applicability of the potential research prior to analysis. This paper has recently been submitted to a research journal and the authors are awaiting response.

Chapter 6: James Watson wrote this chapter. Asangaedem Akpan, Clarissa Giebel and Mark Green offered revision contributions.

1.4. Dissemination and Public and Patient Involvement and Engagement (PPIE)

During the PhD project I have co-authored one further paper and hosted, taken part in and contributed to many public and patient involvement events these are detailed by type below.

1.4.1. Public Involvement and Engagement

• During my PhD I discussed my research and wider work with public advisor(s). Without involvement from those with practical, lived experience, there is a risk that the true and entire picture of my findings and recommendations would be limited and biased to the researchers' perspective. I discussed my research with both a former carer of a family member living with dementia, and a current carer for a family member with dementia who was also worked in healthcare. Engaging with people with real-world experience of providing care to PLWD was invaluable. Meeting with public advisors helped me understand my findings and generate narrative around those findings, based on not only the existing literature, but also from the wider perspective of carers and the PLWD they cared for.

1.4.2. Conference presentations:

- Poster flash presentation of Chapter 2 paper 'Systematic Review: Use of routine and cohort data to explore inequalities in dementia' at the United Kingdom Society for Biomaterials, Future Leaders Joint CDT Virtual Conference, June 2020.
- Oral presentation of Chapter 3 paper 'The Impact of Demographic, Socio-Economic and Geographic Factors on Mortality Risk among People Living with Dementia in

England (2002–2016)' at the 19th International Medical Geography Symposium at the University of Edinburgh, June 2022.

- Oral presentation of Chapter 4 paper 'Social and spatial inequalities in healthcare use among people living with dementia in England (2002-2016)' at the 4th Liverpool Dementia and Ageing Research Conference, in Liverpool, October 2022.
- Poster presentation of Chapter 4 paper 'Social and spatial inequalities in healthcare use among people living with dementia in England (2002-2016)' at the 33rd Alzheimer Europe conference in Bucharest Romania, October 2022.
- Oral presentation of Chapter 3 paper: 'The Impact of Demographic, Socio-Economic and Geographic Factors on Mortality Risk among People Living with Dementia in England (2002–2016)' at PopFest (hosted by The University of Florence in combination with British Society for Population Studies), October 2022.

1.4.3. Workshops:

- North West Quantitative Methods/North West Social Science Doctoral Training
 Partnership 'Stakeholder engagement in data science research' workshop. I codesigned and co-hosted a workshop bringing together data scientists across several
 North West Universities to discuss the importance of stakeholder involvement in data
 science research, and the role of co-production in data science (February 2022).
- 'People, Practice, Data and Dementia'. I designed and co-hosted a workshop, bringing together carers of PLWD as lived experts, academic researchers and health and social care clinicians to discuss the potential of data to support person-centred care decision-making for PLWD (March 2021).

1.4.4. Blogs, Podcasts, Seminars and Webinars:

 Three blog posts for the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Dementia Researcher. Firstly, discussing my PhD and how the project aims to improve care for PLWD (October 2019). Secondly, discussing my PhD project, the aims and my systematic review (April 2020). Thirdly, a post discussing the challenges and benefits of carrying out a PhD project during the COVID-19 pandemic (February 2021).

- Blog post for University of Liverpool's '*Becoming an Expert*', discussing my PhD and my hopes for impacting positive change using my research (August 2022).
- Webinar hosted by the NIHR Dementia Researcher, in which I gave a presentation on how to conduct a systematic review, online, June 2020.

1.5. Why I did this PhD?

I applied for this PhD project because I have wanted to work in research for a long time. Having worked for over a decade in Local Government Public Health, I became the lead analyst on mental health, the health of older people and dementia and this PhD project piqued my interest given the subject matter. Dementia, health inequalities and the wider determinants of health not only aligned with my knowledge and expertise, but they are areas of health research I am passionate about. I want to make a real-world difference if I can in my work and this PhD was a route towards achieving this goal. I feel that engaging with PLWD, their carers, clinicians, social care workers, researchers and others, I feel I can be a part of something tangible that improves the lives and care of PLWD and carers now and in the future. I could also see the potential of the project to push me to develop my ability to conduct research. Dementia, particularly inequalities in the care health and support of PLWD is a topic area I have a great passion for and I continue to see it as my career path.

2. Chapter 2: Systematic Review: Use of routine and cohort data to explore inequalities in dementia

Originally published in the International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry:

Watson J, Giebel C, Green M, Darlington-Pollock F and Akpan A. Use of routine and cohort data globally in exploring dementia care pathways and inequalities: A systematic review. *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*. 2021;**36**(2), pp. 252. doi: 10.1002/gps.5419

Abstract

Aims

The aim of this systematic review was to evaluate studies which employed routine and cohort data sets to understand socio-economic, geographic and demographic inequalities in dementia care pathways.

Methods

We identified 27 research papers using routine data sets to investigate inequalities in dementia care pathways through electronic and grey literature searches. Papers were independently assessed by two reviewers for inclusion based on defined criteria. Included papers were quality rated using the National Institutes of Health Quality Assessment Tool for Observational Cohort and Cross-Sectional Studies. Data was extracted based on stage(s) in dementia care pathway and socio-economic factors investigated.

Results

Inequalities were noted across dementia care pathways. Socio-economic and protected characteristics were shown to impact the likelihood of people with dementia moving into

institutional nursing care, the quality and consistency of their treatment, need for emergency and urgent healthcare, the rate of illness progression and their long-term survival. Research was often disparate ignoring the multiple parts of the dementia care pathway, or the impact of specific factors across multiple stages.

Conclusions

Our study highlights issues in dementia care pathways based on socio-economic or protected characteristics. Equitable service provision, more culturally appropriate services, improved health literacy and increased provision for both early diagnosis and care at home can help narrow the gap in dementia care inequalities. There is greater need for research investigating dementia care pathways as something greater than the sum of its parts; exploring the influence of socio-economic factors from a person's entrance into the system and throughout.

2.1. Introduction

The number of people diagnosed with dementia in the UK is set to increase in the next 20 years, which will exacerbate already strained models of health and social care provision. By 2040, Wittenberg et al. project the number of people living with dementia (PLWD) to double and the reflected cost of care to increase threefold (Wittenberg et al., 2019). Crucially, the greatest proportional increase is expected to occur among people who will be diagnosed with severe dementia. Yet staff and services are already struggling to meet current demand. With further increases in the number of people with pressing needs, and their reflected costs, this will likely result in a greater levels of unmet care needs (Government Office for Science, 2016).

Health inequalities are 'avoidable differences in health outcomes between groups or populations' (Office for Health Improvement & Disparities, 2022). Marmot's 2010 review demonstrated the impact that wider, social determinants of health can have (Institute of Health Equity, 2010). These wider determinants refer to the distribution of access and availability of resources which enable positive health (Institute of Health Equity, 2010). Currently, there are marked socio-economic and geographic inequalities in the prevalence of dementia, availability of informal care, access to and use of formal care. The prevalence of dementia varies based on geography. People from rural areas have been shown to be more likely to be living with dementia, and between different countries and regions within countries, there are wide variations in dementia prevalence (Russ et al., 2012). Previous research has highlighted differences between PLWD living in rural and urban areas, including in their access and use of primary healthcare, frequency of hospital admissions, length of stay in hospital, use of medications and mortality risk (Arsenault-Lapierre et al., 2023). Variations in healthcare use have also been found by geographic location, with frequency of secondary healthcare use varying between regions of the country, due to variation in finances and inconsistencies in care delivery (Eyles et al., 2021). A greater demand on services in some areas, coupled with disparate funding and staffing of health and social care services, means the experience of PLWD from different geographic will vary greatly (IFS, 2022), , making it vital that inequalities

by geographic area are explored. Socio-economic status (Cermakova et al., 2017; Cooper et al., 2016; Verbeek et al., 2015) and place of residence (Peterson et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2001) also influence access to a diagnosis, and aspects of care, treatment and the support a PLWD may receive. Those most socio-economically disadvantaged are more likely to bear the brunt of these inequalities.

Existing socio-economic inequalities will exacerbate many current unmet needs in those affected by dementia, with post-diagnostic care often being underfunded and understaffed (Ogden, 2017). People who are unable to afford their own care will endure worse outcomes relative to more affluent PLWD (Cooper et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2018). In a time of restricted finances, both individually and in the public provision and staffing for dementia care, it is imperative we better understand inequalities within dementia care pathways. We must provide evidence to inform policy and applied change in health and social care for PLWD.

Routine datasets in dementia – such as the National Alzheimer's Coordinating Center (NACC) in the United States and SveDem in Sweden - are large databases containing standardised clinical and service interaction records for PLWD. Such registries are developed with the aim of harnessing data to identify issues in access to, and quality of care, as a means to improve health and social outcomes. Other routine datasets, such as those focusing on hospital admissions, accident and emergency attendances, primary care records and social care interactions can also be used to uncover a wider picture of care pathways for PLWD.

The aim of this systematic review was to evaluate studies which employed routine and cohort datasets to understand demographic, geographic and socio-economic inequalities in dementia care pathways. The review did not intend to explore the degree or level to which biological and or social factors, impact any existing inequalities. Existing systematic reviews have explored specific socio-economic inequalities in dementia care pathways, including age, ethnicity, gender, deprivation and country of residence (Bone al., 2019; Cooper et al., 2010; Cooper et al., Mukadam et al., 2011; Mukadam et al., 2013). However, this is the first to explore how routine datasets have been used internationally to understand dementia care
pathways, variance in care and inequalities in dementia care pathways. With continued restricted government funding for dementia care and an increase in the number of PLWD reliant on state-funded care, the use and application of routine data is crucial to understand where and how inequalities emerge. This knowledge can enable improved person-centred care that generates a better quality of life for PLWD and their carers, and attempt to reduce related inequalities in care.

2.2. Methods

This systematic review was registered on the PROSPERO International prospective register of systematic reviews (ID: CRD42020162934).

2.2.1. Search Strategy

We searched the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL), CINAHL, Google Scholar, MEDLINE, PsycINFO, PubMed and Web of Science databases up to and including 2020. The search terms "dementia" AND "care" AND "routine data" AND "cohort" were used in combination. These terms were searched for anywhere in the text, including the keywords. Initially, titles and abstracts of papers were read by JW and CG, retaining those which were relevant. Discrepancies over inclusion of papers were discussed between reviewers and an agreement reached. JW and CG read through the remaining papers in their entirety, to define against inclusion and exclusion criteria. Any ambiguity over inclusion of papers was discussed between reviewers until an agreement was reached. A search of grey literature and snowballing of references from the papers already included were used to find further papers meeting the inclusion criteria.

2.2.2. Inclusion criteria

The population used in the studies had to be dementia-specific and PLWD need to have received a documented diagnosis of dementia. Only English language papers, published since 01/01/1990, looking at the use of routine or cohort data to quantitatively explore issues of care pathways and care utilisation in PLWD and their family carers were included.

2.2.3. Exclusion criteria

Papers published in any language other than English, published before 01/01/1990, using qualitative research methods, or quantitative papers not using routine or cohort data were excluded; reviews of any kind were also discounted. Papers with populations with no formal dementia diagnosis, non-dementia study populations or those with mixed diagnoses, e.g. dementia and mild cognitive impairment were also excluded.

2.2.4. Assessment of quality

The National Institutes of Health (NIH) Quality Assessment Tool for Observational Cohort and Cross-Sectional Studies was employed in this review; a 14-point checklist (see Table 3 footnotes). This tool has been used as it is a practical and pragmatic method of identifying potential flaws in the methodology of cohort studies which may increase bias. Such biases can undermine research strength and quality, casting potential doubt over subsequent results.

2.2.5. Data extraction

To process the literature to conduct the data synthesis, relevant findings were taken from the final research, including demonstrating the potential demographic, geographic or socioeconomic factor(s) each investigated, as related to the aims and objectives of the systematic review. The following information was taken from each paper: Author name(s), research title, year of publication, country/countries of study, dementia population/subtype, socio-economic analysis in study (if yes, which socio-economic categories are included), outcomes and stages(s) in pathway.

2.2.6. Data Synthesis

A narrative summary of the evidence taken from the final included papers was conducted. This process involves drawing out specific findings from quantitative papers when a metaanalysis is not feasible (Campbell et al., 2018). The papers generated from the search of electronic databases returned few studies which were similar, either in their outcome measure(s), or their independent, explanatory variables. In pooling estimates for the association between a causal factor and an outcome(s), using heterogenous variables can present issues, potentially generating misleading findings (Higgins et al., 2022). With so few studies to pool from, and subsequently small sample populations for the effects of explanatory factors on some outcomes variables, this prevents the potential for a good quality metaanalysis. A systematic review allows us to gather all of the empirical evidence related to a specific research question, and deliver a narrative synthesis of these findings, which was most appropriate given the nature of the included papers. From the included papers we looked at: what their findings tell us and what part(s) of the dementia care pathway they related to - as defined in the four sub-headings of the results section: transitions in nursing care, antidementia medications, health and social care interactions, disease progression, mortality, survival.

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Search Outcomes

We identified 1,506 studies via database (n=1,486) and grey literature searches (n=20), 796 of which remained once duplicate records were removed (see Figure 2.1 for PRISMA flowchart). Screening of these records based on titles and abstracts led to the exclusion of 583 records; the remaining 113 records were reviewed as full-text papers. 67 papers were removed leaving a total of 46 studies which met the defined inclusion criteria.



Figure 2.1: Systematic Review Search Strategy

At stage 1, JW and CG reviewed papers on their abstract and title, agreeing on the continued inclusion/exclusion of 677 of the 796 (85.1%) papers. At stage 2, JW and CG reviewed the remaining 113 papers based on the full-text, agreeing on the continued inclusion/exclusion of 74 (64.5%) of the papers.

2.3.2. Characteristics of included studies

Table 2.1 shows the descriptive characteristics of the 46 included studies. The majority of these studies focused their analysis on one country, using one set of routine data. However,

some analysed data from multiple routine or cohort datasets, and in some cases, different registries across a variety of countries. The vast majority of studies were conducted in the US (13), England/UK (12), or mainland Europe (29), with one study conducted in Australia, Hong Kong and Puerto Rico, respectively.

Author	Year Published	Country	Dementia Population	Socio- economic variables	Pathway: Outcomes	Routine Dataset(s) Used (sample size)	
Aaltonen et al.	2012	Finland	Dementia	Age Gender	Care transitions: Difference in likelihood of transitions in care in last 2 years of life by accommodation (all; at home at baseline; in residential care)	Finnish National Registers (70,366)	
Bunn et al.	2016	UK	Dementia	None Health and social care interactions: O People living with dementia using hospital services in previous 4 weeks and in previous 12 months. O		CFAS I and II (117)	
Calvo-Perxas et al.	2012	Spain	Alzheimer's disease, Vascular dementia, other secondary dementias, frontotemporal dementias, Parkinsonian syndromes, dementia with Lewy Bodies, Not specified dementias	Age Gender Marital Status Education ResidenceMedications: Prescription and consumption of antipsychotic drugs for various dementia subtypes.Status Education ResidencePrescription and consumption of antipsychotic drugs for various dementia subtypes.		Registry of Dementia of Girona (ReDiGi) (<i>1,894)</i>	
Calvo-Perxas et al.	2014	Spain	Alzheimer's Disease	Age Gender Education Marital Status Residence	Medications: Use of antipsychotics and other medications for the treatment of symptoms in Alzheimer's Disease.	Registry of Dementia of Girona (ReDiGi) (<i>1,894)</i>	
Cermakova et al.	2017	Sweden	Alzheimer's disease	Age Gender Residence	Medications: Use of antipsychotics in Alzheimer's Disease.	SveDem (26,163)	
Connolly et al.	2012	England	Alzheimer's disease, vascular dementia, mixed dementia, dementia with Lewy Bodies, Frontotemporal dementia, Other	Age Gender Residence	 Health and social care interactions: People living with dementia receiving their annual dementia review, recorded discussions with carers and review of their social care. Medications: Prescription and review of antipsychotics. 	GP register (Quality Outcomes Framework) (994)	

Table 2.1: Summary characteristics of included papers

			dementia, Unspecified type dementia			
Cooper et al	2016	UK	Dementia	Age Gender Deprivation Geography	Medications: Anti-dementia drug initiation rates.	The Health Improvement Network (THIN) (77,045)
Cooper et al.	2017	UK	Dementia	Age Gender Deprivation	Ige Medications: Sender Prescribing and initiation of psychotropic, hypnotics and anxiolytics medications. Deprivation Health and social care interactions: Likelihood of surgical consultations, blood pressure monitoring, weight monitoring and annual dementia reviews.	
Donegan et al.	2017	UK	Dementia, Alzheimer's disease	Age Gender	Medications: Prescription of antidementia drugs in Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD) sample of people living with dementia.	Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD) (<i>128,249</i>)
Eriksson et al.	2014	Sweden	Alzheimer's Disease	Age Gender	Medications: Prescription of anti-dementia medications and difference in diagnostics used in Early and Late onset Alzheimer's Disease	SveDem (<i>5,052)</i>
Fereshtehnejad et al.	2014	Sweden	Dementia with Lewy Bodies, Alzheimer's disease	Age Gender	Medications: Prescription of various anti-dementia/medications for people living with dementia with Lewy Bodies (DLB) and Alzheimer's Disease.	SveDem and Swedish patient registry (9,795)
Fereshtehnejad et al.	2015	Sweden; Denmark	Early and late onset, Alzheimer's disease, Dementia with Lewy Bodies, Frontotemporal dementia, Parkinson's disease with dementia	Age Gender Residence Geography	 Medications: Differences in prescription of anti-dementia medications. Differences in use of diagnostics for people living with dementia. Health and social care interactions: 6 indicators of care quality identified and analysed. 	SveDem and Danish Dementia Registry (26,205)
Fillenbaum et al.	2001	US	Alzheimer's disease	Age Gender Ethnicity Education Marital Status	Health and social care interactions: Outpatient visits based on residence (home or Long-Term Care); cost of outpatient visits.	Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease (CERAD) (<i>388)</i>

				Residence Geography		
Fong et al.	2012	US	Alzheimer's disease	Age Gender Ethnicity Education	Health and social care interactions: Adverse outcomes for people living with dementia who were: hospitalised with delirium, hospitalised without delirium and not hospitalised: 1.) death; 2.) Institutionalised; 3.) Cognitive decline; 4.) Any adverse outcome.	Massachusetts Alzheimer's Disease Research Center (MADRC) patient registry (?????)
Frahm- Falkenberg et al.	2016	Denmark	Alzheimer's disease, vascular dementia, dementia not otherwise specified	Age Gender Marital status	Health and social care interactions: Cost and use of healthcare before and after dementia diagnosis for 'patients' and partners vs. controls without dementia.	Danish patient registry (771)
Gillette- Guyonnet et al.	2011	France	Alzheimer's disease	Age Gender Education Residence Caregiver variables	 Disease progression, mortality and survival: MMSE score change over years to end of study/mortality. Medications: Use of Alzheimer's Disease medications throughout. Health and social care interactions: Rate of institutionalisation. 	REAL.FR cohort (686)
Gustavsson et al.	2009	England	Alzheimer's disease, Dementia with Lewy Bodies	None	Health and social care interactions: Rates of institutionalisation into full-time care for those using ChEI.	Oxford Study (852)
Hackett et al.	2019	England	Dementia	Age Gender Education Deprivation	Health and social care interactions: Monthly interactions with family as a factor in occurrence of depressive symptoms among people living with dementia.	English Longitudinal Study for Ageing (ELSA) (<i>4</i> ,171)
Hartz et al.	2012	Germany	Alzheimer's disease	None	Medications: Societal savings based on anti-dementia medications. Anti-dementia medications impact on caregivers' QALYs.	Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease (CERAD) (2,700)
Huang et al.	1994	US	Alzheimer's disease	Age Gender Education	Disease progression, mortality and survival: Survival rates for different living arrangements and availability of caregiver(s).	South Carolina Statewide Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Registry (722)
Johnell et al.	2013	Sweden	Alzheimer's disease, Mixed Alzheimer's Disease/Vascular Dementia,	Age Gender Residence Cohabitation	Medications: Anti-dementia medication use in dementia subtypes.	SveDem (<i>7,570</i>)

			Vascular dementia, Dementia with Lewy Bodies, Frontotemporal dementia, Parkinson's disease dementia, Unspecified dementia, Other dementia			
Kahle- Wrobleski et al.	2017	France, Germany, England	Alzheimer's disease	Age Gender Cohabitation Caregiver variables	Disease progression, mortality and survival: Change in independence levels by disease severity Impacts of various factors on progression of illness.	GERAS (<i>1,495)</i>
Knapp et al.	2016	England	Alzheimer's disease	Age Gender Ethnicity Caregiver variables Cohabitation	Care transitions: Probability of care home admission and socio-economic and other factors impact; and their associated costs. Health and social care interactions: Probability of hospital inpatient admissions and mental health inpatient admissions, with influential factors and associated costs.	South London Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLAM) and Clinical Record Interactive Search (CRIS) (<i>3,075</i>)
Korhonen et al.	2018	Finland	Dementia	Age Marital Status Deprivation	Care transitions: Probability of movement into long-term institutional care. Comparing those who died from dementia vs. other causes and those who survived to the end of the study period.	Finnish Death Register and national care registers (187,657)
Miller et al.	1998	US	Alzheimer's disease	Age Gender Marital Status Education	Care transitions: Risk factors associated with time to Nursing Home Admission.	Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease (CERAD) (<i>639</i>)
Moore et al.	2001	US, Puerto Rico	Alzheimer's disease, Vascular dementia	Age Ethnicity Education Marital status Caregiver variables	Informal care costs: Broken-down into four aspects: value of caregiving times, caregivers' lost income, out-of-pocket expenditures for formal caregiving services, and caregivers' excess health care costs.	National Longitudinal Caregiver Study (NLCS) (2,043)
Murman et al.	2002	US	Alzheimer's disease,	Age Gender	Health and social care interactions:	Michigan Alzheimer's Disease Research

			Dementia with Parkinsonism, Huntington disease	Ethnicity Education Marital status Caregiver variables	Over 3.5 years: use, time spent in and frequency of use of Long-Term Care, hospital care and paid home care.	Center (MADRC) registry (267)
Neumann et al.	2001	US	Alzheimer's disease	Age Gender	AgeCare transitions:CGenderAnnual probability of care home transition.aAnnual probability of movement in severity of Alzheimer'sADisease.(()	
Peterson et al.	2008	US	Alzheimer's disease	Age Gender Education Marital status	Age GenderDisease progression, mortality and survival:CGenderSurvival in nursing homes: socio-economic characteristics as predictive factors of survival with dementia.AMarital status(C	
Pujades- Rodgriguez et al.	2018	England	Alzheimer's disease, Vascular dementia, rare dementias	Age Gender	Disease progression, mortality and survival: 10 year and lifetime risk split by age and gender (for all and Alzheimer's Disease) Dementia vs. non-dementia mortality rates.	Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD) (<i>47,386</i>)
Ramsey et al.	2018	US	Alzheimer's disease, Vascular dementia, Dementia with Lewy Bodies, Frontotemporal dementia, Other dementias	Age Gender Ethnicity Education Residence Cohabitation	Medications: Inappropriate prescription of medications in dementia subtypes.	National Alzheimer's Coordinating Center (NACC) (<i>2,448)</i>
Rattinger et al.	2016	US	Alzheimer's disease, Vascular dementia (without AD), Other dementia	Age Gender Ethnicity	Informal care costs: Changes in informal care costs over time and due to illness progression.	Cache Country Study on Memory in Ageing (287)
Rudolph et al.	2010	US	Alzheimer's disease	Age Gender Ethnicity Education Marital status	Health and social care interactions: Risk factors for hospitalisation; frequency and number of hospitalisations, days in hospital per year and primary diagnoses for hospitalisation for people living with dementia.	Massachusetts Alzheimer's Disease Research Center (MADRC) patient registry (827)
Scalmana et al.	2013	Italy	Alzheimer's disease,	Age Gender	Health and social care interactions: Number of population using different social care services	Unità Valutativa Alzheimer (<i>712)</i>

			Vascular dementia, Mixed dementia, Frontotemporal dementia, Lewy Body dementia, Parkinson's dementia, Other dementias	Education Caregiver variables	Factors associated with use of services.	
Sheng et al.	2009	Hong Kong	Alzheimer's disease, Vascular dementia, Dementia with Lewy bodies, Frontotemporal dementia, Mild- Cognitive Impairment, Undetermined dementia, Other Irreversible dementia	Age Gender Education Residence Caregiver variables	 Medications: Brain imaging and lab tests by subtype of dementia. Care transitions: Residence at first vs. final visit in study Familial informal care availability at first and final visit in study. Health and social care interactions: Use of home help, meal delivery and other services. 	Memory Clinic data (454)
Smith et al.	2001	US	Alzheimer's disease, Vascular dementia, mixed dementia, other dementias	Age Gender Education Marital status Residence	Care transitions: Time to nursing home placement. Factors that can impact on nursing home placement.	National Institute on Aging funded Alzheimer's Disease Patient Registry (ADPR) (985)
Sommerlad et al.	2019	England	Alzheimer's disease, Vascular dementia, Dementia with Lewy Bodies, Other dementia, unspecified dementia	Age Gender Ethnicity Marital status	Health and social care interactions: Predictive factors associated with probability of emergency and elective hospital admissions for people living with dementia.	South London Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLAM) and Clinical Record Interactive Search (CRIS) (<i>10,137</i>)
Stevnsborg et al.	2016	Denmark	Dementia	Age Gender Marital Status Residence	Medications: Socio-economic factors in receiving anti-dementia medication after a diagnosis of dementia, for Danish-born, Western immigrants and Non-Western immigrants living in Denmark.	National patient registry; psychiatric central research registry; national prescription registry (34,877)

Taipale et al.	2014	Finland	Alzheimer's disease Alzheimer's	Geography Age Gender Age	Care transitions: Likelihood of living in a nursing home when diagnosed with dementia for Danish-born, Western immigrants and Non- Western immigrants. Medications: Factors associated with discontinuation of AChEI therapy. Medications:	MEDALZ-2005 (medication use and Alzheimer's Disease) (6,858) Medicare (84,043)
			disease	Gender Ethnicity	Initiation and discontinuation of anti-dementia drugs. Rate of discontinuation and likelihood of initiation of anti- dementia drugs (for new users of AChEI) by ethnicity.	
van de Vorst et al.	2015	Netherlands	Alzheimer's disease, Vascular dementia, Other dementia	Age Gender	Disease progression, mortality and survival: 1 and 5-year age-specific and sex-specific mortality risk for patients with dementia visiting a day clinic vs. general population, and patients hospitalised with dementia vs. those hospitalised with Acute Myocardial Infarction, heart failure or stroke.	Dutch Hospital Discharge Register (HDR); Dutch Population Register (PR) (<i>59,201)</i>
van de Vorst et al.	2016	Netherlands	Alzheimer's disease, Vascular dementia	Age Gender Deprivation	Disease progression, mortality and survival: 1 and 5-year mortality risk for men and women stratified by age, income and setting of care (hospital, day clinic). 1 and 5-year mortality risk based on tertile of household income.	Dutch Hospital Discharge Register (HDR); Dutch Population Register (PR); National Cause of Death Register; Regional Income Survey (15,558)
van de Vorst et al.	2019	Netherlands	Alzheimer's disease, Vascular dementia	Age Gender Geography	 Disease progression, mortality and survival: 1 and 3-year mortality risk for patients visiting a first day clinic or first admission to hospital with dementia. Health and social care interactions: Risk of hospital readmission within a year for patients visiting a first day clinic or first admission to hospital with dementia. 	Dutch Hospital Discharge Register (HDR); Dutch Population Register (PR); National Cause of Death Register (<i>59,194</i>)
van Weel et al.	2019	Australia	Dementia	Cohabitation Deprivation Language	Health and social care interactions: Use of home care services, receiving nursing interventions, admitted to hospital, other service use and care outcomes for people living with dementia.	NGO cohort dataset (11,927)
Verbeek et al.	2015	England, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany,	Dementia	Geography	Health and social care interactions: Factors associated with risk of recently being admitted into and institutionalised Long-Term Care.	RightTimePlaceCare (RTPC) (2,014)

		Netherlands, Spain, Sweden				
Wattmo et al.	2013	Sweden	Alzheimer's disease	Age Gender Education Cohabitation	Health and social care interactions: Time taken from commencement of ChEI treatment to receiving home help services and the amount of such services received.	Swedish Alzheimer Treatment Study (SATS) (<i>880)</i>

†MMSE=Min-Mental State Examination; ‡ChEI=Cholinesterase Inhibitor; §QALY=Quality Adjusted life Years; ¶AChEI=Acetylcholinesterase Inhibitor

Table 2.2: Papers analysing socio-economic deprivation or geography (country of residence) as a potential factor in outcome measures for

PLWD

Author	Year	Deprivation type	Analysis conducted using socio-economic variables
Cooper et al.	2016	Townsend score	Initiation of anti-dementia drugs:
		quintiles	-Compared to England \rightarrow Northern Ireland significantly more, and Wales significantly less likely initiate anti-dementia
		Country of residence	drugs
			-Anti-dementia drug initiation → greatest in most affluent areas
			-Anti-dementia drug initiation → reduction with each quintile to most deprived
Cooper et al.	2017	Townsend score	Prescription prevalence for antipsychotics, hypnotics and anxiolytics:
		quintiles	-Most deprived areas \rightarrow lowest prescription prevalence, but not s significantly so
Korhonen et al.	2018	Household income	Probability of institutional LTC in 8 years before death/end of study:
		quintile	-For men, increasing deprivation → increased institutionalisation in long-term care
Pujades-	2018	Indices of Multiple	Mortality differences between those with and without dementia:
Rodgriguez et al.		Deprivation quintile	-Greater proportion of deaths in deprived areas are of people living with dementia
Sommerlad et al.	2019	Indices of Multiple	Association of factors with hospital admissions a year after dementia diagnosis:
		Deprivation decile	-Greater deprivation \rightarrow increased risk of emergency admissions and reduced risk of elective admissions
van de Vorst et al.	2016	Disposable household	1 and 5-year mortality risk for people with a first hospitalisation or day clinic visit for dementia:
		income tertile	- Greater deprivation \rightarrow increased mortality risk for men and women-Deprivation and mortality more likely when
			visiting a day clinic vs. hospital
Verbeek et al.	2015	Country of residence	Risk factors for recent admission to institutional long-term nursing care:
			-Higher dependence for activities of daily living \rightarrow increased move to long-term care in all countries
			-Lower caregiver burden \rightarrow lower admissions to long-term care all countries (not Spain)
			-Having an informal carer who was a spouse \rightarrow less admissions to long-term care all countries (not Estonia, France)

27 studies have highlighted differences or inequalities in care and, or outcomes as a result of a protected characteristic - such as age, gender or ethnicity - income or deprivation, or personal circumstance - such as availability of informal care. These 27 studies go beyond merely stating, for example, the number of people of each age group, or who were male and female.

Of these 27 studies, seven specifically investigated socio-economic deprivation or geography as factors in care use and quality, and or health and social outcomes for PLWD (see Table 2.2).

2.3.3. Study Outcomes/Stage in Care Pathway

Literature investigated various areas of dementia care and support (transitions to nursing care, anti-dementia medication, health and social care interaction, and disease progression, mortality and survival). Several studies looked at different stages of the care pathway (i.e. disease progression, medication initiation and mortality), so that some studies were discussed across different areas.

2.3.4. Transitions to nursing care

Nine studies investigated care transitions for PLWD, primarily analysing the significance and degree to which socio-economic factors can influence the probability of moving into nursing care. Being older was associated with a significantly greater likelihood of admission to nursing care (Knapp et al., 2016; Korhonen et al., 2018; Smith et al., 2001). Stevnsborg et al. (2016) used data from three Danish health registries to demonstrate that the oldest PLWD (those aged 70-79 and ≥80 years vs. to 60-69 years) were more likely to live in nursing care when first diagnosed with dementia. Korhonen et al. (2018) reported the same association between age and institutionalisation into long-term care, but discovered it was starker for women than men.

Gender was as a factor in care transitions in several studies, revealing differences in the likelihood of transitions to nursing care. Stevnsborg et al. (2018) found women were

significantly more likely to be diagnosed with dementia whilst living in nursing care, and Smith et al. (2001) discovered that men with dementia were significantly less likely to be admitted to nursing care generally. However, in the final two years of life, a greater proportion of men with dementia had care transitions, with a higher median number of transitions than women (Aaltonen et al., 2012). The timing of transitions in disease progression was also found to differ by gender. Neumann et al. (2001) found Alzheimer's Disease severity to progress at a faster rate for men, with men being more likely to transition to nursing care if they had severe Alzheimer's Disease. Women, however, were more likely to be admitted to nursing care with mild Alzheimer's, indicating they would enter institutional care earlier in their disease progression.

Knapp et al. (2016) investigated ethnicity as a factor in care transitions, finding people of Caribbean/African and East/South Asian ethnicities to be significantly less likely to be admitted to institutional care (hospital or nursing home). In Denmark, Stevnsborg et al. (2016) compared native-born, Western and Non-Western immigrant dementia populations, discovering Non-Western immigrants were significantly less likely to be living in a nursing home when receiving their dementia diagnosis.

2.3.5. Anti-dementia medication

18 studies investigated diagnostics and use of anti-dementia medications, with nine analysing socio-economic variables as factors in likelihood of anti-dementia drug initiation.

Socio-economic deprivation and country of residence were shown to impact the likelihood of receiving anti-dementia medication. Using UK primary care records, Cooper et al. (2016) found areas of greatest deprivation had significantly lower rates of anti-dementia medication initiation than the most affluent. In the UK, there was a stepped-effect with each quintile from the most affluent quintile - which had the highest initiation - to the most deprived - which had the lowest initiation.

Taipale et al. (2014) discovered that among people with Alzheimer's Disease using Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors (AChEI), older people were at a higher risk of AChEI discontinuation. However, evidence is somewhat conflicting regarding the impact of age on anti-dementia medication initiation. Although Cooper et al. (2017) found people aged under 70 years, and \geq 80 years were less likely to be prescribed anti-dementia medication than people aged 70-79 years, several studies illustrate higher initiation for older people (Donegan et al., 2017; Stevnsborg et al., 2016; Taipale et al., 2014; Thorpe et al., 2016).

Several studies demonstrated females had an increased probability of receiving antidementia medications (Cooper et al., 2017; Donegan et al., 2017; Calvo-Perxas et al., 2014; Johnell et al., 2013). However, the research available identified mixed evidence of the likelihood of having these medications discontinued (Taipale et al., 2014; Thorpe et al., 2016).

Thorpe et al. (2016) also investigated the impact of ethnicity on initiation and discontinuation of anti-dementia medication. Among Medicare beneficiaries in the US who were non-users of anti-dementia medications at the beginning, Hispanic people were significantly more likely to initiate use than any other ethnicity, with Black and Hispanic ethnicities significantly more likely to have their anti-dementia medications discontinued. Being "non-native" to a country can also have an impact on the likelihood of receiving medications. Stevnsborg et al. (2016) found that Western and Non-Western immigrants to Denmark were significantly less likely to receive anti-dementia medications than people born in Denmark.

2.3.6. Health and Social Care Interaction

Of 17 studies exploring health and social care interactions, eight involved socio-economic variables. The greater number of socio-economic risk factors somebody has, the greater their likelihood of hospitalisation (Rudolph et al., 2010), for example. It was found that PLWD living in the most socio-economically disadvantaged areas had a significantly higher risk of emergency hospital admission, and significantly lower probability of elective admissions (Sommerlad et al., 2019).

Evidence varies on the exact impact that ethnicity can have on admissions to hospital for PLWD (Knapp et al., 2016; Sommerlad et al., 2019; Fillenbaum et al., 2001). However, the variance in findings may be reflective of the country in which the studies were carried out, and their relevant health and social care systems.

Older PLWD were at greater risk of hospitalisation (Knapp et al., 2016; Rudolph et al., 2010; Fillenbaum et al., 2001). However, the type of admissions demonstrates that they may be at greater risk of *emergency* hospital admissions, but a significantly reduced risk of both mental health inpatient (Knapp et al., 2016) and elective admissions (Sommerlad et al, 2019). However, among PLWD, those who are older (aged ≥80 years) and younger have a reduced probability of coming into contact with health and social care services in a more elective capacity. Cooper et al. (2017) identified people aged under 70 years as less likely to come into contact with healthcare - even for annual dementia reviews - and those aged 80 and over were less likely to receive surgical consultations or weight monitoring checks. Furthermore, Wattmo et al. (2013) discovered that for PLWD, younger people had a longer delay in accessing Home-Help Services.

Care quality can also be impacted by socio-economic factors. Connolly et al. (2012) found people living in the community had greater quality annual dementia reviews and overall care than those living in care homes and Scalmana et al. (2013) discovered that people with less education were less likely to access health and social care services.

2.3.7. Disease progression, mortality and survival

Nine studies investigated direct outcomes and illness progression for PLWD, with seven studies focusing on socio-economic factors.

Both age and gender were found to correlate with disease progression and mortality risk. Older people and men with Alzheimer's Disease transitioned at a faster rate (2001). Women and those who were younger when receiving a dementia diagnosis were shown to have better survival (Peterson et al., 2008; Huang et al., 1994), with older people and men at greater risk of dying (Van de Vorst et al., 2015; Van de Vorst et al., 2016).

Greater support is indicative of better survival, long-term independence and condition maintenance among PLWD. As well as noting that less education is associated with poorer survival for PLWD, Huang et al. (1994) identified living in the community with a caregiver, or in institutional care acted as a protective factor for survival among people with Alzheimer's Disease. Survival was worse for people living in a nursing home compared to those living at home (2008), living in the community with a caregiver or in institutional care acted as a protective factor for in institutional care acted as a protective factor or in institutional care acted as a protective factor for people living in a nursing home compared to those living at home (2008), living in the community with a caregiver or in institutional care acted as a protective factor for people with Alzheimer's Disease and living with others and having multiple carers led to a greater likelihood of a PLWD maintaining their dependence at the level at seen at study start (Kahle-Wrobleski et al., 2017).

Pujades-Rodriguez et al. (2018) compared people with and without dementia in retrospective analyses of mortality records. They illustrated PLWD were more likely to live in deprived areas. Van de Vorst et al. (2015; 2016) identified mortality risk as significantly higher for PLWD living in the most socio-economically disadvantaged areas.

2.3.8. Study Quality

Using the NIH Quality Assessment Tool for Observational Cohort and Cross-Sectional Studies, some of the 14-points used to assess quality were not applicable (Table 2.3) and so had a maximum potential score of 10 or 11. One paper received a quality rating of 5 (out of 10), but the remainder received a rating of between 7-10. Thus, the studies included in this review are of moderate to high quality. As a whole, they were clear in their objectives and findings and tended to describe and deliver robust research methods.

Table 2.3: Quality rating checklist and applied scores

		Qua	lity rati	ng che	cklist p	oints†	,‡										Applied
Author	Year	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	Total	checklist points
Aaltonen et al.	2012	1	1	na	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	na	na	1	10	11
Calvo-Perxas et al.	2014	1	1	na	1	0	na	1	1	1	0	1	na	na	1	8	10
Connolly et al.	2012	1	1	1	1	0	na	1	1	1	0	1	na	na	1	9	11
Cooper et al.	2016	1	1	na	1	0	na	1	1	1	0	1	na	na	1	8	10
Cooper et al.	2017	1	1	na	1	0	na	1	1	1	1	1	na	na	1	9	10
Donegan et al.	2017	0	1	na	1	0	na	1	0	1	0	1	na	na	0	5	10
Fillenbaum et al.	2001	0	1	na	1	0	na	1	1	1	1	1	na	na	1	8	10
Huang et al.	1994	1	1	na	1	0	na	1	0	1	0	1	na	na	1	7	10
Johnell et al.	2013	1	1	na	1	0	na	1	1	1	1	1	na	na	1	9	10
Kahle-Wrobleski et al.	2017	1	1	na	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	na	na	0	9	11
Knapp et al.	2016	1	1	na	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	na	na	1	9	11
Korhonen et al.	2018	1	1	na	1	0	na	1	1	1	0	1	na	na	1	8	10
Miller et al.	1998	1	1	na	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	na	na	0	9	11
Neumann et al.	2001	1	1	na	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	na	na	0	8	11
Peterson et al.	2008	1	1	na	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	na	na	1	7	11
Pujades-Rodgriguez et al.	2018	1	1	na	1	0	0	1	0	1	1	1	na	na	0	7	11
Rudolph et al.	2010	1	1	na	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	na	na	1	8	11
Scalmana et al.	2013	1	1	na	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	na	na	1	9	11
Smith et al.	2001	1	1	na	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	na	na	1	10	11
Sommerlad et al.	2019	1	1	na	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	na	na	1	7	11
Stevnsborg et al.	2016	1	1	na	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	na	na	1	7	11
Taipale et al.	2014	1	1	na	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	na	na	1	7	11
Thorpe et al.	2016	1	1	na	1	0	1	1	na	1	0	1	na	na	1	8	10
van de Vorst et al.	2015	1	1	na	1	0	1	1	na	1	0	1	na	na	0	7	10
van de Vorst et al.	2016	0	1	na	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	na	na	1	8	11
Verbeek et al.	2015	1	1	na	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	na	na	1	10	11
Wattmo et al.	2013	1	1	na	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	na	na	1	9	11

+Checklist points, NIH Quality Assessment Tool for Observational Cohort and Cross-Sectional Studies: **1.** Was the research question or objective in this paper clearly stated? **2.** Was the study population clearly specified and defined? **3.** Was the participation rate of eligible persons at least 50%? **4.** Were all the subjects selected or recruited from the same or similar populations (including the same time period)? Were inclusion and exclusion criteria for being in the study prespecified and applied uniformly to all participants? **5.** Was a sample size justification, power description, or variance and effect estimates provided? **6.** For the analyses in this paper, were the exposure(s) of interest measured prior to the outcome(s) being measured? **7.** Was the timeframe sufficient so that one could reasonably expect to see an association between exposure and outcome if it existed? **8.** For exposures that can vary in amount or level, did the study examine different levels of the exposure as related to the outcome (e.g., categories of exposure, or exposure measured as continuous variable)? **9.** Were the exposure field, reliable, and implemented consistently across all study participants? **10.** Was the exposure(s) assessed more than once over time? **11.** Were the outcome measures (dependent variables) clearly defined, valid, reliable, and implemented consistently across all study participants? **12.** Were the outcome assessors blinded to the exposure status of participants? **13.** Was loss to follow-up after baseline 20% or less? **14.** Were key potential confounding variables measured and adjusted statistically for their impact on the relationship between exposure(s) and outcome(s)?

+ 'na' = not applicable (point on quality rating was not applicable to the research paper and so was not included in final total or maximum score; 0=did not meet criteria, 1=met criteria

2.4. Discussion

This is the first systematic review evaluating and synthesising the use of routine and cohort datasets to investigate demographic, geographic and socio-economic inequalities in dementia pathways. Findings from this review highlight the advantage of using national longitudinal databases to explore inequalities in dementia care across the globe, highlighting numerous gaps and current inequalities in care which need to be addressed.

The most socio-economically deprived areas have higher rates of undiagnosed dementia (Connolly et al., 2011). Deprivation can be reflective of wider, social and structural factors, such as income, employment, housing and transport. GP practices from such areas are more likely to only have one GP and therefore have less time to identify, diagnose and manage dementia (Kelly and Stove, 2014). With greater unmet needs (Cooper et al., 2016), people from deprived areas are more likely to present to emergency healthcare services later in their disease trajectory when their condition is less manageable, resulting in poorer management and treatment. Inequality in primary care provision needs to be addressed, and promoting earlier identification and diagnosis of dementia needs to be prioritised as a means to enabling support for PLWD in more disadvantaged areas.

We found evidence of inequalities in care transitions and medication use between ethnic groups. However, it is important to note that the inclusion criteria for papers in this review was for papers that included only people with a documented diagnosis of dementia. Although people from BAME groups are more likely to have dementia, they are less likely to be diagnosed (Mukadam et al., 2013; Pham et al., 2018) and are therefore underrepresented in services (Giebel et al., 2015), and may therefore be underrepresented in the studies included in our review. Diagnosis is a gateway to accessing care and support, compounding the disadvantage and barriers minority ethnic groups face in diagnosis and beyond (Giebel et al., 2015; Kenning et al., 2017; Memon et al., 2016; Parveen and Oyebode et al., 2018). Lack of diagnosis leads to poorer care and makes it more difficult to manage dementia, which our review highlighted. Poor, inconsistent care results in accelerated disease progression,

increased dependence and shortened lives. These differences emphasise need for increased awareness of dementia and more equitable service provision. We also need to better understand how to provide culturally appropriate services for PLWD.

This review highlighted that lower educational attainment resulted in less care access and poorer survival outcomes. Higher educational attainment is associated with greater health literacy, which leads to increased access to both better quality and a wider breadth of treatment and care (Protheroe, Nutbeam and Rowlands, 2009). People with lower educational attainment are less likely to know where to go, who to ask, and what treatment and care is available. They are therefore more likely to have delayed diagnosis and only receive care once their condition has worsened, resulting in faster disease progression, greater interactions with emergency and institutional care, leading to negative health and social outcomes. More needs to be done to improve health literacy. Awareness of dementia and the potential benefits of early diagnosis can help to maintain home care and independence for longer and provide a better quality of life for PLWD and their carers.

We found that women with dementia tend to access care and treatment services earlier and more frequently than their male counterparts. Women also enter Institutional Long-Term Care (ILTC) earlier than men and require less urgent healthcare than men. Earlier entrance into ILTC could indicate differential access to both informal care and societal gender-based expectations of women in the caregiving role (Miller, 1990). Men are more likely to have access to informal care through their spouses and therefore more likely to stay at home longer (Sharma, Chakrabarti and Grover, 2016; Sutcliffe et al., 2016). Although staying at home is associated with better outcomes, men are more likely to exhibit behavioural symptoms of dementia particularly later in their trajectory (Cerejeira, Lagarto and Mukaetova-Ladinska, 2012). In conjunction with the added caregiving pressure this may place on women (Sutcliffe et al., 2016) this can present more acute and critical need, resulting in the increased use of emergency healthcare and later care transitions we noted among men. Greater use of

care are all factors associated with poorer health outcomes, including increased risk of mortality noted from the literature in this review (Aneshensel et al., 2000; Bartlett et al., 2016).

We have identified older PLWD are more likely to live alone. PLWD who live alone, are more often unmarried and older, require more urgent healthcare, move into ILTC, and have poorer outcomes. Maintaining independence improves survival, but a lack of informal care (Zwaanswij et al., 2013; Broese van Groenou, Marjolein and De Boer, 2016), greater comorbidities and frailty (Bunn et al., 2014; Nelis et al., 2019), poor prognosis from elective hospital treatments (Kassahun, 2018) and heightened dementia severity, lead to older PLWD being more likely to spend longer in hospital and encounter poorer outcomes (George, long and Vincent, 2013).

We find that greater caregiver burden and less support increase emergency healthcare use and ILTC. PLWD in ILTC have poorer primary healthcare experiences and worse survival. Carers feel a sense of duty (Brodaty and Donkin, 2019) and take on great responsibility (Wanless, 2016). However, with substantial caregiver burden, PLWD are less likely to use services that can aid longevity of care at home (Cotrell, 1999) leading to extensive informal home care becoming unfeasible, resulting in greater ILTC and urgent healthcare use.

Being able to manage and care for PLWD at home is critical to the sustainability of the health and social care system (Ogden, 2017). Lack of informal care, or having informal caregivers with greater burden can generate adverse outcomes for PLWD. We have highlighted that both are factors which differ for men and women with dementia and for older PLWD. Better communication from primary care of what to expect when providing informal care for PLWD, and increased community care provision (Dawson et al., 2015) could reduce caregiver strain, maintain independence at home for longer and reduce the need for emergency healthcare and ILTC. Informal carers need support and those without it, need to be cared for.

2.4.1. Limitations

We have generated a detailed synthesis of the literature available for various socio-economic factors in dementia care pathways. However, there was limited evidence comparing countries, potentially reducing generalisability of findings across geographic areas. Further to this, the majority of studies were based in the UK, United States and mainland Europe, highlighting potential issues with applying findings to other areas, particularly 'Non-Western' countries. While some studies compared and contrasted different national settings (i.e. Verbeek et al. [5], these were all European countries. Moreover, the majority of studies investigated only one or two socio-economic outcomes, with most evidence on hospital use and ILTC. This highlights the need for greater research in all aspects of the dementia care pathway. No single measure is likely account for the variance in experiences of PLWD and future research should look to widen the outcomes considered.

Our search strategy used few terms to generate the list of literature, but many iterations of the search strategy were conducted before the final one was selected. Initial searches using a wider list of search terms, including terms such as Alzheimer, returned either very few, or too many results. Using such search results would have either under-represented the available research, or presented an unmanageable and unfeasible amount of research to review which was unrelated to the topic. Although the breadth of socio-economic factors and outcome measures investigated highlights the scale of literature found in relation to the topic, there is a paucity of research looking at specific outcomes for PLWD and carers. From the literature search, there was no research investigating socio-economic factors in outcomes for informal carers. It is important to note the impact of caregiver variables, specifically caregiver burden on care pathways, illness progression and health outcomes for PLWD. This is an area that needs greater exploration. Age and gender were consistently investigated, but socio-economic deprivation level, ethnicity, immigration status and level of education were found sporadically. This emphasises a need to explore the capturing of such information in greater

detail in the existing routine datasets, and improving research investigating such factors in care for PLWD.

2.4.2. Conclusions and Implications

This systematic review has identified clear inequalities in current dementia care pathways across the globe, and the advantages of using existing routine and cohort data sets to explore and highlight these. Whilst there is a burgeoning literature on inequalities due to some socio-economic factors, there is a dearth of research identifying the impact of such factors in combination and the specific pathways through which they operate. Our findings however are important to guide the production of improved care plans to ensure that everyone living with dementia and affected by the condition receives the right care at the right time. Maintaining care at home is mutually beneficial and can narrow inequalities, but requires informal carers to be supported – we need to identify ways to reduce carer burden, aid care at home and improve outcomes as a result. Moreover, there is a need to provide a more equitable services to PLWD, improve the availability of culturally appropriate services, and to provide services to PLWD who are not in the position of being able to call on informal care from family or friends.

2.5. Research developments from Chapter 2

Chapter 2, the systematic review highlighted some key areas which have seen limited exploration. Although socio-economic and demographic factors have been used in research examining inequalities among PLWD, they have not been investigated simultaneously. Demographic and socio-economic factors associated with outcomes among PLWD have been explored somewhat sporadically, with only one or two incorporated in any one analysis and a limited look at potential confounders. Geographic factors have seen limited applications as a factor associated with differential care or outcomes among PLWD. The inclusion of geographic factors is important, but research has tended to examine differences and similarities between different countries, with little exploration of differences within countries. This gap in the literature highlights the need to not only explore geography within countries as a factor for potential differences in healthcare use and mortality risk, but also to examine variation in these outcomes measures simultaneously with a multitude of demographic, geographic and socio-economic variables. The systematic review also demonstrates that research has not tended to explore healthcare use as a holistic, interlinked series of events. Instead existing literature tends to observe one area, or part of the pathway for a person with dementia, such as diagnosis, treatment, care transitions, or health outcomes, such as survival or mortality risk. From the systematic review, it was evident that exploration of social and spatial variation in the risk of multiple outcomes was required, starting with mortality risk in Chapter 3.

3. Chapter 3: The Impact of Demographic, Socio-Economic and Geographic Factors on Mortality Risk among People Living with Dementia in England (2002–2016)

Originally published in the International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health:

Watson J, Darlington-Pollock F, Green M, Giebel C, Akpan A. The Impact of Demographic, Socio-Economic and Geographic Factors on Mortality Risk among People Living with Dementia in England (2002-2016). *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2021 Dec 20;18(24):13405. doi: 10.3390/ijerph182413405

Abstract

Introduction

Increasing numbers of people living with dementia (PLWD), and a pressured health and social care system, will exacerbate inequalities in mortality for PLWD. There is a dearth of research examining multiple factors in mortality risk among PLWD, including application of large administrative datasets to investigate these issues.

Methods

This study explored mortality risk variation among people diagnosed with dementia between 2002-2016, based on: age, sex, ethnicity, deprivation, geography and general practice (GP) contacts. Data were derived from electronic health records from a cohort of Clinical Practice Research Datalink GP patients in England (n = 142,340). Cox proportional hazards regression modelled mortality risk separately for people with early- and later- onset dementia.

Results

Few social inequalities were observed in early-onset dementia; men had greater risk of mortality. For both early-onset and later-onset, higher rates of GP observations were associated with increased mortality risk. For later-onset only, dementia medications were associated with increased mortality risk. Social inequalities were evident in later-onset dementia. Accounting for other explanatory factors, Black and Mixed/Other ethnicity groups had lower mortality risk, more deprived areas had greater mortality risk, and higher mortality was observed in North East, South Central and South West GP regions.

Conclusions

This study provides novel evidence of the extent of mortality risk inequalities among PLWD. Variance in mortality risk was observed by social, demographic and geographic factors, and frequency of GP contact. Findings illustrate need for greater person-centred care discussions, prioritising tackling inequalities among PLWD. Future research should explore more outcomes for PLWD, and more explanatory factors of health outcomes.

3.1. Introduction

There are inequalities in mortality for PLWD by various socio-economic and geographic factors (Van de Vorst et al., 2016; Korhonen et al., 2020). People from the most disadvantaged socio-economic groups are most likely to have unmet care needs and experience poorer health outcomes (Wu et al., 2018). Government policy has prioritised narrowing inequalities in access to dementia diagnosis, post-diagnostic support, treatment, and health and social outcomes (Department of Health and Social Care, 2016).

PLWD are more likely than the general population to have comorbidities, and as their condition progresses, a greater need for support with activities of daily living. Increased care need, care home closures and fewer care home places, and social care funding changes, means PLWD with comorbidities are more reliant on informal carers (Bennett et al., 2018). PLWD pay more out-of-pocket for social care (Alzheimer's Research UK, 2020) and use healthcare services more than those without dementia (Shepherd et al., 2019). Increased use of acute and unplanned healthcare is associated with greater financial cost to services and poorer outcomes for PLWD (Briggs et al., 2017; Van de Vorst et al., 2015). However, current UK health and social care funding is strained, with a reliance on the individual to fund, and the third sector to provide a substantial proportion of dementia services (Ogden, 2017). Appropriate health and social care can slow dementia progression, improve outcomes, benefit informal carers and maintain independence for PLWD (Handley et al., 2017; de Vugt and Verhey, 2013). UK strategies and policy recommendations are not reflected in service provision, and recent government commitments to increase dementia funding have not been enacted (Local Government Association, 2017).

The number of PLWD in the UK is estimated to increase from ~920,000 in 2020, to over 1 million by 2024. The reflected financial health and social care cost is anticipated to increase threefold (Wittenberg et al., 2015). The majority of PLWD are aged 65 and over, and the greatest increase will be among those with severe dementia, who often have the greatest needs (for support with routine daily activities), poorest prognosis (Wittenberg et al., 2015)

and greatest service costs (Andersen et al., 2003). As dementia progresses, and health deteriorates, PLWD are likely to need greater levels of healthcare involvement, both in relation to dementia, and comorbidities (Van de Vorst et al., 2019). A further shift towards an older population and increased numbers of PLWD, more severe symptomology and poorer health will result in greater mortality risk (Van de Vorst et al., 2016). These factors will impact some social groups more acutely, particularly older PLWD (Watson et al., 2021). Without additional funding and support, dementia services struggling to cope with current demand - and further impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic (Giebel et al., 2021) - are unlikely to be able to effectively care for and treat increased numbers of PLWD (Alzheimer's Society, 2020). Increased demand for healthcare will exacerbate issues with care and treatment, which will likely have a disproportionate impact (Government Office for Science, 2016), resulting in worse outcomes, including poorer survival and greater mortality (Cooper et al., 2016). Due to inequalities in service availability, access and quality of care, the most disadvantaged will likely be impacted disproportionately (Nuffield Trust, 2021).

In order to address current inequalities, and prevent inequalities widening due to increased demand and struggling services, we need to employ administrative data to better support improved decision-making. Mortality is a definitive outcome, which can illustrate both ill-health and effectiveness of care and symptom management throughout the trajectory of an illness (Van De Vorst et al., 2019; Rait et al., 2010). During times of restricted funding and service availability, inequalities in mortality and differences in life expectancy across social groups widen (Daly and Allen, 2016). As such, it is critical we explore current inequalities as a matter of course to understanding how we can negate the differences experiences by people as a result of belonging to specific social groups. Electronic health records (EHR) can be employed to identify healthcare use and outcomes among specified, large patient groups, which may not be possible through other means (Casey et al., 2016; Manca, 2015). Though EHRs have been used to evidence mortality risk variation among PLWD, there have been limitations in their use. There is not a great deal of research evidencing a multitude of social,

demographic and geographic inequalities in mortality risk among PLWD, or accounting for multiple demographic, geographic or socio-economic variables as potential confounding factors in mortality risk variation (Watson et al., 2021). With policy-makers and service commissioners increasingly aware of the need for patients' social context in their experience of a disease, there is an urgent need to better employ EHRs to evidence variation in outcomes for PLWD. This study addresses these evidence gaps.

The aim of this study is to examine the extent to which demographic, socioeconomic, geographic and healthcare factors are associated with mortality for PLWD, using large-scale, longitudinal EHRs.

3.2. Materials and Methods

3.2.1. Data Access and Ethical Approval

Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD) collects anonymised EHR from ~2000 general practices (GPs) across the UK, with ~16 million registered patients included, representing 25% of the UK's population. GPs apply to CPRD to register for their data to be collected, resulting in potential uneven geographic coverage. CPRD has been employed previously to investigate socio-economic and demographic factors in variation in care of physical and mental health conditions (Chan et al., 2019; Hawkins et al., 2012). Data access was granted by CPRD and use of CPRD Aurum for research purposes approved by the University of Liverpool Research Ethics board (Reference: 7922). The CPRD Aurum database contains routinely-collected, longitudinal EHRs from CPRD-registered GPs, providing records of patient-GP contacts and some socio-economic and geographic variables. For reference, in this paper, a "patient-GP contact" is a single record of a discussion between or regarding a patient - whether that be face-to-face or otherwise—or record of a medication prescribed to a patient - whether that be an initial medication or repeat prescription.

3.2.2. Outcome Variable

Mortality, is a binary outcome variable, based on whether the individual within the sample population has a date of death stated within the CPRD data.

3.2.3. Explanatory Variables

CPRD Aurum contains three primary datasets for patients' contacts with their GP: consultations, observations and drug issue (medication) records (CPRD, 2021). Observation records include clinical measurements, symptoms, laboratory results or diagnoses, and multiple observation records can occur at a single consultation. Consultation records do not contain such granularity, so observation records were selected for analysis. Drug issue records contain medications prescribed. Dementia-specific medications include prescriptions for four drugs advised for use by the NHS for PLWD (NHS, 2020): Donepezil, Galantamine, Rivastigmine and Memantine. Non-dementia medications refer to all remaining drugs prescribed to the sample population. Rates per year of three patient-GP contacts types were calculated: dementia medications, non-dementia medications and observations.

Date of diagnosis is not specified in CPRD. Previous research using CPRD calculated date of diagnosis as the first GP observation record with the condition under investigation specified (Kuan et al., 2019). We defined date of diagnosis as the date of the individuals' first dementia-specific observation, based on the any of the following diagnosis terms noted: "dementia", "Alzheimer", "cogniti", or "memory". These terms relate to specific codes entered into the GP system and reflect a patient presentation to GP. Using this date as date of diagnosis will both standardise diagnosis date across the sample population, and define the first date at which a dementia-specific event was observable within an individuals' GP records. Diagnosis date was set as 'year 0' for each person in the study. We include only patient-GP contact records after the date of diagnosis.

Number of years people were present in the data were calculated by subtracting the year of their diagnosis, from the year of their final GP contact. Patient-GP contact rates were

calculated by dividing their total GP contacts by the total years of GP-contact data available. Healthcare use variables (GP observations and dementia/non-dementia medication rates) have been included to measure an individual's experiences with healthcare. Effective treatment and management of dementia and comorbidities has been illustrated to impact survival rates among PLWD (Van de Vorst et al., 2019; Watson et al., 2021). High observations may also act as a proxy for health status, since individuals who require more observations may have greater needs (rather than only reflecting effective treatment). We use these three primary healthcare use variables as explanatory factors, to identify how use of such services and medications can impact mortality risk.

Individuals' age at diagnosis and dementia onset, sex and GP region were available from their GP records. Ethnicity was available from individuals' secondary healthcare records. The 2011 GP urban/rural classification and 2019 Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) quintile were available through data linkage. Inequalities in dementia and dementia outcomes have been illustrated across spatial contexts - including where somebody lives, the levels of deprivation in the area they live, and where their GP is based (Watson et al., 2021; Russ et al., 2012; Russ et al., 2016). Such variations can exist due to the social gradient in wider determinants of health, differences in local funding and service equity, the make-up of local healthcare systems and regional differences in population composition (Goddard et al., 2001; Kerpershoek et al., 2020; Marmot et al., 2020; Whitehead et al., 2006). As a result, GP region, urban/rural GP classification and IMD 2015 deprivation quintile were considered as explanatory factors for variance in mortality risk among PLWD.

3.2.4. Missing Data

Ethnicity was missing for 7421 (5.2%) people, and 276 (0.2%) people had no available IMD 2015 deprivation (Table 3.1). Statistical analyses including variables with missing data will remove those individuals with missing data.

Group	Population (n)	% Present	Missing (n)
Total sample population	142,340	-	-
With ethnicity stated	134,919	94.8%	7421
With fields present to calculate age	142,340	100%	-
With gender stated	142,340	100%	-
With IMD 2015 deprivation quintile stated	142,064	99.8%	
With general practice (GP) region stated	142,340	100%	-
With urban-rural GP classification stated	142,340	100%	-

Table 3.1. Available/missing explanatory variables data for sample population

3.2.5. Sample Population

Our analytical sample size was 142,340 people (Figure 3.2). Individuals with missing ethnicity or IMD quintile were not included regression models, with data assumed missing completely at random. We defined the sample population as patients registered at GPs in England, diagnosed with dementia between 2002–2016, with at least two years of GP followup data.



Figure 3.1. Sample population flowchart inclusion/exclusion criteria

3.2.6. Statistical Analysis

Analysis was conducted in R, with descriptive statistics calculated to summarise the dataset. Inequalities in mortality risk were examined using Cox Proportional Hazards (CPH) regression models, with Bonferroni correction applied to derived p-values to account for the potential for Type I errors when calculating multiple, simultaneous statistical tests. CPH demonstrate simultaneous impact of multiple explanatory factors on the occurrence of an event (i.e., mortality). Separate models were applied to early- and late-onset dementia, generating hazard risk values for mortality risk by explanatory factors.

3.3. **Results**

3.3.1. Sample Population Characteristics

Two-thirds of the sample population are female (Table 3.2), less than 4% are of non-White ethnicities, ~80% are aged 75–94 years and more live in the less deprived quintiles.

Table 3.2. Demographics of UK dementia population vs. sample population

Domographia	Study	Cohort	UK ¹						
Demographic	n	%	%						
	Sex								
Female	94,060	66.1%	65.0%						
Male	48,280	33.9%	35.0%						
Age Group									
Under45	104	0.1%	0.2%						
45–54	870	0.6%	0.5%						
55–64	4237	3.0%	4.5%						
65–74	20,516	14.4%	16.6%						
75–84	63,236	44.4%	36.5%						
85–94	49,086	34.5%	36.2%						
95+	4291	3.0%	5.5%						
	Onset		•						
Early (<65)	5211	3.7%	5.2%						
Late (65+)	137,129	96.3%	94.8%						
Urban/Ru	iral GP Class	ification	•						
Urban	121,612	85.4%							
Rural	20,728	14.6%							
Ethnicity									
White	129,653	96.1%	94.5%						
Asian	1939	1.4%	1.5%						
Black	2247	1.7%	2.7%						
Mixed/Other	1080	0.8%	1.3%						
Missing	7421	5.2%							
IMD 2015	Deprivation	Quintile							
Quintile 1 (most deprived)	22,366	15.7%	10.7%						
Quintile 2	24,932	17.5%	16.6%						
Quintile 3	28,610	20.1%	20.5%						
Quintile 4	32,786	23.1%	23.4%						
Quintile 5 (least deprived)	33,370	23.5%	26.5%						
Missing	276	0.2%	2.4%						
GP	Practice Reg	ion	•						
South East Coast	12,057	8.5%	17.3%						
North East	7428	5.2%	5.3%						
North West	25,427	17.9%	13.5%						
Yorkshire And The Humber	6139	4.3%	9.9%						
East Midlands	3020	2.1%	9.3%						
East of England	8261	5.8%	11.8%						
West Midlands	24,779	17.4%	10.2%						
London	14,830	10.4%	11.0%						
South Central ²	19,584	13.8%	-						
South West	20,815	14.6%	11.7%						

1 UK prevalence by explanatory factors Alzheimer's Research UK [38]. 2 GP regions for UK data based on GP regions from dementia prevalence estimates [39]

Older age groups and areas with increased levels of deprivation had the highest rates of mortality (Table 3.3). There were differences in mortality by geographic region; greatest mortality was in the North East (57.2%), and lowest in London (44.3%). Asian (43.6%), Black (40.0%) and Mixed/Other (41.9%) groups had lower mortality than White (51.5%).

Table 3.3. Sample population mortality and available years of data (from year of diagnosis to date of final recorded GP contact/death), by socio-economic and geographic variables

Group Died % Died Total Data Years Data Years Per Patient Total Patients Female 47,655 50.7% 1,037,575 11.03 94,060 Male 25,114 52.0% 545,912 11.31 48,280 Dementia Onset									
Sex Per Patient Patients Female 47,655 50.7% 1,037,575 11.03 94,060 Male 25,114 52.0% 545,912 11.31 48,280 Dementia Onset									
Sex Female 47,655 50.7% 1,037,575 11.03 94,060 Male 25,114 52.0% 545,912 11.31 48,280 Dementia Onset									
Female 47,655 50.7% 1,037,575 11.03 94,060 Male 25,114 52.0% 545,912 11.31 48,280 Dementia Onset									
Male 25,114 52.0% 545,912 11.31 48,280 Dementia Onset 52.11/2 52.11/2 52.11/2 52.11/2									
Early-Onset 1727 33.1% 59,550 11.43 5211									
Late-Onset 71,042 51.8% 1,523,937 11.11 137,129									
Urban/Rural GP Classification									
Urban 62,120 51.1% 1,355,230 11.14 121,612									
Rural 10,649 51.4% 228,257 11.01 20,728									
Age Group									
Under45 29 27.9% 1133 10.89 104									
45–54 278 32.0% 9564 10.99 870									
55–64 1420 33.5% 48,853 11.53 4237									
65–74 8001 39.0% 242,220 11.81 20,516									
75–84 30,652 48.5% 720,722 11.40 63,236									
85–94 29,234 59.6% 518,774 10.57 49,086									
95+ 3155 73.5% 42,221 9.84 4291									
Ethnicity Group									
White 66,817 51.5% 1,443,890 11.14 129,653									
Asian 845 43.6% 23,629 12.19 1939									
Black 899 40.0% 26,023 11.58 2247									
Mixed/Other 453 41.9% 12,114 11.22 1080									
IMD 2015 Deprivation Quintile									
Quintile 1: Most Deprived 11.853 53.0% 244,494 10.93 22,366									
Quintile 2 12,687 50.9% 274,378 11.01 24,932									
Quintile 3 14.841 51.9% 319.408 11.16 28.610									
Quintile 4 16.851 51.4% 364.830 11.13 32.786									
Quintile 5: Least Deprived 16.404 49.2% 377.391 11.31 33.370									
GP Region									
South East Coast 5816 48.2% 136.116 11.29 12.057									
North East 4252 57.2% 85.681 11.53 7428									
North West 13.418 52.8% 289.817 11.40 25.427									
Yorkshire And The Humber 3082 50.2% 68.595 11.17 6139									
Fast Midlands 1410 46.7% 32.825 10.87 3020									
East of England 4135 50.1% 91.006 11.02 8261									
West Midlands 12.307 49.7% 275.161 11.10 24.779									
London 6573 44.3% 165.344 11.15 14.830									
South Central 10.695 54.6% 215.802 11.02 19.584									
South West 11081 53.2% 223.140 10.72 20.815									

3.3.2. Mortality Inequalities in Early-Onset Dementia

Regression analyses found few factors had a significant impact on mortality risk among those with early-onset dementia (Table 3.4). Accounting for covariates (age at diagnosis, ethnicity, IMD 2015 deprivation quintile, urban-rural GP classification, GP region and patient-GP contact rates), men had significantly greater mortality risk than women and, higher rates of GP observations were significantly associated with greater mortality risk.

	Early-Onset Dementia				Late-Onset Dementia				
Group	HR	95% CI	Adjusted p- value		HR	95% CI	Adjusted p- value		
Sex									
Female	1.00				1.00				
Male	1.24 **	(1.09–1.41)	0.032	*	1.11 ***	(1.09–1.14)	0.000	***	
Age									
Age At Diagnosis	1.00	(0.99–1.01)	1.000		1.04 ***	(1.04–1.05)	0.000	***	
Ethnicity									
White	1.00				1.00				
Asian	0.64	(0.39–1.02)	1.000		0.80 ***	(0.72-0.89)	0.095		
Black	0.88	(0.54–1.43)	1.000		0.71 ***	(0.64–0.79)	0.000	***	
Mixed/Other	1.18	(0.53-2.66)	1.000		0.74 ***	(0.65–0.86)	0.004	**	
IMD 2015 deprivation quintile									
Quintile 5: Least Deprived	1.00				1.00				
Quintile 4	1.18	(0.97–1.45)	1.000		1.08 ***	(1.04–1.11)	0.012	*	
Quintile 3	1.09	(0.88–1.35)	1.000		1.07 ***	(1.03–1.11)	0.000	***	
Quintile 2	1.10	(0.89–1.38)	1.000		1.09 ***	(1.05–1.13)	0.055		
Quintile 1: Most Deprived	1.06	(0.85–1.34)	1.000		1.20 ***	(1.15–1.24)	0.000	***	
Urban/Rural GP Classification									
Urban	1.00				1.00				
Rural	0.96	(0.78–1.16)	1.000		1.01	(0.97–1.04)	1.000		
GP Region									
South East Coast	1.00				1.00				
North East	0.96	(0.65–1.43)	1.000		1.10 **	(1.03–1.16)	0.000	***	
North West	1.09	(0.81–1.48)	1.000		1.04	(0.99–1.09)	0.000	***	
Yorkshire And The Humber	1.22	(0.80–1.87)	1.000		1.06	(0.99–1.13)	0.962		
East Midlands	0.97	(0.60–1.57)	1.000		1.03	(0.94–1.13)	1.000		
East of England	0.96	(0.63–1.47)	1.000		1.06	(0.99–1.13)	1.000		
West Midlands	0.88	(0.64–1.22)	1.000		1.03	(0.98–1.08)	1.000		
London	1.09	(0.77–1.52)	1.000		0.95	(0.90–1.00)	1.000		
South Central	1.39 *	(1.02–1.88)	0.727		1.23 ***	(1.17–1.29)	0.000	***	
South West	1.30	(0.95–1.78)	1.000		1.17 ***	(1.11–1.23)	0.000	***	
Patient-GP Contact rates per year/100									
Observations	1.67 ***	(1.44–1.92)	0.000	***	1.94 ***	(1.91–1.97)	0.000	***	
Dementia Medications	6.44 **	(1.73–23.69)	0.112		21.48 ***	(17.62– 26.19)	0.000	***	
Non-Dementia Medications	0.86 *	(0.78–0.98)	0.613		0.84 ***	(0.82–0.85)	1.000		

Table 3.4. Fully-adjusted for covariates¹. Cox proportional hazards model for sample population with early- and late-onset dementia, by explanatory factors

¹Covariates accounted for: age, sex, ethnicity, deprivation quintile, urban/rural GP, GP region and healthcare contacts; 2 Adjusted p-values for from Cox proportional hazards with Bonferroni adjustments applied; significance level codes: *** 0.001 (99.9%); ** 0.01 (99%); * 0.05 (95%); Note: reference group for each explanatory factor in italics.
3.3.3. Mortality Inequalities in Late-Onset Dementia

Regression analysis for late-onset dementia found distinct, significant demographic inequalities. When accounting for covariates (Table 3.4), men had significantly greater mortality risk than women. Age was significantly, positively associated with mortality risk, with each year of age associated with 4% (hazard risk (HR): 1.04; confidence Intervals: 1.04–1.05) greater likelihood of dying in the study. Significant variance in mortality risk was found among ethnic groups, with PLWD of Black ethnic groups having a 29% lower risk of mortality than White ethnicity groups (HR: 0.71; 0.64–0.79) and Mixed/Other (HR: 0.75; 0.65–0.86) people having lower mortality risk than White people.

Deprivation was also significantly associated with mortality risk. Compared to the least deprived quintile (Quintile 5), each quintile had significantly increased mortality risk with a dose-response relationship; the most deprived quintile (Quintile 1) had a 20% increased risk of mortality (HR: 1.20; 1.15–1.24) compared to the least deprived. Significant differences were found across geographic regions. Compared to the South East Coast region, mortality risk was greater in the South Central (HR: 1.23; 1.17–1.29), South West (HR: 1.17; 1.11–1.23), North East (HR: 1.10; 1.03–1.16).

Rates of GP observations and dementia medications were also associated with significantly greater risk of mortality among people living with late-onset dementia.

3.4. Discussion

3.4.1. Key Findings

This study presents one of the first to apply large EHRs in exploring numerous causes of inequalities in dementia-related mortality. In early- and late-onset dementia, increasing rates of GP observation contacts - and for late-onset, dementia medications - are associated with increased mortality risk. In late-onset, men had higher mortality risk than women, those from Black ethnicity groups had lower mortality risk than White ethnicity groups, and those living in the most deprived areas had greatest mortality risk compared to those from the least

deprived areas. Additionally, compared to the South East Coast GP region, people registered with GPs in North East, South Central and South West GP regions, had higher mortality risk.

3.4.2. Research Context

Existing research examines the impact of few social, demographic or geographic factors in mortality risk among PLWD (Van de Vorst et al., 2016; Korhonen et al., 2020; Co et al., 2021). Yet none focus on multiple risk factors or investigate healthcare contacts as explanatory factors in health outcomes for PLWD. Despite continuing evidence of dementia care inequalities (Watson et al., 2021) and UK Strategies prioritising narrowing inequalities (Department of Health and Social Care, 2016), issues persist, and have been exacerbated throughout the COVID-19 pandemic (Alzheimer's Society, 2020(2)). Our findings progress previous research, highlighting social, demographic, geographic and healthcare inequalities in mortality risk, accounting for a greater range of explanatory factors.

We noted that in late-onset dementia, living in the most deprived areas was associated with a 20% greater risk of mortality compared to living in the least deprived areas. There are multiple factors that could have a detrimental impact on outcomes for PLWD in more deprived areas, which can occur before they are diagnosed and have a cumulative impact throughout their dementia pathway (Jitlal et al., 2021; Marden et al., 2017). In areas of greatest deprivation, there are more diagnosed and undiagnosed PLWD (Pujades-Rodriguez et al., 2018). With lower rates of early diagnosis for PLWD from more deprived areas, there are fewer treatment options, and dementia has progressed whilst they have remained undiagnosed (Bradford et al., 2009). People from the most deprived areas receive less, and inadequate care and treatment (Nuffield Trust, 2021; Cooper et al., 2017). In dementia, this leads to later diagnosis, with PLWD from deprived areas more likely to experience faster disease progression, use emergency healthcare with more severe symptoms (Sommerlad et al., 2019), have shorter survival and greater mortality risk (Van de Vorst et al., 2019).

People registered with North East, South Central and South East GPs had greater mortality risk. The North East - along with higher prevalence of poor health (UK Parliament, 2016) and lowest life expectancy in England (Corris et al., 2020) - contains some of the most socioeconomically deprived areas in England (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, 2019), likely contributing to higher mortality risk for. Greater dementia mortality risk in South Central and South East regions is reflective of demographic and systemic factors. The South of England tends to be more affluent, with greater life expectancy (ONS, 2020). However, pockets of deprivation may be hidden in regional analyses. Greater mortality risk for older PLWD was observed, and White people had higher mortality risk than other ethnicities. With increased mortality risk observed in GP regions with varied levels of deprivation, mortality risk may be more likely a result of the regions' population composition, rather than the geographic region itself. The South Central and South East regions are older and less ethnically diverse (Local Government Association, 2021). An older population, with reduced mobility and further to travel to access care, will have less frequent healthcare contact, limited treatment options, faster disease progression, and greater risk of negative health outcomes (Innes et al., 2020; Szymczynska et al., 2011).

This study demonstrated that PLWD from ethnic minority groups had a lower risk of mortality than PLWD from White ethnicity groups. These findings are reflective of the lower life expectancy and mortality risk among people from White ethnicity groups in the wider UK population (Gruer et al., 2016; ONS, 2020). They are also similar to findings from previous studies of mortality risk among PLWD from different ethnicity groups (Lewis et al., 2018; Mueller et al., 2017). PLWD from White ethnicity groups tend to access healthcare services more frequently, and encounter better quality care and treatment (Tsamakis et al., 2021). As such, this finding would seem to demonstrate that the mortality risk differences seen between PLWD of White ethnicity and from Black and Mixed/Other ethnicity groups is not necessarily due to inherent social inequalities, or differences in their access to or quality of the health and social care services they encounter. However, there are some cultural and

demographic differences which may play a part in the variation in mortality risk between ethnicity groups in this study. The demography of ethnic minority groups in the UK is younger than that of White ethnicity groups (ONS, 2018), and in conjunction with cultural differences in care expectation, this may mean PLWD from ethnic minority groups are more likely to have a wider group of younger relatives who can provide care at home (Parveen and Oyebode, 2018). People with dementia from ethnic minority groups are also more likely to be diagnosed when they are younger (Mukadam et al., 2023) when their condition may be more manageable at home. Care at home can support better short- and long-term health outcomes, including reduced risk of mortality, which may be a factor in reduced mortality risk among PLWD from ethnic minority groups.

3.4.3. Implications for Policy, Practice and Research

This study illustrates that increasing frequency of patient-GP contact and dementia medications are associated with greater mortality risk among PLWD. We suggest caution in interpreting this finding. Towards the end of life, PLWD are more likely to display more severe dementia symptomatology and a greater number and more severe comorbidities, which can increase GP contact and the number of medications prescribed (Bunn et al., 2014). Greater continuity of GP care for PLWD has been shown to reduce the risk of inappropriate medications and the risk of emergency admissions to hospital (Delgado et al., 2020). However, it should also be noted that different medications are required for dementia subtypes (O'Brien et al., 2017). Incorrect diagnoses and the increased levels of comorbidities among PLWD (Bunn et al., 2014) can increase the potential for inappropriate medications and risk of poor health outcomes (Delgado et al., 2020). More acute need and greater numbers of medications can result in differential patterns in primary healthcare use, and increased secondary healthcare contact which can heighten mortality risk in dementia (Banerjee, 2009; Goddard et all., 2016; Fogg et al., 2017). These findings illustrate how vital continuity of care, and correct treatment for dementia and comorbidities is to maintaining quality of life and longer-term survival are for PLWD (Griffith et al., 2016; Rees et al., 2020).

Further evidence is required to understand the direction of causality in the association between increased GP contact and dementia medications, and mortality risk.

There is a growing need to improve understanding of health inequalities for PLWD (Glikich et al., 2018). This study illustrates the potential and importance of using existing EHRs to explore health inequalities. Further use of EHRs to evidence inequalities in various outcomes for PLWD can benefit policy-makers, service commissioners and providers and clinicians. Developing further on this study, future research should develop understanding of variation in primary and secondary healthcare use among PLWD. Exploring numerous dementia-specific, and non-dementia healthcare contact types is important to identify inequalities in the need and use of healthcare services among PLWD. Future research can extend this work through examining the healthcare pathways, and temporal service use changes among PLWD. For example, by clustering PLWD based on type and frequency of use of different healthcare services, one can identify social, demographic and geographic groups most likely to need and use different services. This can help us to explain why inequalities exist, building on more descriptive work exploring the extent of inequalities. Additionally, EHRs can be used to identify care pathways, helping to illuminate patterns in care usage and associations with positive or negative outcomes. Knowledge of the pathways more likely to elicit positive outcomes can guide future service provision and care decisionmaking.

3.4.4. Limitations

There are potential explanatory factors of outcome inequalities for PLWD which are not available through CPRD. There is a need to improve data collection for PLWD; routine data of EHRs should be more inclusionary and representative, aiming to be more complete in existing metrics and expanding social, demographic and geographic metrics recorded. There are issues around the representativeness of the sample population within CPRD. Although the population in our study is relatively representative of the UK dementia population for most social and demographic variables—as seen in Tables 2 and 3 —there are differences between the GP region of the sample population compared to the UK dementia population. Over/under-representation of certain regions may introduce selection bias into our analyses, which may limit the generalisability of our findings (especially the inequalities by region we identify). CPRD holds only data from GPs who have registered to send their practice data to CPRD. If those GPs engaging with data sharing are not random and socially/geographically patterned, this may contribute to the bias in our data. This study used static, at point-of-entry, GP-based geographic variables as explanatory factors of variation in mortality risk among PLWD. Although deprivation was based on individuals' home postcode, location of residence and any change of residence through postcode data is not available via CPRD data, as data is anonymised at source and confidentiality of data is paramount. Using GP-based geographic variables, encompassing large regions of England does however bring a potential limitation. Geographic variables covering large areas, can mask the nuance and variation in numerous factors that exist within regions. Though some areas - such as the North East or North West may have greater deprivations, there are large pockets of wealth. Although we accounted for deprivation in analyses, catch-all GP regions don't necessarily enable as nuanced analyses as could be represented by more exact locations of sample populations' residence, particularly with no data on change of GP or residence over the study period. Future research should seek to understand, at a lower geographic level, changes in the location of residence, as well as movements in primary care provider.

Given the nature of the condition, date of dementia diagnosis is difficult to define. Though screening and testing can indicate dementia symptomology, there is a reliance on clinical judgement during healthcare interactions (Brodaty et al., 1994. Lack of GP confidence in diagnosing, or lack of knowledge of dementia in primary care may result in issues around dementia diagnosis, resulting in issues with defining dementia date of diagnosis (Phillips et al., 2012). There nature of dementia presents difficulties in defining an exact date of diagnosis from health records. Methods to test for symptoms are not always applied consistently and the system relies on clinical judgement (Chithiramohan et al., 2019; Creavin

et al., 2017; Lin et al., 2015). Healthcare provision and a stretched primary care system can result in diagnosis issues, which are more likely to impact the already disadvantaged (Phillips et al., 2012). With people from minority ethnic backgrounds, or from socioeconomically deprived areas less likely to receive a diagnosis (Connolly et al., 2011; Pham et al., 2018), this could introduce a degree of selection bias to our findings. There is currently no way to negate this, however in standardising date of diagnosis in the sample population, adds a greater degree of precision.

Evidence points to greater prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed dementia among some minority ethnic groups (Pham et al., 2018), and in areas of greatest deprivation (Connolly et al., 2011). Furthermore, less reliance on formal care for PLWD among some communities (Williams et al., 2019), inadequate collection of socio-economic and demographic information and historic under-representation in EHRs and research among some communities (Hindorff et al., 2018), means true prevalence among certain population groups may not be discovered (Klinger et al., 2015). Severity or stage of dementia was not available from the CPRD data, and no comorbidities index or variable indicating health status, or healthcare need was included within the analyses. This may be a factor in some of the findings coming from this paper, specifically with men tending to have greater comorbidities and need (Gambassi et al., 1999), and people from White ethnicity groups having greater access to, and quality of healthcare than PLWD from other ethnicity groups (Duran-Kirac et al., 2021). Potential lack of representation in CPRD, and identifier of general need as a result of comorbidities may impact potential findings and conclusions.

For the sample population, there are fewer dementia medication records (~2.5% of all recorded patient-GP) than GP observation or non-dementia medication records. In earlyand late-onset dementia there are fewer than 2.4 and 2.9 dementia medication records per patient year respectively. This may help explain wider confidence intervals for dementia medication contacts as an explanatory factor for mortality risk in the sample population.

3.4.5. Conclusions

Findings from this study suggest substantial differential mortality risk among PLWD, due to demographic, social and geographic factors, and use of primary healthcare. These findings have ramifications for future research and services. Reducing inequalities in mortality for PLWD requires systemic, societal and cultural measures. In areas of greatest deprivation, expansion of health and social care provision, alongside improved links between primary healthcare and post-diagnostic support, can make services more accessible. Additionally, commitment to person-centred care discussions are essential, with pragmatic inclusion of medicative and non-medicative treatments. Better access to, and support in using health technologies, alongside improved transport infrastructure can enable more equitable service access for remote and older populations. Future research should explore more health and social outcomes for PLWD. This study was the first to incorporate numerous socio-economic and geographic factors, and healthcare contacts as factors in mortality risk among PLWD. Future research should include broader healthcare contact types, and socio-economic and geographic characteristics as explanatory factors of health outcomes for PLWD.

3.5. Research developments from Chapter 3

Along with the gaps in the literature identified by the systematic review – a lack of research on multiple parts of the pathway for people living with dementia, using multiple explanatory factors - further potential avenues for research were highlighted from the research in Chapter 3. Mortality is a definitive variable for a time-to-event analysis among PWLD and having a singular focus on mortality does not encompass the range of lived experiences of PLWD beyond their diagnosis. Exploring the experience between diagnosis and an end point such as mortality is critical in understanding differential care needs and how healthcare use can impact other outcomes. This led to the generation of the research idea that forms Chapter 4 – an exploration of social and spatial variations in the use of multiple types of primary and secondary healthcare. This study focused on healthcare usage since (i) literature has showed, both for dementia and other conditions, that there are large inequalities in who accesses and uses different types of healthcare, and (ii) any inequalities are potentially modifiable through improving access which could tackle inequalities. In the preceding paper, we highlighted that differential rates of use of primary healthcare services can impact the risk of mortality among people living with dementia. However, it is important to understand how socio-economic and geographic factors may impact the frequency or likelihood of using different types of healthcare. Exploring the frequency or likelihood of using a variety of both primary and secondary healthcare services can create a bigger picture of how inequalities could be more ingrained and reflect to use greater need among certain socio-economic or geographic groups.

Chapter 4: Social and spatial inequalities in healthcare use among people living with dementia in England (2002-2016)

Originally published in Aging and Mental Health:

Watson J, Green MA, Giebel C, Darlington-Pollock F, Akpan A. Social and spatial inequalities in healthcare use among people living with dementia in England (2002-2016). *Aging Ment Health.* 2022 Aug 12:1-12. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2022.2107176

Abstract

Objectives

Healthcare services for people living with dementia (PLWD) are stretched, and government promises of increased funding remain undelivered. With the UK dementia population to surpass 1 million by 2024, and dementia care costs predicted to almost treble by 2040, it is essential we understand differences in healthcare use among PLWD. This study aimed to explore social and spatial variations in healthcare use among people diagnosed with dementia (2002–2016).

Methods

Data were derived from Electronic Health Records of Clinical Practice Research Datalink GP patients in England (n = 142,302). To standardise healthcare contacts, rates of healthcare contacts per year were calculated for three primary (GP observations and medications) and three secondary healthcare types [Accident & Emergency (A&E) attendances and, emergency and elective hospital admissions]. Fully-adjusted generalised linear regression models were used to identify healthcare use variation by social and spatial groups. Twelve

models were generated, one for each healthcare type in early- and late-onset populations separately.

Results

This study highlights numerous social and spatial variations in healthcare use among PLWD. Among PLWD, several groups tended to have healthcare service use more closely associated with negative outcomes, including a greater likelihood of A&E attendances and emergency and elective hospital admissions. These groups include: men, people from White ethnicity groups and people from more deprived and rural areas.

Conclusions

Systemic and social measures are needed to reduce variations in healthcare use inequalities in PWLD. These include greater healthcare continuity, health checks and medicines reviews, culturally appropriate services, better and more accessible treatment and improved infrastructure.

4.1. Introduction

Among PLWD, inequalities exist in the availability and quality of healthcare (Cooper et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2018) and in the likelihood of negative health and social outcomes (Korhonen et al., 2020, van de Vorst et al., 2016; Watson et al., 2020). PLWD from disadvantaged areas and socio-economic groups experience greater unmet care needs, and have poorer health outcomes (Giebel et al., 2021; Wu et al., 2018). Recent government policy has prioritised reducing inequalities in accessing dementia diagnosis, support, treatment and resultant outcomes. However, commitments to increased funding to support services remain unfulfilled (Department of Health and Social Care, 2016; Local Government Association, 2021). Both health and social care are vital for PLWD and their carers to live well in the community or in a care home after a diagnosis, and continued lack of funding of both, and neglect of the social care system (King's Fund, 2018), has resulted in an increased use of avoidable healthcare services (Alzheimer's Society, 2018; NICE, 2018).

The majority of PLWD are aged 65 years and over, and are more likely to have comorbidities than the general population (Griffith et al., 2016). The number of PLWD in the UK is expected to increase from an estimated 920,000 currently to over 1 million by 2024 (Wittenberg et al., 2019). The greatest increase will be among those with severe dementia symptomatology, with acute everyday support needs (Bennett et al., 2018). With increased and more acute need among PLWD, the cost of providing health and social care to PLWD is set to almost than treble by 2040 (Wittenberg et al., 2019). Increasing numbers of PLWD and more acute need, alongside sustained funding shortfalls will likely exacerbate inequalities in the accessibility and quality of healthcare, health outcomes and the frequency and cost of avoidable healthcare use.

Avoidable, unplanned healthcare use, including A&E attendances, hospital admissions and readmissions, is greater among PLWD than the general population (Voss et al., 2017). Among PLWD, there are differences in the likelihood of using potentially avoidable healthcare, by socio-economic and demographic groups, including by gender, age, levels of deprivation and rurality (Thorpe et al., 2010; Husaini et al., 2015; Shepherd et al., 2019; Watson et al., 2020). There are also social and spatial differences in the use of primary healthcare among PLWD, including the quality and frequency of dementia medications and, adequate care and treatment reviews (Cooper et al., 2017; Giebel et al., 2021; Lu et al., 2021). Avoidable healthcare use is associated with more severe dementia, faster deterioration, poorer quality of life, increased mortality risk and greater cost to the healthcare system (Briggs et al., 2017; Reynish et al., 2017; Sager et al., 1996; Tropea et al., 2017; van de Vorst et al., 2015). Although early diagnosis and effective treatment can reduce avoidable healthcare use and associated negative outcomes (Alzheimer's Society, 2021; Watson et al., 2021), a lack of funding for formal services and greater and more acute need among PLWD will likely exacerbate avoidable healthcare use, leading to more proliferate negative health outcomes for PLWD with elevated costs to healthcare services. Some socio-economic groups and geographic areas are more likely to experience a lack of sufficient care, including those from more remote or historically underserved communities (Rahman et al., 2020; Thorpe et al., 2020; Watson et al., 2020). Funding issues, increased numbers of PLWD and more acute need is likely to widen existing inequalities, meaning those already experiencing poorer care, treatment and health outcomes will be affected more greatly.

It is therefore essential we understand the spatial and social contexts that influence the healthcare experiences of PLWD, to identify and address their resulting inequalities (Pearce, Mitchell and Shortt, 2015). We define inequality here to mean observable differences between societal groups. We are describing the extent of these differences, and therefore we do not take an equity approach, however, inequalities often reflect unjust and unfair processes that lead to certain social groups to have better health than others. While some argue that inequalities reflect differences in need, these differences in need are often socially rooted as well. In our paper we select social and spatial factors that have been identified by the UK Government as unjust and use them as social markers for measuring inequalities. Providing a picture of differential need and quality and, avoidable service use based on

spatial factors, can help with policy decisions to reduce pressure and financial burden on services and potentially address improved wellbeing for PLWD (Dummer, 2008; Rice and Smith, 2001).

To reduce current and future inequalities among PLWD, we need to support better service delivery and healthcare decision-making. Electronic Healthcare Records (EHRs) can be used to identify healthcare use among large cohorts of patients with a specified health condition, such as dementia (Casey et al., 2016). EHRs have been employed previously to evidence inequalities in health outcomes, although their use has been somewhat limited (Watson et al., 2020; Watson et al., 2021). Understanding which services PLWD are in contact with, by social and spatial variables, can demonstrate differences associated with healthcare utilisation. There are gaps in the existing literature, with a lack of research encompassing more than one or two demographic, geographic or socio-economic variables associated with differential use of healthcare services as outcome measures (Watson et al., 2020). Also, we are not aware of previous research exploring spatial variations in healthcare use among PLWD. To begin to understand how we can go about reducing inequalities in healthcare use and health outcomes, and improve the situation for PLWD, it is important to address these key gaps.

The aim of this study was to examine the extent to which social and spatial factors are associated with variations in the use of different types of primary and secondary healthcare among PLWD, using large-scale, longitudinal Electronic Health Records (EHR).

4.2. Materials and Methods

4.2.1. Data Access and Ethical Approval

Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD) collect pseudo-anonymised, Electronic Health Records (EHR) from General Practices (GP) across the United Kingdom (UK). CPRD data incorporates ~16million patients registered with UK GPs representing 25% of the UK patient population. CPRD Aurum contains routinely-collected, anonymised EHR from registered GPs, covering primary care data, including GP contacts and medications. CPRD can also provide data linkage between primary and secondary healthcare records, social and spatial variables (CPRD, 2021). Data access was granted by CPRD and use of CPRD Aurum approved by the University of Liverpool Research Ethics board (Reference: 7922).

4.2.2. Sample Population

Patients registered with CPRD GPs, who were diagnosed with dementia between 2002-2016, with at least two years of follow-up healthcare data from date of diagnosis (Figure 4.1). Our initial analytical sample size was 142,302 people.



Figure 4.1: Inclusion/Exclusion criteria for sample population

4.2.3. Outcome variables

No date of dementia diagnosis is available in CPRD GP data. Dementia-specific GP

observations are those which include one of the following terms as the reason the patient

presented to their GP: "dementia", "Alzheimer", "cogniti", or "memory". We calculated date of diagnosis as the date for a patient's first dementia-specific GP observation record occurred. Healthcare contacts included in analyses are only those which occurred after this diagnosis date.

This study includes rates of six healthcare contacts per year as independent healthcare use variables as outcome measures. These include three primary healthcare use variables - GP observations, dementia medications and non-dementia medications – and three secondary healthcare use variables – A&E attendances, emergency hospital admissions and non-emergency hospital admissions. Rates for each of the six healthcare types were calculated, per year, based on years present in the data (from year of diagnosis to year of final healthcare record/year of death). In this study, a healthcare contact refers to an individual record of communication or treatment between a PLWD and a healthcare service. Healthcare contacts were standardised for each member of the sample population. Descriptions of what each of the six healthcare types refers to are given below.

GP observations are self-contained, with one record for each observation at a GP visit. Dementia-specific medications include prescriptions for four drugs advised for use by the NHS for PLWD: Donepezil, Galantamine, Rivastigmine and Memantine. Non-dementia medications refer to all remaining drugs prescribed.

A&E attendance records are self-contained, denoting individual records of a person presenting at an Accident & Emergency department. Emergency hospital admission spells are records of urgent care need and elective hospital admission spells are records of planned care. A&E attendances are generally unplanned presentations at A&E or urgent care, and hospital admissions involve a clinical decision to admit the patient as they are deemed to require further care, treatment and observation.

4.2.4. Explanatory variables

This study encompasses multiple variables as potential explanatory factors of variation in healthcare use among PLWD. Available from CPRD GP data, we included patients' age at diagnosis, sex and GP region, and from patient secondary healthcare records, ethnicity. From age at diagnosis, we defined whether patients had early-onset (aged under 65 years) or late-onset dementia (aged 65 years+). People with early-onset dementia are more likely to have rarer forms of dementia than in late-onset (DementiaUK, 2022; Gupta, Fiertag and Warner, 2018), which can present additional symptomatology (Giebel et al., 2020). Together with the need for greater support with day-to-day activities, such as washing or preparing food, rare dementias can present varied symptoms which can have a greater impact on health and cognition (Gerritsen et al., 2019; Koedam et al., 2010; Smits et al., 2014). The differential impact on cognition and physical capabilities, along with family, social and employment dynamics mean people with early- and late-onset dementia will likely have differing needs (Alzheimer's Society, 2020). 2015 Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) quintile and GP urban/rural classification was available via data linkage using patients' GP ID. This study includes these explanatory factors for healthcare use among PLWD, as research illustrates differential provision and quality of healthcare, and health outcomes for PLWD by age (continuous), sex, ethnicity and deprivation, and by spatial factors including level of urbanity/rurality (Rahman et al., 2020; Watson et al., 2020, Watson et al., 2021; Wu et al., 2020).

4.2.5. Missing Data

Our analytical sample size was 142,340 people. However, ethnicity data for 7,421 (5.2%) and IMD 2015 quintile data for 276 (0.2%) was missing data. As such these individuals were not included in regression analyses (Figure 1). Research has demonstrated that there is under-diagnosis of dementia, and under-representation of some population groups healthcare services, data and research, particularly people from minority ethnicity groups and more deprived areas (Cooper et al., 2010; Gilmore-Bykovskyi et al., 2019; Mukadam et

al., 2023). This means that missing data for explanatory factors cannot be assumed missing at random.

4.2.6. Statistical analysis

The sample population was stratified into two groups based on age of onset of dementia diagnosis. Descriptive statistics of the sample populations' social and spatial factors were calculated. Frequency counts and rates per year of the six healthcare types were calculated. Explanatory factors were included in fully-adjusted, generalised linear regression models, highlighting variation in healthcare use. A mixture of Binomial and Poisson generalised linear regression models were used. Those healthcare types with sufficient numbers - in which more than half of the population came into contact with the healthcare service - of contacts were analysed using Poisson regression, based on rates per patient year. People come into contact with secondary healthcare services a lot less frequently than they do with primary care services. With so many of the sample population potentially having 0, or very few secondary healthcare contacts, Poisson models would likely generate under-dispersion. As such, if less than half of the sample population came into contact with a specific healthcare service type, binomial regression models were used, testing the impact of explanatory factors on whether the person did or did not use the type of healthcare. Within regression models, explanatory factors were included as dependent variables, with the rates/occurrence of healthcare contacts the independent variable(s).

Early-onset: Binomial regression models were used for analysis of associations between explanatory factors and likelihood of using dementia medications, A&E attendances and, elective and emergency hospital admissions. Poisson regression models were used to test for associations between explanatory factors and frequency of for GP observations and nondementia medications.

Late-onset: Binomial regression models were used for A&E attendances and, elective and emergency hospital admissions. Poisson regression models were used for GP observations, dementia and, non-dementia medications. Early- and late-onset populations were analysed separately, with a total of 12 fully-adjusted models run to indicate differential use of each healthcare type by explanatory variables. Analyses were conducted in R. Poisson regression models return Incidence Rate Ratios (IIR), and Binomial regression models return Odds Ratios (OR), both with 95% confidence intervals. OR gives us the relative difference to the reference group in the odds of an outcome, whereas IRR provides a ratio of the difference in the rate of the outcome compared to the reference group.

For categorical variables included as explanatory factors of an outcome in regression analyses, we are required to specify a level as our reference group, against which each of the other levels are compared. As a continuous variable in both early- and late-onset models, age at diagnosis did not require this. However, in our analyses, our reference groups for gender (women), ethnicity (White), urban-rural GP classification (Urban) are based on the level with the largest population size. For IMD 2015 deprivation quintile (Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government), we used the least deprived quintile (Quintile 5) as our reference group, to demonstrate the impact of increasing levels of deprivation on outcomes. For GP region, the North East was chosen as our reference group. In our descriptive analysis the North East was shown to have higher rates per year of most healthcare types than other regions, and so gave the most pragmatic choice for reference group.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Sample population

Of the 142,302 population PLWD (Table 4.1), approximately two-thirds were female, less than 4% were of Asian, Black or Mixed/Other ethnicity groups, and a greater proportion resided in less deprived areas. Less than 4% of the sample population had early-onset dementia, with the majority (78.9%) aged between 75-94 years. Approximately 1 in 7 were registered with GPs in urban areas and greater numbers were registered with GPs in the North West, West Midlands, South West and South-Central regions. Thirty-three PLWD had

neither IMD quintile, or ethnicity (<0.01%) available, 7,388 (5.2%) had no stated ethnicity, and a further 243 (<0.2%), no IMD quintile stated. Data are not included in regression models and due to the inherent under-representation of some groups in society in diagnosis, healthcare services, data and research, these data cannot be assumed missing at random.

Explanatory factor	Sample Pop	ulation	UK ³					
Explanatory factor	n	%	%					
Onset/Age Group								
Early-Onset	52101	3.7%	5.2%					
Under45	104	0.1%	0.2%					
45-54	870	0.6%	0.5%					
55-64	4236	3.0%	4.5%					
Late-onset	137092	96.3%	94.8%					
65-74	20514	14.4%	16.6%					
75-84	63225	44.4%	36.5%					
85-94	49067	34.5%	36.2%					
95+	4286	3.0%	5.5%					
Sex								
Female	94033	66.1%	65.0%					
Male	48269	33.9%	35.0%					
Ethnicity								
Asian ¹	1937	1.4%	1.5%					
Black ²	2246	1.6%	2.7%					
Mixed/Other	1080	0.8%	1.3%					
White	129618	91.1%	94.5%					
IMD 201	5 Deprivation	Quintile						
Quintile 1: Most Deprived	22362	15.7%	10.7%					
Quintile 2	24923	17.5%	16.6%					
Quintile 3	28601	20.1%	20.5%					
Quintile 4	32778	23.%	23.4%					
Quintile 5: Least Deprived	33362	23.4%	26.5%					
Urban-Rural GP Classification								
Urban	121586	85.4%	N/A					
Rural	20719	14.6%	N/A					
GP Region⁴								
North East	7428	5.2%	5.3%					
North West	25422	17.9%	13.5%					
Yorkshire And The Humber	6137	4.3%	9.9%					
East Midlands	3020	2.1%	9.3%					
East of England	8261	5.8%	11.8%					
West Midlands	24769	17.4%	10.2%					
London	14825	10.4%	11.0%					
South Central	19579	13.8%	N/A					
South East Coast	12052	8.5%	17.3%					
South West	20809	14.6%	11.7%					

Table 4.1: Demographic characteristics of sample population vs. UK dementia population

¹Sum of: Bangladeshi, Chinese, Indian, Other Asian and Pakistani ethnicity groups

³Dementia Statistics hub, Alzheimer's Research UK (May 2020)

⁴Public Health England Regions include only South East/South West, not South Central

Inclusion in the study required a date of diagnosis derived from the first recorded dementiaspecific GP observation record, and therefore all of the sample population had recorded GP observations. However, not all experienced each of the healthcare types. Though nearly all

²Sum of: Black African, Black Caribbean and Black other ethnicity groups

had non-dementia medications (99.4%), just over half had dementia medications prescribed (53.5%). Over four in five of the sample population had A&E attendances (82.3%) and emergency hospital admissions (81.1%), but approximately only two in five had elective hospital admissions (40.3%).

4.3.2. Multivariable logistic regression: primary and secondary healthcare use Significant differences in rates of healthcare use were noted by all explanatory factors (Figures 4.2 & 4.3 and Appendices 4.3 & 4.4). Variations were noted among those with early- (Appendices 4.1 & 4.2) and late-onset dementia (Figures 4.2 & 4.3), but more so among people living with late-onset dementia.

The Poisson models employed in the analysis of associations between social and spatial explanatory factors and healthcare use, were tested for potential over-dispersion. Overdispersion in Poisson regression models occur when the variance value of the data is greater than the mean value of the data. This can result in bias and the overestimation of significant findings (Payne et al., 2018). Over-dispersion was noted in Poisson regression models for: early-onset models GP observations and non-dementia medications, and lateonset GP observations. To understand the extent and impact of over-dispersion in these three Poisson models and to account for potential over-dispersion I ran negative binomial regression models. Negative binomial regression models are used with over-dispersed numeric data to assess associations between explanatory factors and outcome measures (Hilbe, 2007). The coefficient values from Poisson and negative binomial regression models were compared for each of the over-dispersed models. There is broad agreement in coefficient values across Poisson and negative binomial models, which suggests that overdispersion is not a major issue. Consequently, Poisson models were used to assess associations between explanatory factors and the three aforementioned healthcare use outcome variables.

Compared to women as our reference group, men had significantly more GP observations (Early-onset: IRR: 1.077; 1.070-1.084; Late-onset: IRR: 1.136; 1.135-1.138) and nondementia medications (Early-onset: IRR: 1.026; 1.019-1.034; Late-onset: IRR: 1.295; 1.204-1.392). Men with late-onset dementia had 11% higher odds of attending A&E than women (OR: 1.107; 1.073-1.142). Men were also more likely be admitted to hospital than women, whether as an elective (OR: 1.452; 1.418-1.487) or emergency (OR: 1.090; 1.056-1.125).

Age

Increasing age was significantly associated with greater GP observations (Early-onset: IRR: 1.002; 1.001-1.002; Late-onset: IRR: 1.003; 1.003-1.003) and non-dementia medications (Early-onset: IRR: 1.012; 1.011-1.013; Late-onset: IRR: 1.095; 1.089-1.101). The youngest (Early-onset: IRR: 0.967; 0.956-0.978) and oldest (Late-onset: IRR: 1.035; 1.034-1.036) had the most dementia medications. Among those with late-onset, each year increase in age resulted in a 2% greater likelihood of using A&E (OR: 1.020; 1.018-1.022) and emergency hospital admission spells (OR: 1.009; 1.007-1.011), but being less likely to have elective hospital admission spells (OR: 0.947; 0.945-0.949).

Ethnicity

Compared to those of White ethnic background, PLWD from Asian (Early-onset: IRR: 1.790; 1.762-1.817; Late-onset: IRR: 1.377; 1.371-1.383) and Black (Early-onset: IRR: 1.213; 1.191-1.237; Late-onset: IRR: 1.218; 1.213-1.223) ethnic groups had greater GP observations. Those with late-onset from Black ethnic groups also had significantly greater prescriptions for dementia medication (IRR: 1.167; 1.095-1.243) than those from a White ethnic background, but both people from Black (OR: 0.687; 0.611-0.775) and Asian ethnic groups (OR: 0.608; 0.542-0.683), had a significantly lower likelihood of emergency hospital admission spells. In early-onset dementia, compared to those from White ethnic groups, people from Asian (IRR: 1.607; 1.578-1.637) and Black (IRR: 1.117; 1.092-1.142) ethnic

groups had significantly higher rates of non-dementia medications, whereas PLWD from Mixed/Other ethnic groups has significantly fewer (IRR: 0.875; 0.842-0.908).

Deprivation

Compared to PLWD from the least deprived quintile (Quintile 5), those in the most deprived quintile (Quintile 1) had significantly higher rates of GP observations (Early-onset: IRR: 1.208; 1.195-1.221; Late-onset: IRR: 1.059; 1.057-1.061) and, in early-onset, had 65% higher rates of non-dementia medications (IRR: 1.648; 1.626-1.670) and, in late-onset higher rates of dementia medication prescriptions (IRR: 1.217; 1.184-1.251). In late-onset, compared to the least deprived quintile (Quintile 5), those in the most deprived quintile (Quintile 1) were significantly more likely to be admitted to hospital as an emergency (OR: 1.557; 1.474-1.644), but less likely to attend A&E (OR: 0.880; 0.835-0.926) or have elective hospital admissions (OR: 0.890; 0.856-0.926).

Urban-Rural GP Classification

Among those with early-onset dementia, people with rural GP practices had significantly fewer GP observations (IRR: 0.909; 0.900-0.919) than urban. In late-onset dementia, A&E attendances were more likely among PLWD with rural GPs (OR: 1.204; 1.156-1.253), but emergency hospital admission spells were less likely (OR: 0.820; 0.787-0.855).

GP Region

Compared to the North East GP region, PLWD registered with GPs in other regions had significantly fewer GP contacts but more non-dementia medications. In late-onset, all GP regions had significantly greater rates of prescriptions for dementia medications than the North East. Among those with late-onset, PLWD in all GP regions apart from London were more likely to attend A&E, but six of the nine regions were significantly less likely to have emergency hospital admissions than the North East.



Reference groups for each explanatory factor: Sex = Female; Ethnicity = White; IMD 2015 Deprivation Quintile = Quintile 5 (Least Deprived); Urban-Rural GP classification = Urban; GP Region = North East. As a continuous variable there is no reference group for Age At Diagnosis

Figure 4.2: Odds Ratios (OR; for secondary healthcare) or Incidence Rate Ratios (IRR; for primary healthcare) and 95% confidence intervals for healthcare use among late-onset dementia sample population, by demographic and socio-economic factors¹

¹ In late-onset, Poisson regression models were used with the three types of primary healthcare (GP observations and, dementia and non-dementia medications), reporting Incidence Rate Ratios (IRR). Binomial regression models were used with the three types of secondary healthcare (A&E attendances, elective hospital admissions, and emergency hospital admissions), reporting Odds Ratios (OR).



Reference groups for each explanatory factor: Sex = Female; Ethnicity = White; IMD 2015 Deprivation Quintile = Quintile 5 (Least Deprived); Urban-Rural GP classification = Urban; GP Region = North East. As a continuous variable there is no reference group for Age At Diagnosis

Figure 4.3: Odds Ratios (OR; for secondary healthcare) or Incidence Rate Ratios (IRR; for primary healthcare) and 95% confidence intervals for healthcare use among late-onset dementia sample population, by spatial factors

4.4. Discussion

Our study is one of the first to use large-scale EHR to document social and spatial variation in who is accessing and receiving diverse types of healthcare among PLWD. Men and older PLWD were more likely to use primary and emergency secondary healthcare. PLWD from Asian and Black ethnic groups had greater GP contact and in late-onset Dementia were less likely to have emergency hospital admissions. Increasing socioeconomic deprivation is also associated with greater GP contact, emergency hospital admissions and medications. PLWD with rural GPs had less GP contact than individuals in urban areas and though they were more likely to attend A&E, were also less likely to have emergency hospital admissions. The North East region had fewest GP contacts, varied medications and likelihood of emergency healthcare use.

We found men had more GP contact, non-dementia medications and both emergency and elective hospital admissions. Higher rates of non-dementia medications among men is a finding consistent with higher levels of severe comorbidities and severe dementia symptoms among men (Gambassi et al., 1999; Lyketsos et al., 1999; Lovheim et al., 2009; Nelis et al., 2019). Men have greater healthcare needs due to greater ill-health (Bertogg and Strauss, 2018; Sharma et al., 2016). Men with dementia also have shorter (Ono et al., 2010), but more frequent, hospital admissions than women and upon hospital discharge are more likely return to be readmitted to hospital (Bartlett et al., 2016; Watson et al., 2020).

This study reported greater use of primary healthcare, and lower risk of emergency hospital admissions, for people with late-onset dementia from ethnic minority backgrounds. The factors impacting healthcare use among PLWD from ethnic minority backgrounds is nuanced. Increased GP contact among these groups may reflect greater need for treatment due to more chronic health conditions (Price et al., 2013; Quiñones et al., 2019), as well as primary healthcare being more equitable for ethnic minorities than other forms of healthcare (King's Fund, 2021). However, our findings emphasise less need for acute healthcare among PLWD from ethnic minority backgrounds. There is lower mortality risk among PLWD

from ethnic minority backgrounds (Watson et al., 2021), a finding which may be consistent with younger demographics (insufficiently controlled for in our analysis) and reduced severity of dementia (Parveen and Oyebode, 2018). Existing research highlights the barriers in accessing quality healthcare for PLWD from ethnic minority backgrounds (Cooper et al., 2010; Lin et al., 2020; Mukadam et al., 2011; Pham et al., 2018), but with reduced severity, there is also less frequent contact with healthcare services (Duran-Kirac et al., 2022).

We found that people with late-onset dementia from the most deprived areas had higher GP observations, dementia medications and increased likelihood of using emergency healthcare. Although literature tends to show that PLWD from areas of greater deprivation receive fewer medications for dementia (Cooper et al., 2016; Vohra et al., 2021), our findings emphasise the difficulties in access to quality healthcare in more deprived areas. Access to dementia diagnosis and subsequent treatment is more difficult in more deprived areas (Hoang et al., 2021). PLWD from deprived areas are more likely to experience poorer quality primary healthcare (Watson et al., 2020; Wu et al., 2018) and receive a late or unspecified dementia diagnosis which can make effective medicative treatment, where feasible, more difficult (Connolly et al., 2011; Jitlal et al., 2021; Petersen et al., 2021). In this study, although PLWD from the most deprived areas had increased contact with a range of different types of healthcare, this may be indicative of greater and more acute need for treatment of both dementia, and other comorbidities (Browne et al., 2017; Jitlal et al., 2021; Watson et al., 2020).

Additionally, we found significant differences in experiences between urban and rural areas, suggesting the importance of spatial factors in determining healthcare experiences. In early-onset, PLWD registered with rural GPs had less contact with their GP, and those with late-onset had greater likelihood of attending A&E. Health and social care services are sparser in rural areas (Baird and Wright, 2006, Bauer et al., 2019; Giebel, 2020, National Centre for Rural health and Care, 2022) and PLWD from rural areas are more likely to live with relatives than those in urban areas (Rahman et al., 2020). Sparsity of local services may

also mean PLWD registered with rural GPs have a greater reliance on their GP to act as gatekeeper to diagnosis and treatment (Szymczynska et al., 2011). This emphasised reliance on GPs, along with few available services may result in a lack of care management and effective treatment (Bayly et al., 2020; Dal Bello-Haas et al., 2014), which can lead to a greater need for more acute, emergency healthcare, including A&E attendances.

4.4.1. Limitations

We have included over 120 million records of primary and secondary healthcare contacts for 142,302 people diagnosed with dementia in England. We have identified social and spatial differences in the frequency and likelihood of contact with six different types of healthcare, highlighting variations in potentially avoidable service use, and healthcare use more closely associated with negative health outcomes. There are potential issues with bias and representativeness of the population being studied. Given the nature of dementia and process of diagnosis, it is difficult to pinpoint the exact date of diagnosis in health records. While there are methods to test for symptoms of dementia, they are not prevalent in primary healthcare, consistently applied, or always appropriate, and there remains a reliance on clinical judgement during healthcare contacts (Chithiramohan et al., 2019; Creavin et al., 2017; Lin et al., 2015). Lack of GP time, confidence in diagnosing, or lack of knowledge of dementia in primary care may result in issues around the diagnosis (Phillips et al., 2012). This means fewer PLWD will have an official diagnosis, which impacts some socio-economic groups more than others, our findings may not therefore be reflective of the entire population of PLWD. While we have access to socio-economic and demographic variables to allow adjustment for their influences in analyses, some population groups are under-represented through lack of dementia diagnoses, including people from an ethnic minority background and those living in more deprived areas (Connolly et al., 2011; Pham et al., 2018). This may result in selection bias being introduced in our data, including biasing the associations between our exposures and outcomes (Hindorff, Bonham and Ohno-Machado, 2018; Williams and Cooper, 2019). There is a need to improve data collection, with routine data

including more characteristics for PLWD, enabling research to be inclusionary and represent the population being studied. There is also a need to include greater granularity of timevariant data. This is reflected in data related to the healthcare need (i.e. comorbidity and dementia severity) and the geographic variables available. GP region and rural-urban GP classification were dependent variables tested for associations with healthcare use. However, these variables are not only based on GP location, rather than the individual's residence, but they are also a static variable based on the individual's GP at entry to the data. A lack of time-variant geographic and healthcare need variables somewhat limits the findings related to geography and will not encompass the potential nuance which could be highlighted through longitudinal data that demonstrates what changes in residence or GP can have on the healthcare use of PLWD. Future longitudinal research of this nature should aim to include time-variant data for comorbidity, dementia severity and geographic variables.

Finally, our analyses are descriptive (i.e., identifying differences by social and spatial factors) rather than interrogating explanations for why these social and spatial variations exist. This is partly a limitation of our data source since we are constrained in what data is provided on electronic health records (both about treatments/outcomes and individual's contexts). Future research should identify explanatory reasons and pathways for these associations, including the complexity linking our outcomes to measures of inequalities (e.g., provision of informal care, lack of GPs in some areas limiting care received, or disentangling whether medications are given based on need or demand). Where possible, these analyses should be extended longitudinally to explore sequences of healthcare trajectories that can consider how healthcare experiences operate holistically rather than independently (as in our analyses).

4.4.2. Conclusions

Our findings suggest there are wide social and spatial differences in the use of various healthcare services among PLWD. Early identification of dementia, as well as better care management and effective treatment, can help avoid unnecessary healthcare use associated with negative outcomes among PLWD, benefitting not only PLWD, but reducing the costs and pressure on the healthcare system (Banerjee and Wittenberg, 2009; Delgado et al., 2022; Rasmussen and Langerman, 2019). Our findings show the ongoing pressing need for clinical and public health policy aimed at promoting more equitable healthcare experiences among PLWD. This requires implementation of systemic, cultural and social measures to improve the situation for more marginalised groups (Giebel, 2020; Watson et al., 2020). Greater emphasis is required to make quality care easily accessible to people from more remote and deprived areas, and more appropriate to the communities they serve (Duran-Kirac et al., 2021; Giebel, 2020; Nebel et al., 2018). PLWD would benefit from more ubiquitous, effective management and treatment of dementia and comorbidities, in primary and specialist healthcare (Black et al., 2015). Better continuity of primary care, and stronger links between primary and social care, would allow smoother transitions and stability in changing care needs (Delgado et al., 2022).

4.5. Appendices



Reference groups for each explanatory factor: Sex = Female; Ethnicity = White; IMD 2015 Deprivation Quintile = Quintile 5 (Least Deprived); Urban-Rural GP classification = Urban; GP Region = North East. As a continuous variable there is no reference group for Age At Diagnosis

Appendix 4.1: Odds Ratios (OR) or Incidence Rate Ratios (IRR) and 95% confidence intervals for healthcare use in early-onset dementia sample population, by demographic/socio-economic factors²

² In early-onset, Poisson regression models were used with GP observations and non-dementia medications, reporting Incidence Rate Ratios (IRR). Binomial regression models were used with dementia medications, A&E attendances, elective hospital admissions, and emergency hospital admissions, reporting Odds Ratios (OR).



Reference groups for each explanatory factor: Sex = Female; Ethnicity = White; IMD 2015 Deprivation Quintile = Quintile 5 (Least Deprived); Urban-Rural GP classification = Urban; GP Region = North East. As a continuous variable there is no reference group for Age At Diagnosis

Appendix 4.2: Odds Ratios (OR) or Incidence Rate Ratios (IRR) and 95% confidence intervals for healthcare use in early-onset dementia sample population, by spatial factors

		Detient	Healthcare contacts per patient year					
Explanatory Factor	Patients	Voars	GP	Dementia	Non-Dementia	A&E	Hospital	
		rears	Observations	medications	Medications	Attendances	Admission Spells	
Sex								
Female	2763	29670	51.32	3.17	39.15	0.38	0.36	
Male	2447	18238	75.20	4.28	55.68	0.58	0.64	
Age Group								
Under45	104	967	73.16	2.00	49.71	0.61	0.60	
45-54	870	6640	70.46	3.76	50.52	0.63	0.56	
55-64	4236	40301	58.45	3.60	44.51	0.42	0.45	
			Ethr	nicity		1		
Asian	128	978	139.10	4.65	94.03	0.57	0.62	
Black	131	976	86.60	4.16	63.14	0.56	0.96	
Mixed/Other	54	419	62.96	1.56	34.18	0.53	0.48	
White	4517	42824	57.76	3.52	44.90	0.47	0.48	
			IMD 2015 Depi	rivation Quintile				
Quintile 1: Most Deprived	1020	7764	85.54	5.00	73.44	0.67	0.62	
Quintile 2	1003	15363	38.41	2.06	3.067	0.29	0.29	
Quintile 3	1073	8151	69.78	4.04	50.11	0.56	0.63	
Quintile 4	1137	9073	65.80	3.91	46.81	0.48	0.49	
Quintile 5: Least Deprived	957	7398	62.98	4.42	40.00	0.44	0.46	
Urban-Rural GP Classification								
Urban	4528	42674	59.89	3.39	44.98	0.46	0.47	
Rural	682	5234	64.63	5.23	49.25	0.42	0.46	
GP Region								
North East	261	1992	87.23	8.43	90.43	0.68	0.63	
North West	1027	8107	77.88	4.36	55.95	0.59	0.57	
Yorkshire And The Humber	223	1595	65.60	4.64	60.05	0.70	0.73	
East Midlands	139	1091	80.53	4.07	47.95	0.44	0.48	
East of England	264	1887	73.04	3.56	56.85	0.50	0.59	
West Midlands	882	6720	72.38	3.37	53.01	0.55	0.53	
London	622	4877	78.38	4.86	53.20	0.71	0.69	
South Central	714	13608	25.53	1.73	19.23	0.16	0.19	
South East Coast	433	3236	63.02	2.68	41.09	0.51	0.52	
South West	645	4795	70.62	4.76	57.93	0.46	0.54	

Appendix 4.3: Healthcare contact rates per patient year for early-onset dementia sample population, by healthcare type and explanatory factor

Explanatory Factor	Patients	Patient Years	Healthcare contacts per patient year					
			GP	Dementia	Non-Dementia	A&E	Hospital	
			Observations	medications	Medications	Attendances	Admission Spells	
Sex								
Female	91270	737292	51.87	3.22	49.83	0.45	0.43	
Male	45822	392926	53.24	2.92	42.63	0.44	0.51	
Age Group								
65-74	20514	194397	58.03	3.71	46.57	0.40	0.45	
75-84	63225	548480	54.65	3.42	49.10	0.45	0.47	
85-94	49067	365512	46.53	2.48	45.39	0.47	0.45	
95+	4286	21829	41.12	1.08	41.98	0.49	0.43	
	r		Ethni	icity		1		
Asian	1809	9885	121.77	5.56	116.17	0.90	0.89	
Black	2115	12548	102.11	6.47	116.96	0.91	0.98	
Mixed/Other	1026	5651	91.47	6.02	91.72	0.77	0.80	
White	125101	1062758	50.99	3.02	45.98	0.45	0.46	
			IMD 2015 Depri	vation Quintile				
Quintile 1: Most Deprived	21342	202990	49.29	2.79	46.92	0.47	0.46	
Quintile 2	23920	214270	50.34	2.91	46.34	0.45	0.44	
Quintile 3	27528	188153	62.56	3.73	56.68	0.53	0.54	
Quintile 4	31641	224941	58.90	3.50	52.20	0.48	0.50	
Quintile 5: Least Deprived	32405	298422	44.45	2.82	38.72	0.35	0.38	
Urban-Rural GP Classification								
Urban	117058	1025432	49.70	2.90	44.58	0.44	0.44	
Rural	20034	104786	78.23	5.21	74.22	0.56	0.64	
GP Region								
North East	7167	39293	92.58	8.69	104.52	0.89	0.81	
North West	24395	131388	87.13	4.74	69.68	0.76	0.73	
Yorkshire And The Humber	5914	110878	23.83	1.62	22.04	0.21	0.21	
East Midlands	2881	14668	92.31	3.43	64.94	0.68	0.72	
East of England	7997	52389	61.29	3.09	56.91	0.46	0.53	
West Midlands	23887	149052	67.93	3.16	58.03	0.58	0.60	
London	14203	84330	77.59	5.75	80.46	0.87	0.78	
South Central	18865	377910	19.21	1.20	17.04	0.14	0.17	
South East Coast	11619	63856	72.09	3.52	56.66	0.64	0.62	
South West	20164	106454	18.29	5.01	78.51	0.56	0.66	

Appendix 4.4: Healthcare contact rates per patient year for late-onset dementia sample population, by healthcare type and explanatory factor

4.6. Research developments from Chapter 4

The previous two papers (Chapter 3 and 4) have attempted to highlight and address one of the primary gaps in the literature identified through the systematic review. They have examined and presented, the extent to which socio-economic and geographic factors impact inequalities in the risk of mortality and the use of primary and secondary healthcare services among people living with dementia. However, this does not address another gap illustrated by the systematic review – the lack of research looking at healthcare in dementia as a cumulative pathway, rather than a series of one-off, unrelated events. This led to the design of Chapter 5, an investigation of how I can measure multiple healthcare uses together, including how their use changes over time. The following research paper involved the exploration of patterns in primary and secondary healthcare use, who is experiencing which healthcare patterns - or pathways – and differential risk of mortality that exists based on patterns in healthcare use among people living with dementia.
5. Chapter 5: Identifying longitudinal healthcare pathways and subsequent mortality for people living with dementia in England: an observational group-based trajectory analysis

Paper currently under peer review:

Watson J, Green M, Giebel C and Akpan A. Identifying longitudinal healthcare pathways and subsequent mortality for people living with dementia in England: an observational group-based trajectory analysis. Manuscript submitted for publication.

Abstract

Background

The number of people living with dementia (PLWD) continues to increase, particularly those with severe symptomatology. Severe symptoms and greater ill-health result in more acute care need. Early healthcare interventions can prove beneficial. Healthcare use has not been analysed as a holistic set of interlinked events. This study explores different healthcare pathways among PLWD, social or spatial inequalities in healthcare pathways and subsequent mortality risk.

Methods

Group-based trajectory models (GBTM) were applied to electronic healthcare records. We generated clusters of PLWD with similar five-year, post-diagnosis trajectories in rates of primary and secondary healthcare use. Potential social and spatial variations in healthcare

use clusters were examined. Cox Proportional Hazards used to explore variation in subsequent mortality risk between healthcare use clusters.

Results

Four healthcare use clusters were identified in both early- (n = 3732) and late-onset (n = 6224) dementia populations. Healthcare use variations were noted; consistent or diminishing healthcare use was associated with lower subsequent mortality risk. Increasing healthcare use was associated with increased mortality risk. Descriptive analyses indicated social and spatial variation in healthcare use cluster membership.

Conclusion

Healthcare pathways help indicate changing need, with differential healthcare use producing similar health outcomes. Care in dementia needs to be more accessible and appropriate, with care catered to specific and changing needs. Better continuity of care and greater awareness of dementia in primary can enhance prospects for PLWD. Research needs to further illuminate holistic care need for PLWD, including health and social care use, inequalities in care, health and outcomes.

5.1. Introduction

There are rising numbers of people living with dementia (PLWD) in the UK (Wittenberg et al., 2019) with over 1 million projected by 2024. The greater proportional rise is set to be among those with severe dementia and more pressing health and care needs (Bennett et al., 2018). Such trends are placing increasing demands and costs on health and social care services (Wittenberg et al., 2019). The complex nature of care needs for PLWD contributes to the high costs of providing care (Voss et al., 2017; Watson et al., 2022). Understanding the different experiences of healthcare utilisation is therefore imperative if we are to align health systems to the care that PLWD need.

Good quality health and social care can support PWLD to live well and receive care at home longer (Dawson et al., 2015; Robinson et al., 2010). Living at home for longer is associated with improved physical health outcomes. quality of life (Olsen et al., 2016) and lower mortality risk among PLWD (Delgado et al., 2022; Fox et al., 2013; de Vugt et al., 2013). Inadequate, ineffective or a lack of timely treatment can see rapid progression to more severe symptoms, requiring acute care sooner and more often (Bradford et al., 2010; Gungabissoon et al., 2020; Shepherd et al., 2019). PLWD are not only more likely to be admitted to hospital, but once they are, they are likely to stay longer in hospital and to be readmitted (Ma et al., 2019; National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2021). Hospital stays can exacerbate dementia symptoms, impact physical health, and increase the likelihood of increased mortality (Tropea et al., 2017; Yorganci et al., 2022). Issues with funding and service availability persist with many not being able to access timely diagnosis or appropriate treatment or support (Alzheimer's Society, 2021; Alzheimer's Society, 2022).

There are wide social, demographic and geographical inequalities in the frequency and quality of healthcare received, quality of life and wellbeing, likelihood of transitions to care institutions, speed of dementia progression, severity of other chronic health conditions, and risk of mortality among PWLD (Cooper et al., 2017; Watson et al., 2021; Watson et al., 2021 (2); Wu et al., 2018). It is a priority of the UK Government to address and reduce these inequalities

(Department of Health and Social Care, 2016). A lack of central funding in the UK, including a legacy of austerity which saw cuts in funding that was greater in deprived areas, has limited the level and quality of care and treatment available (Nuffield Trust, 2020). These funding issues may disproportionally impact inequalities in access to health, and social, care, widening inequalities and resulting in poorer health and health outcomes for PLWD from disadvantaged backgrounds (Giebel et al., 2021; Watson et al., 2022). This illustrates the need to understand the differential experiences of healthcare utilisation among PLWD from different social and spatial groups. Currently, there is a lack of research exploring social and spatial determinants of healthcare use among PLWD resulting in a paucity of evidence on modifiable barriers to such inequalities.

Healthcare use is often analysed by focusing on one-off healthcare events or individual types of healthcare. However, this ignores the broader context of healthcare pathways (Haenssgen and Ariana, 2017; Tabrizi and Masri, 2021). Healthcare pathways are a longitudinal sequence of linked contacts with healthcare services which can help demonstrate evolving needs and changing impacts on the health and health outcomes of an individual (Schrijvers, van Hoorn and Huiskes, 2012). Health and social care have a cumulative impact on the health, survival, quality of life and health outcomes of PLWD (Daley et al., 2022). Providing effective and good quality health and social care are vital to PLWD and their informal carers (Bökberg, Ahlström and Karlsson, 2017; Brodaty et al., 2009; Hazzan et al., 2022). This is vital as needs for PLWD increase as their condition deteriorates (Alzheimer's Society, 2021). It is beneficial to PLWD and their carers that they receive both pharmacological treatment and the variety of benefits which appropriate social care involvement can provide (Rand et al., 2021; Reilly et al., 2020). Increased social isolation - as highlighted during the COVID-19 pandemic – increases the risk of rapid deterioration in memory and motor functions (Curelaru et al., 2021; Giebel et al., 2021). Dementia can progress rapidly for some PLWD and symptoms of dementia and care need can change quickly and vary greatly over time, depending on dementia subtypes (Alzheimer's Society, 2021; Giebel et al., 2020). Dementia subtypes can impact a person's

cognitive and motor functioning differently, which can in turn has a differential effect on somebody's capability to manage finances (Giebel, Flanagan and Sutcliffe, 2019).

This illustrates how vital the need for early, and correct, diagnosis and selection of appropriate health and social care provision is. It can help maintain independence and cognition for longer, delay more severe symptoms of dementia, manage other chronic conditions and improve survival among PLWD, as well as reducing the overall economic cost to the health and social care system (Barnett et al., 2014; Rasmussen and Langerman, 2019; Robinson, Tang and Taylor, 2015; Travers, Martin-Khan and Lee, 2009; van de Vorst et al., 2016). There is a dearth of research which has investigated sequences of healthcare use for PLWD (Watson et al., 2020). There is also a lack of studies investigating the simultaneous impact of multiple socio-economic, geographic and demographic factors in healthcare pathways and their resultant health outcomes (Watson et al., 2021). Given healthcare use can play a critical role in future needs for care and health outcomes, it is vital to identify the different care pathways experienced by PLWD, and how these pathways can differentially impact health outcomes among PLWD.

Primary healthcare involvement is vital to treating dementia and other chronic conditions in PLWD and effective, consistent, holistic and person-centred primary healthcare can be central to a multifaceted support model which can help improve quality of life, maintain cognition and maintain care at home for longer, which can all enable better longer survival (Kim and Park, 2017). Levels of GP involvement and pharmacological treatment have been employed as outcomes measures in previous research (Watson et al., 2021, Watson et al., 2022), and can indicate appropriateness of ongoing care for PLWD, and the degree to which medications prescribed are appropriate to the need of PLWD (Lane et al., 2021).

Three secondary healthcare use variables have been examined as outcome measures in previous research (Watson et al., 2020): accident and emergency (A&E) attendances, emergency hospital admission spells and elective hospital admission spells. Acute hospital care, including admissions to hospital, is costly in terms of the health of the individual and

financially to the healthcare system. Hospital admissions can often occur after changes in symptomatology and care needs (Knapp et al., 2016), but can often be avoided through appropriate and effective care in the community (Yorganci et al., 2022). PLWD are more likely to spend longer in hospital when admitted (Afonso-Argilés et al., 2020), to be readmitted to hospital (Ma et al., 2019), to move into a care home once discharged from hospital (Kasteridis et al., 2016), and experience poor health outcomes following hospital admission (Tropea et al., 2017; Yorganci et al., 2022).

The aims of this novel data linkage study were to: (i) identify potentially different types of longitudinal trajectories of primary and secondary healthcare use among PWLD; (ii) examine how social and spatial inequalities persist across healthcare trajectory types; and (iii) analyse if different types of trajectories of healthcare are associated with different levels of survival in dementia.

5.2. Methods

5.2.1. Data Access and Ethical Approval

We used pseudonymised routinely collected Electronic Health Records (EHR) from Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD) Aurum (CPRD, 2021). CPRD contains data for 18 million currently active patients registered with UK GPs. CPRD includes patient details and demographics, primary (GP observations and medication prescriptions) and linked secondary healthcare contacts (Accident and Emergency (A&E) attendances and hospital admission spells). Access to data for the purposes of specified research was granted by CPRD and ethical approval for the use of CPRD Aurum was provided by the University of Liverpool Research Ethics Board (Reference: 7922).

5.2.2. Sample population

Our sample population contains people registered with a CPRD-registered General Practice who received a diagnosis of dementia between the years 2002 and 2016. For inclusion in our healthcare use trajectory analyses, we restricted data to individuals with five or more years of post-diagnosis follow-up healthcare use data. The analytical sample size for earlyonset was 3735, and for late-onset dementia was 62 264. We stratified our sample population by dementia-onset, with early-onset (aged <65 years) and late-onset dementia (aged 65+) split into concurrent analyses.

Date of dementia diagnosis was not available from CPRD data. Date of dementia diagnosis has been defined as the first GP observation record for each person, in which one of the following terms were stated as the reason the patient presented to their GP: "dementia", "Alzheimer", "cogniti", or "memory". Healthcare contacts are only included for the years after the person's year of diagnosis.

5.2.3. Outcome Variable

Mortality was our outcome measure, and mortality for members of the sample population was based on the presence of a date of death in CPRD. If there was no date of death stated, they were given as not having died during the study period. There was a maximum of 19 years of data available for members of the sample population. However, with five years of post-diagnosis healthcare use data used in healthcare trajectory clustering, subsequent mortality for members of the sample population could occur between the 1st and 14th year after the healthcare trajectory period (years 6-19 of the total study period).

In survival and mortality analysis, it is possible for data to be right-censored. That is, they leave the study before they may encounter the event of interest (mortality). In this study, it is possible that, given the long follow-up period of 14 years beyond the initial five-year healthcare trajectory period, that members of the sample population did not die, but they were lost to follow-up. This can be because they withdrew their consent for their GP to send their data to CPRD, or that they changed GP, from one which was initially registered with CPRD, to one which was not, and as such their data was no longer sent to CPRD. Right censoring can present an issue that needs to be acknowledged.

The potential issue of right censoring was addressed through analyses. Mortality risk was analysed using Cox Proportional Hazards regression, which only include the sample population as 'at-risk' of the outcome if they remain in the data. They are removed from the analyses at the point at which their data ends. They are included as having had the event in our study if they died, they are also removed from the 'at-risk' population if they did not have the event of interest, but also did not have any subsequent data. Similar can be said of Kaplan-Meier survival curves used to visually demonstrate the follow-up period, the number of people at-risk of mortality, and the population size remaining at-risk of mortality in each year of the follow-up period.

5.2.4. Healthcare Use Trajectories

Healthcare pathways are made up of multiple strands of unique healthcare service types. Here we have included four types of healthcare as trajectories for each member of the sample population:

- GP observations are single records of each observation at a GP visit. Multiple
 observations can occur at a patient-GP consultation, with each observation related to a
 different matter discussed.
- 2. *Dementia medication prescriptions* relate to four NHS-advised drugs for treatment of dementia: Donepezil, Galantamine, Rivastigmine and Memantine.
- Non-dementia medications prescriptions: refer to all other medications than the four NHS-advised medications for the treatment of dementia.
- 4. Acute secondary healthcare includes combined records for:
- 4.1. Accident & Emergency attendances: unplanned presentations at A&E or urgent care.
- 4.2. Hospital admission spells: patient requires further treatment or observation.

5.2.5. Temporal Healthcare Use

Year of diagnosis was used as year 0 and only healthcare contacts occurring in the same calendar year are included in year 0. As such, if somebody was diagnosed later in the year, the potential for healthcare contacts was reduced compared to people diagnosed earlier in

the year. Due to this potential issue, we have therefore removed year 0 healthcare contacts from any analyses, and instead healthcare contact data begins at year 1 – the first full, potential year of data for each member of the sample population.

Attrition and years of survival beyond dementia diagnosis meant it was necessary to define a time period from which the analysis would be based. To maintain integrity in the study and validity of findings we restricted healthcare records to those which occurred between the first and fifth years of post-diagnosis healthcare records. This falls in-line with dementia survival estimates. It was also pragmatic to negate the potential impact of attrition and to attain a substantial temporal trajectory of healthcare use among a representative population subsample. At the five-year point loss to follow-up was ~79% in early-onset and ~58% for late-onset sample populations.

5.2.6. Explanatory Factors

This study looks to describe each of the aforementioned clusters derived from GBTM, based on their composition. Identification of the socio-economic, demographic and geographic make-up of each of the clusters derived for both early- and late-onset dementia.

Previous research has identified multiple potential explanatory factors of variation in healthcare use and health outcomes for PLWD. Studies have explored a range of potential explanatory factors for differential healthcare use and mortality risk inequalities. CPRD data and data linkage provides patients': age at diagnosis, sex, ethnicity, 2015 Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) quintile and GP urban/rural classification and GP region. Research has shown how variations in healthcare utilisation and health outcomes for PLWD vary across these key factors (Rahman et al., 2020; Watson et al., 2021, Watson et al., 2021 (2); Wu et al., 2020).

5.2.7. Loss-to follow-up and missing data

Loss to follow-up can occur through an individual dying or having changed to a GP who was not registered with CPRD. If a member of the sample population was lost to follow-up during a specific year after diagnosis, we gave the number of healthcare contacts (of all four types) in the years following loss to follow-up as "NA", as they were no longer present in the data.

Some people will have been present during a specific year after diagnosis, or throughout the time period, but did not have recorded contact(s) with one or more of the healthcare service types. In this case, they were given a value of 0 contacts for that healthcare service type(s). In this study, loss to follow-up increased beyond the populations' 5th year post-diagnosis. As such, only people remaining in the study five years after diagnosis (5 years of complete data post-diagnosis) data were included in statistical analysis, including GBTM and subsequent cluster-survival analysis.

The original sample population for those living with early- and late-onset dementia were 5,210 and 137077 respectively. Some of the sample population had fewer than five years of post-diagnosis healthcare contact data and were therefore defined as lost to follow-up (**Appendix 5.1**). From those original sample populations, almost three quarters of those with early-onset (3,735; 71.7%) and less than half of those with late-onset (62,264; 45.5%) dementia were included in GBTM.

5.2.8. Statistical Analysis

Longitudinal datasets were created for the use of the four healthcare types, by both earlyand late-onset sample populations. These datasets contained five years of full healthcare use data for each of the four healthcare types. These datasets were used to generate distinct patterns in healthcare use over the five years noted, with sample population members grouped into healthcare use clusters based on similarities in their longitudinal pattern of healthcare use.

Healthcare use clusters were generated using Group-Based Trajectory Modelling (GBTM). Clusters from GBTM receive a probability value for each member of the cluster having been correctly assigned. Each sample population member receives a value indicating the likelihood of belonging to each of the clusters generated, having been assigned to the cluster they're deemed most likely to belong (Nagin, 2014).

GBTM as a statistical method allows for a sample population to be grouped based on similarities in temporal changes across multiple measures (Nagin et al., 2018). In this case we have employed GBTM to generate groups of PLWD based on similar patterns in their use of GP observations, dementia medications, non-dementia medication and acute secondary healthcare. GBTM is a data driven approach where the number of groups needs to be specified *a priori*.

To identify the best fitting number of groups, we ran the model for between one and ten cluster groups. We select up to 10 groups since we want to a parsimonious model that maximises variability across groups, but also minimises the complexity that each additional group brings. Model fit was then compared using Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) and Log-likelihood (logLik) (**Appendix 5.2**), with visual trajectory plots for healthcare use trajectories for each number of cluster (k) used to aid in the number of final clusters used for mortality risk analyses. The restrictive level of computing power needed to run the models on such a large number of data points across a large population meant it was not practical to do so. To make the analyses possible, a smaller 10% random sample of the overall late-onset population was extracted to conduct GBTM, with a second 10% random sample population also taken to validate and ratify the original GBTM and subsequent outputs.

Cluster membership was then used to explore if there was any association between healthcare use patterns and subsequent mortality beyond the initial five-year period postdiagnosis. Descriptive statistics of the social and spatial composition, and subsequent mortality for each cluster were calculated. Demographic, spatial and socio-economic differences in cluster membership was analysed using multinomial logistic regression. Analysis of mortality risk across early-onset and late-onset healthcare trajectory clusters was performed using Cox Proportional Hazards regression, with presence of subsequent mortality post-five-year healthcare trajectory period (as defined in Section 5.2.3). Survival was analysed for up to 14 years after the healthcare trajectory (years 6-19 of the study period), adjusting for age, sex, ethnicity, IMD 2015 quintile, urban-rural GP classification and GP region as confounders.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. Sample population characteristics

Within our early-onset sample population there were 3,732 people. The majority were female (2,027; 54.3%), aged 55-64 (3,061; 82.0%) and registered with urban GP (3,234; 86.7%). The majority were from White ethnicity groups (3,267; 87.5%), with Asian (95; 2.5%), Black (88; 2.4%) and Mixed/Other (40; 1.1%) ethnicity groups making up much smaller proportions of the early-onset population. There were more people registered with GPs in certain regions of the country, including the North West (763; 20.4%), South Central (516; 13.8%) and West Midlands (617; 16.5%). The population was relatively evenly spread across areas of deprivation, with 724 (19.4%) in the most deprived quintile and 683 (18.3%) in the least deprived quintile.

There were 6,224 people in the late-onset GBTM population. The majority were female (68.9%), aged 75.84 (53.1%), registered with urban GPs (85.8%). It should be noted that in the late-onset population there was more missing data for ethnicity, however the late-onset population less ethnically diverse than the early-onset, with 1.3%, 1.9% and 0.9% from Asian, Black and Mixed/Other ethnicity groups respectively. More of the late-onset population lived in areas of less deprivation, with the least and second least deprived quintiles making up a combined 47.0%. As with early-onset, some GP regions made up a much greater proportion of the population; the North West (1,178; 18.9%), South Central (843; 13.5%), South West (883; 14.2%) and West Midlands (1,040; 16.7%).

5.3.2. Attrition from sample population

There was loss to follow-up from our sample population. From the original sample of 5,210 and 137,092 people with early- and late-onset dementia respectively 3,732 (71.6%) and

62,244 (45.4%) remained once we filtered for only those with at least five years of postdiagnosis healthcare records within our dataset. With a long observation period for the event of interest (mortality) there was further attrition from the data. A 10% sample of our overall 62,244 late-onset population were included in GBTM models. From the 3,732 early- and 6,224 late-onset populations included in GBTM models, 1,126 (30.2%) and 2,548 (40.9%) had a date of death stated. Of the remaining 2,606 early-onset and 3,676 late-onset who did not die during the study period, nearly all did not have healthcare records for the entire study period; 2,595 (99.6%) early-onset and 3674 (~100%) late-onset. Data for these individuals was censored at the year of their final healthcare record(s).

We also found evidence of inequalities in attrition, which may impact how generalisable our sample population is (**Appendix 5.3**). In early-onset dementia loss to follow-up among men and those aged 45-54 were greater than their counterparts. In late-onset men, older people (aged 85-94 and 95+ years) and those from White ethnicity groups also had greater attrition than their counterparts.

5.3.3. Selection of healthcare use trajectory clusters

The selection of number of groups was data driven. Our goal was to maximise information captured by having additional groups, while minimising the complexity of more groups. For both early and late-onset populations, four-group solutions were selected as the parsimonious solution (**Appendix 5.2**). Four groups were selected through observations of a.) values of model fit, b.) a visual representation of model fit values, c.) visual representations of healthcare trajectories for each model encompassing between one and ten groups, and d.) a need for a parsimonious solution which would maximise the variability across clusters, whilst minimising the complexity brought by each additional cluster. Four groups were selected as model fit comparison (using both Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) and loglikelihood values) showed additional groups - beyond the four-cluster model selected - only produced incremental model fit improvements. A four-group model was at the

representation of healthcare trajectories for models consisting of five or more clusters, generating no significant, additional healthcare use experience in early- or late-onset dementia sample populations (**Figures 5.1 & 5.2**).

5.3.4. Defining healthcare use trajectory clusters:

i. Early-onset

With wide confidence intervals for the majority of observations, few statistically significant findings were noted in healthcare use patterns by different clusters of people with early-onset dementia. However, those statistically significant observations have been noted and the following five-year post-diagnosis healthcare trajectory groups for people living with early-onset dementia (**Figure 5.1**):

Group 1: 'Drop-off in other chronic condition treatment' was comprised of 54.0% of those with early-onset. With the lowest rates of GP observations and medications at the end of the trajectory period, this group is characterised by slight reductions in GP contact and medications over the five years (trends are flat up to year 3 prior to declining).

Group 2: 'Inefficient treatment of other chronic conditions' contained 37.6% of those with early-onset dementia. Group 1 was characterised by larger year-on-year increases in prescriptions for non-dementia health conditions, as well as smaller annual increases in GP observations and dementia medications.

Group 3: 'Initial absence and delayed response' contains 5.1% of people with early-onset dementia. For the first three years, the group has below average values for all measures, followed by GP contact and non-dementia medications increases (and to a lesser extent dementia medications). This group had marginal increases in secondary healthcare use. This cluster had significantly greater use of all healthcare types by year five.

Group 4: 'Ongoing review of needs' contained 3.3% of those with early-onset dementia. With the highest rate of all primary healthcare contacts at the start of the period, this group is characterised by falling rates to year three they level off and then increase in year five.





Mean (z-score) trajectory for healthcare use among those in GBTM cluster 3

Mean (z-score) trajectory for healthcare use among those in GBTM cluster 4



Figure 5.1: Early-onset sample population: Trajectories for mean use of each healthcare types in each group-based trajectory model (GBTM) derived cluster

ii. Late-onset

Wide confidence intervals mean very few statistically significant findings were noted in the use of different healthcare types by different clusters. However, the significant observations have been noted, and the following five-year post-diagnosis healthcare trajectory groups for people living with late-onset dementia were found (**Figure 5.2**):

Group 1: 'Getting to grips with treatment' contained 44.2% of the late-onset sample population. Group 3 was characterised by small and consistent increases in each healthcare measure up to year 3 where the trend starts to level off.

Group 2: 'Diminishing contact and medications' contained 38.9% of those living with lateonset dementia. This group was typified by reductions in primary healthcare and both types of medications over the five-year period.

Group 3: 'Enduring issues in primary care' contained 10.5% of those living with lateonset. This group was characterised by exponential increases in GP involvement and medications. By year five, the group has the highest values across all four measures of any cluster. This cluster also had significantly lower use of all primary healthcare types in year one, but the change in use resulted in significantly high rates in year 5.

Group 4: 'Appropriate early response to ill-health' contained 6.4% of the population living with late-onset dementia. This group was defined by initial high values across measures in year 1, followed by declining values over time that see it with the lowest values by year 3. In years 4 and 5, trends reverse and measures begin to increase.





Figure 5.2: Late-onset sample population: Trajectories for mean use of each healthcare type in each group-based trajectory model (GBTM) derived cluster

5.3.5. Social and spatial variations in cluster membership

Descriptive and regression analysis highlighted differences in the demographic, geographic and socio-economic makeup of early- and late-onset clusters derived from GBTM (**Table 5.1**). Multinomial logistic regression also highlighted these variations in cluster membership (**Appendix 5.4**).

iii. Characteristics of early-onset healthcare trajectory clusters

Compared to the overall breakdown of the early-onset population (female = 54.3%, male = 45.7%), there was a greater proportion of women in the Ongoing review of needs cluster (58.4%) and men in the Initial absence and delayed response cluster (50.8%). Compared to the make-up of the overall population by age, a greater proportion of those aged under 45 in the Ongoing review of needs cluster (4.8%). The least deprived and second least deprived IMD quintiles were more greatly represented in the Initial absence and delayed response (21.3%) and Ongoing review of needs (25.6%) cluster respectively and those registered with rural GPs made up a higher proportion of those in the Ongoing review of needs cluster (16.8%). Differences in the make-up of clusters were also seen by GP region: the London and South-East Coast regions were overrepresented in the Ongoing review of needs cluster, the North-West in the Initial absence and delayed response cluster and the South-Central region in both Initial absence and delayed response and Ongoing review of needs clusters. Multinomial logistic regression was conducted to highlight significant differences in the social and spatial breakdown of healthcare use cluster populations, with Drop-off in other chronic condition treatment as our reference cluster. Though descriptive statistics indicate numerous variations in the breakdown of different clusters, few significant differences were found and only in the Ongoing review of needs cluster (Appendix 5.4): aged under 45 (RR: 1.05; CI: 0.14-1.95), from deprivation Quintiles 1 (RR: 0.83; CI: 0.11-1.55) and 2 (RR: 0.72; CI: 0.03-1.41), and in London (RR: 1.76; CI: 0.27-3.26), South Central (RR: 1.77; CI: 0.26-327) and South East Coast (RR: 1.65; CI: 0.12-3.18) GP regions.

iv. Characteristics of late-onset healthcare trajectory clusters

A greater proportion of the late-onset population were women (68.9%) compared to 31.1% men. Women were even more greatly represented in the Appropriate early response to ill*health* cluster (73.1%). Differences in representation were also evident based on age group: those aged 65-74 were overrepresented in the Getting to grips with treatment cluster (23.8%), those aged 75-84-year olds in the Enduring issues in primary care cluster (56.4%) and those aged 85-94-year olds in the Appropriate early response to ill-health (35.0%) and Diminishing contact and medications (27.9%) clusters. The least deprived IMD guintile was overrepresented in the Appropriate early response to ill-health cluster (26.3%) and the most deprived in the Enduring issues in primary care' (19.5%), and those with urban GPs more greatly represented in the Enduring issues in primary care' (88.0%). The South-East Coast GP region was overrepresented in the Appropriate early response to ill-health cluster (10.5%). Multinomial logistic regression found few significant differences in the social and spatial breakdown of late-onset dementia healthcare use clusters (Appendix 5.4). Compared to Getting to grips with treatment, all clusters had more people aged 75-84 and 85-94 and some variation by GP region. The Enduring issues in primary care cluster also had significantly more from deprivation Quintile 1 (RR: 0.49; CI: 0.19-0.78) and fewer from Black ethnicity groups (RR: (-)0.86; CI: (-)1.62-(-)0.10).

Table 5.1: % representation of early- and late-onset sample populations in each cluster, by demographic, geographic and socio-economic variables

Social/Spatial Factor	Cluster % representation: early-onset Il Factor population					al EoD	Cluster % representation: late-onset population				Total LoD	
-	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Cluster 3	Cluster 4	n	%	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Cluster 3	Cluster 4	n	%
Age Group	n = 189	n = 125	n = 2016	n = 1402	_		n = 651	n = 2422	n = 401	n = 2750		
Under45	1.6%	4.8%	1.9%	2.1%	77	2.1%			Not Applicabl	le		
45-54	15.3%	12.8%	16.5%	15.4%	594	15.9%			Not Applicabl	le		
55-64	83.1%	82.4%	81.5%	82.5%	3061	82.0%			Not Applicabl	le		
65-74			Not Applica	able			21.7%	19.2%	15.2%	23.6%	1316	21.1%
75-84			Not Applica	able			56.2%	52.3%	49.1%	53.7%	3306	53.1%
85-94			Not Applica	able			21.8%	27.6%	34.7%	22.0%	1554	25.0%
95+			Not Applica	able			0.3%	0.9%	1.0%	0.7%	48	0.8%
Sex												
Female	49.2%	58.4%	56.6%	55.4%	2027	54.3%	69.6%	68.5%	73.1%	68.5%	4289	68.9%
Male	50.8%	41.6%	43.4%	44.6%	1705	45.7%	30.4%	31.5%	26.9%	31.5%	1935	31.1%
Ethnicity												
Asian	1.1%	0.0%	2.8%	3.0%	95	2.7%	0.7%	1.6%	0.8%	1.4%	80	1.3%
Black	2.2%	3.5%	2.7%	2.2%	88	2.5%	1.3%	1.8%	1.0%	2.4%	117	2.0%
Mixed/Other	2.2%	1.7%	1.3%	0.7%	40	1.1%	0.5%	1.3%	0.8%	0.7%	54	0.9%
White	94.4%	94.8%	93.1%	94.1%	3267	93.6%	97.6%	95.3%	97.4%	95.5%	5676	95.8%
IMD 2015 Deprivation Quintil	e											
5 Least Deprived	21.3%	12.8%	18.4%	18.4%	683	18.4%	20.9%	24.0%	26.3%	24.5%	1493	24.0%
4	23.4%	25.6%	21.9%	22.9%	837	22.5%	23.2%	24.0%	22.8%	22.2%	1432	23.1%
3	19.1%	22.4%	20.7%	20.8%	771	20.7%	16.9%	18.3%	18.5%	20.9%	1200	19.3%
2	18.1%	20.0%	18.9%	18.9%	703	18.9%	19.4%	18.8%	17.5%	17.4%	1129	18.2%
1 Most Deprived	18.1%	19.2%	20.0%	18.9%	724	19.5%	19.5%	14.9%	15.0%	14.9%	958	15.4%
Urban-Rural GP Classificatio	n						-					
Rural	14.8%	16.8%	12.2%	14.5%	498	13.3%	12.0%	14.7%	14.7%	14.1%	882	14.2%
Urban	85.2%	83.2%	87.8%	85.5%	3234	86.7%	88.0%	85.3%	85.3%	85.9%	5342	85.8%
GP Region												
East Midlands	2.6%	2.4%	2.7%	3.4%	110	2.9%	1.4%	2.6%	2.5%	2.1%	141	2.3%
East of England	3.2%	4.8%	5.4%	4.9%	189	5.1%	5.1%	5.2%	4.5%	5.7%	335	5.4%
London	10.1%	18.4%	13.1%	10.4%	453	12.1%	10.9%	10.7%	12.7%	10.5%	668	10.7%
North East	3.7%	2.4%	4.9%	5.7%	189	5.1%	6.5%	5.3%	2.5%	6.2%	351	5.6%
North West	24.3%	16.8%	20.5%	20.1%	763	20.4%	18.4%	19.4%	20.2%	18.4%	1178	18.9%
South Central	16.4%	18.4%	12.3%	15.3%	516	13.8%	15.1%	12.8%	14.5%	13.7%	843	13.5%
South East Coast	7.9%	12.8%	8.2%	6.9%	294	7.9%	8.6%	8.5%	10.5%	7.9%	520	8.4%
South West	11.6%	10.4%	11.9%	12.3%	447	12.0%	16.1%	13.0%	12.0%	15.1%	883	14.2%
West Midlands	15.3%	10.4%	16.7%	17.0%	617	16.5%	14.4%	18.2%	16.5%	16.0%	1040	16.7%
Yorkshire & The Humber	4.8%	3.2%	4.3%	3.9%	154	4.1%	3.5%	4.3%	4.2%	4.4%	265	4.3%

5.3.6. Healthcare use cluster survival

i. Early-onset

Our final analyses used cox regression models to examine if there were statistically significant differences in survival between the four clusters. In the early-onset sample population, compared to our reference cluster (*Drop-off in other chronic condition treatment*), the cluster *Ongoing review of needs* had a significantly lower risk of mortality (HR: 0.47; CI: 0.28-0.77), whereas both *Inefficient treatment of other chronic conditions'* (Hazard Ratio (HR): 1.37; Confidence Intervals (CI): 1.21-1.56) and *Initial absence and delayed response* (HR: 2.21; CI: 1.78-2.75) had significantly greater risk of subsequent mortality beyond the five-year healthcare trajectory period (**Appendix 5.5**). Kaplan-Meier survival curves (**Figure 5.3**) also graphically demonstrate the poorer survival among those in the *Inefficient treatment of other chronic conditions'* (22.9%) and *Initial absence and delayed response* (32.8%) had died within three years of the end of our trajectories, compared to lower rates of mortality in clusters *Ongoing review of needs* (5.6%) and *Drop-off in other chronic condition treatment* (13.6%).

The clusters with the greatest mortality risk - *Inefficient treatment of other chronic conditions'* and *Initial absence and delayed response* - both had healthcare trajectories defined by initial lower than average rate of GP observations and prescriptions for both dementia and nondementia medications, followed by increases in values over time that saw them have the highest values and use of healthcare. The magnitude of the differences in the effect sizes modelled may also reflect the differences in the trajectory, with *Initial absence and delayed response* having a steeper and larger rise in healthcare utilisation and also a larger hazards ratio. *Ongoing review of needs*, which had a significantly lower risk of mortality than our reference cluster (*Drop-off in other chronic condition treatment*), had more settled rates of GP contacts and medications.

ii. Late-onset

We repeated our cox regression analyses for people living with late-onset dementia (**Appendix 5.5**). With the cluster *Getting to grips with treatment* as the reference group and accounting for all socio-economic, demographic and geographic factors as confounders, we found that mortality risk was significantly lower in cluster *Appropriate early response to ill-health* (HR: 0.35; CI: 0.25-0.40) and *Diminishing contact and medications* (HR: 0.72; CIs: 0.66-0.80). This is further illustrated by Kaplan-Meier survival curves demonstrating increased survival in these clusters (**Figure 5.4**). Both the *Appropriate early response to ill-health* and *Diminishing contact and medications* – those with significantly lower mortality risk than our reference cluster – had declining trends in healthcare utilisation over time. No statistically significant difference was found for *Enduring issues in primary care* compared to *the Getting to grips with treatment cluster*.

Early-onset





Figure 5.3: Kaplan-Meier survival curve for sample population with early-onset dementia included in GBTM, by healthcare trajectory cluster

Late-onset



Kaplan-Meier survival curve for late-onset dementia sample population included in GBTM, by healthcare use cluster

Figure 5.4: Kaplan-Meier survival curve for late-onset GBTM population, by healthcare trajectory cluster

5.4. Discussion

This study is one of the first to employ large-scale electronic health records to identify clusters of PLWD in their use of primary and secondary healthcare use to demonstrate the different pathways PLWD encounter in the years beyond their diagnosis. We also demonstrate how these different healthcare trajectories vary across social and spatial inequalities, as well as how these patterns translate to mortality risk. In people living with late-onset dementia, we found four groups including 'appropriate early response to ill-health' and 'Diminishing contact and medications'. The former saw changes over the five-years in primary healthcare use. High initial rates were followed by a reduction and subsequent late rise in primary healthcare use. The latter witnessed consistent reductions in primary healthcare use and medications. Both clusters had significantly lower mortality risk than our reference cluster 'getting to grips with treatment (a cluster defined by lower uptake of healthcare). Among people with early-onset dementia, we also found four groups. The 'Inefficient treatment of other chronic conditions" cluster had increases over the period in all three primary healthcare variables, 'initial absence and delayed response' showed low healthcare use initially, followed by late, exponential increases in healthcare use and, 'ongoing review of needs' at the end of the five years, had the lowest rates of GP contact and medications. Differential mortality risk was noted between these clusters which did not seem to be specific to one particular type of healthcare use trajectory. Compared to our reference cluster ('Drop-off in other chronic condition treatment') higher mortality risk was observed in both 'Inefficient treatment of other chronic conditions" and 'initial absence and delayed response' and lower mortality risk was observed in 'ongoing review of needs'.

We demonstrate that in the years following a dementia diagnosis, PLWD experience different pathways through healthcare. PLWD have greater, and more severe, other chronic conditions than the general population (Chen et al., 2021; Poblador-Plou et al., 2014). Additional chronic health conditions and the complexity of treating dementia can result in increased need for a greater range of healthcare among PLWD (Alzheimer's Society, 2021 (2)). However, care

need can be complex and unique for PLWD (Shuman et al., 2017) and as dementia progresses it can quickly alter what a PLWD requires (Brown, Tolson and Ritchie, 2020). Our findings show that this complexity in need produces different types of healthcare experiences that do not necessarily correspond to increasing need over time. Increased contact between a PLWD and their GP may be beneficial (Delgado et al., 2022). However, increased GP contact and medications may be a result of polypharmacy resulting from a lack of appropriate medication reviews or care management (Pfister, Jonsson and Gustafsson, 2017). Therefore, clinicians need to discuss with PLWD and carers the intended purpose and potential impacts of medications to make informed decisions on their use (Lim and Sharmeen, 2018). While no two PWLD are the same and their experiences will depend on their specific needs (Samsi and Manthorpe, 2014), there are collective similarities in experiences of healthcare (Black et al., 2013; Minyo et al., 2022).

Our study also demonstrates that for both early- and late-onset dementia, different trajectories of healthcare use were associated with differential subsequent mortality risks. In both earlyand late-onset dementia exponential increases over the trajectory were associated with higher mortality risk. This study also highlights that consistent, or slowly diminishing rates of primary healthcare contact were associated with lower mortality risk. This would seem to indicate that PLWD who are receive appropriate treatment and care management from diagnosis experience longer-term health benefits (Delgado et al., 2020; Lindeza et al., 2020). Those who may not receive effective treatment early-on may endure poorer quality care as time goes on – in the form of increased inappropriate medications, which can result in poorer health outcomes (Delgado et al., 2020). These trajectories reveal the importance of acting early and appropriately in providing healthcare (Liu et al., 2022; Robinson, Tang and Taylor, 2015). Good primary healthcare in dementia does not necessarily mean increased service involvement, but rather that services need to be aware of changing needs for PLWD and be on-hand to provide timely and effective care (Brown, Tolson and Ritchie, 2020). Meeting specific and changing needs of PLWD is essential to providing the quality and consistency of care required to allow better quality of life and reduce mortality risk (Delgado et al., 2022; Dyer et al., 2022). The different clusters identified indicate the potential benefits of tailored care, identifying need and future risks as a better means of managing care. Understanding patient pathways through the health system, including matching people to their most appropriate pathway, may help to improve health outcomes among PLWD. This is because PLWD are also more likely to experience ineffective or inappropriate healthcare use, including inappropriate medications (Delgado, Bowman and Clare, 2020), unnecessary transitions into nursing care (Hirschman et al., 2018) and avoidable emergency healthcare use (Phelan et al., 2012). Ineffective healthcare use is associated with increased negative health outcomes (Yoon et al., 2022) and greater financial cost to health and social care services (Chao et al., 2022; Shepherd et al., 2019).

In addition to our findings related to healthcare use pathways and subsequent morality risk, our study highlights some social and spatial groups of PLWD are more likely to experience certain healthcare pathways, and encountering different healthcare pathways is associated with differential health outcomes including mortality risk. Our healthcare trajectories highlight how PWLD from deprived or urban areas were more likely to belong to clusters associated with inadequate need or delayed care access. Receiving inappropriate treatment, encountering issues with service equity and accessibility and, poor care quality is more likely among PLWD from ethnic minority backgrounds (Dodd et al., 2022; Tsamakis et al., 2021; Watson et al., 2021;), more deprived (Cooper et al., 2017; Nuffield Trust, 2020; Watson et al., 2021) and rural areas. As these groups are more greatly impacted by unmet care needs (Black et al., 2013; Hu et al., 2022), they are at greater risk of negative care and the associated poor health outcomes, including lower quality of life, and increased falls risk, emergency healthcare use (Ma et al., 2019) and mortality risk (Black et al., 2013; Curnow et al., 2019; Gaugler, Kane and Newcomer, 2005). The causes of healthcare trajectory variations by different social and spatial groups of PLWD are nuanced. Differences in geographic provision and local service finances (Fortinsky et al., 2010; Pierse et al., 2020), variation in accessibility and

appropriateness for different population groups, and disparity in the quality of care and support (Watson et al., 2021) meaning PLWD encounter contrasting care pathways which impact the likelihood of poor health outcomes. However, the complex inequalities in healthcare trajectories we note, combined with associated differential mortality risk, may contribute to explaining social and spatial inequalities in dementia outcomes.

5.4.1. Limitations

Initially, it should be noted that no date of dementia diagnosis was available within CPRD data. Date of dementia diagnosis is difficult to define, given the nature of the condition, variation in presentation of dementia and, the potential for clinical testing of dementia to be applied inconsistently (Lin et al., 2015). This can present an issue of both selection bias and representation within data and findings. This is especially given PLWD from ethnic minority backgrounds and more deprived areas, are more likely to have the condition, but less likely to receive a diagnosis (Connolly et al., 2011; Pham et al., 2018). Although there is no clear way to rectify this, we have standardised the date of diagnosis to add precision to the sample population in this study.

Loss to follow-up and attrition have been discussed previously, and we highlight again that a substantial proportion of our original early- and late-onset sample populations were not included in our analyses. Research suggests that loss to follow-up of less than 5% of the sample population is unlikely to lead to any bias, but greater attrition will begin to impact validity of findings at 20% (Catalogue of Bias Collaboration, 2017; Luckman, 2000). There is the potential for attrition bias in such research, with members of some demographic groups being lost to follow-up earlier than others. The overall loss to follow-up rate by year five of the healthcare trajectory was greater than the level at which bias can be introduced (20%), for both early- and late-onset sub-sample populations. Although the CPRD sample is approximately 25% of the UK's GP patient population, and is representative of the overall UK population, if a GP opts out of CPRD or a patient leaves a CPRD practice for a non-CPRD GP, their data will end at this point. The loss to follow-up experienced in this study may have

introduced selection bias in our sample population. We tried to minimise these issues but were limited in our approach. Future research should look to take our approaches and apply it to more complete/generalisable datasets.

In conjunction with loss to follow-up during the five-year healthcare use period, there was a long follow-up period used to test for associations between healthcare use cluster membership and subsequent mortality risk (up to 19 years after dementia diagnosis). With such a long period, this could mean people were lost from the data for reasons other than mortality – such as leaving a CPRD-registered GP, or withdrawing their consent for their data to be sent from their GP to CPRD. This could impact both the reliability of the estimates for mortality risk, and the validity of these findings. As with the discussion of loss to follow-up during the healthcare use trajectory period, such findings need to be treated with some degree of caution and would need further investigation. Also, regression analyses test for associations between a set of variables and any differences in an outcome measure. In this study, associations between membership of healthcare use clusters and risk of mortality were tested. However, as with previous research, regression analyses alone cannot clarify the direction of causality in these associations-based analyses (Pornprasertmanit and Little, 2012). With the association between differential healthcare use and mortality, it is important to note the potential importance of dementia severity (Gungabissoon et al., 2020), and healthcare need (Browne et al., 2017) in healthcare use and health outcomes among PLWD. No data for dementia severity was available in this study, nor was a measure of comorbidity as a proxy for healthcare need. Though the importance of healthcare need and comorbidity as a factor in health outcomes have been discussed, it should be addressed in future research and identified as a variable that could improve the efficiency and strength of future association-based findings between healthcare use and health outcomes measure among PLWD.

Formal healthcare is only part of the care picture for PLWD, with so many people playing a vital role at different times throughout a person's experience of Dementia. The majority of people receiving home-care services, and living in care homes have dementia are PLWD

(Alzheimer's Society, 2022), emphasising the critical role social care services play in the care of PLWD, both in the community and institutional. No social care use data was available for this study, but future research should endeavour to explore temporal patterns in social care contact and transitions in care, alongside healthcare use, and the individual and collective impact they have on health outcomes in dementia. A further limitation of this study is the smaller membership of some healthcare use trajectory clusters. Of the eight clusters across both early- and late-onset populations, three clusters represented less than 10% of their respective overall population. This may limit the representativeness of these clusters of the general healthcare pathways of PLWD. Although this may be an issue with the robustness and generalisability of the findings related to these specific clusters, there will be some PLWD who are more in the minority in their temporal use of healthcare use clusters representing a greater number of PLWD.

5.4.2. Conclusion

This study has identified different trajectories in healthcare use among PLWD, how they relate to social and spatial inequalities, and the risk of subsequent mortality. Our findings point towards thinking beyond singular pathways for healthcare design at the population level to leverage the heterogeneity in experiences, as well the importance of identifying particular trajectories early before they become problematic. The benefits of person-centred care in dementia have been established for both PLWD and the wider health social care system (Jennings et al., 2018). Involving PLWD and informal carers in care discussions and decisions can help to better meet their needs. Our trajectories can help clinicians and others involved in care discussions to understand not only the current picture for a PLWD, but also what the future possibilities of their care could look like. It is a priority to make services more appropriate and accessible to the breadth of PWLD in need, and to promote better care quality for all PLWD. Future research should provide a more complete picture of care among

PLWD, incorporating trajectories in health and social care use, and exploiting the complexity in different experiences and outcomes related to pathways through the health system.

5.5. Appendices

Appendix 5.1: Loss to follow-up for early- and late-onset population, for 10 years after date of diagnosis

	Early	-Onset	Late-Onset				
Year After	Rem	aining	Remaining				
Diagnosis	(n)	%	(n)	%			
Total	5210		137077				
0	5157	99.0%	131749	96.1%			
1	4996	95.9%	118836	86.7%			
2	4717	90.5%	101273	73.9%			
3	4263	81.8%	80948	59.0%			
4	3732	71.6%	62264	45.4%			
5	3184	61.1%	45943	33.5%			
6	2604	50.0%	32843	24.0%			
7	2087	40.1%	22598	16.5%			
8	1644	31.6%	15289	11.2%			
9	1227	23.6%	10171	7.4%			
10	923	17.7%	6588	4.8%			

Appendix 5.2: Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) and Log-likelihood (logLik) values for group-based trajectory models of one to ten groups (k) for both early- and late-onset sample populations

No. # groups	Early-Onse	t	Late-Onset			
in model	BIC	logLik	BIC	logLik		
1	167410.7	-83597.2	281555.2	-140663.8		
2	162357.8	-80957.6	273089.7	-136317.3		
3	155647.7	-77494.4	261287.5	-130302.4		
4	149099.4	-74102.3	258323.7	-128691.1		
5	14613.5	-6883.9	12360.0	-5605.8		
6	5153.1	-1932.4	24266.5	-11564.2		
7	5056.5	-1775.9	8552.2	-3458.8		
8	4274.6	-1276.8	8183.1	-3165.6		
9	3704.3	-878.6	15753.1	-6971.3		
10	-55039.0	28596.3	19281.3	-8502.6		

Appendix 5.3: Inclusion in GBTM analyses, missing data and those who died in early- and late-onset dementia populations, by explanatory factors³

		Of entire	early-onset popula	ation	Of entire late-onset population				
Explanatory Factor	GBTM-i	included	Population with	missing data	GBTM-ind	cluded	% miss	ng data	
Explanatory Factor	#	%	% <5 years	% died	#	%	% <5 years	% died	
			data				data		
Female	2027	54.3%	49.8%	48.2%	42638	68.9%	65.0%	64.2%	
Male	1705	45.7%	50.2%	51.8%	19606	31.1%	35.0%	35.8%	
Under45	77	2.1%	1.8%	1.5%					
45-54	594	15.9%	18.7%	17.8%					
55-64	3061	82.0%	79.6%	80.7%					
65-74					13343	21.1%	9.6%	7.4%	
75-84					32876	53.1%	40.5%	37.9%	
85-94					15521	25.0%	44.8%	48.3%	
95+					504	0.8%	5.1%	6.4%	
Asian	95	2.5%	2.3%	2.2%	946	1.3%	1.5%	1.2%	
Black	88	2.4%	3.0%	2.3%	1192	1.9%	1.8%	1.1%	
Mixed/Other	40	1.1%	1.0%	1.1%	521	0.9%	0.8%	0.6%	
White	3267	87.5%	87.2%	94.4%	56756	91.2%	87.0%	97.1%	
Quintile 1 (Most	724	19.4%	20.0%	21.8%	9921	15.4%	15.2%	15.9%	
deprived)									
Quintile 2	703	18.8%	20.2%	21.4%	10793	18.1%	17.5%	17.5%	
Quintile 3	771	20.7%	20.4%	19.4%	12421	19.3%	20.2%	20.5%	
Quintile 4	837	22.4%	20.2%	20.1%	14297	23.0%	23.1%	23.4%	
Quintile 5 (Least	683	18.3%	18.4%	17.4%	14707	24.0%	23.6%	22.7%	
deprived)									
Rural	498	13.3%	12.5%	12.1%	8946	14.2%	14.8%	14.4%	
Urban	3234	86.7%	87.5%	87.9%	53298	85.8%	85.2%	85.6%	
East Midlands	110	2.9%	2.0%	1.8%	1307	2.3%	2.1%	1.9%	
East of England	189	5.1%	5.1%	3.5%	3489	5.4%	6.0%	5.9%	
London	453	12.1%	11.4%	11.1%	7032	10.7%	9.6%	8.9%	
North East	189	5.1%	4.9%	6.2%	3471	5.6%	4.9%	5.3%	
North West	763	20.4%	17.9%	18.5%	11396	18.9%	17.4%	17.9%	
South Central	516	13.8%	13.3%	14.6%	8352	13.5%	14.0%	14.7%	
South East Coast	294	7.9%	9.4%	10.2%	5061	8.4%	8.8%	8.5%	
South West	447	12.0%	13.4%	14.9%	8907	14.2%	15.0%	15.2%	
West Midlands	617	16.5%	17.9%	15.4%	10485	16.7%	17.9%	17.6%	
Yorkshire & The Humber	154	4.1%	4.7%	3.7%	2744	4.3%	4.2%	4.0%	

³ There are some members of early- and late-onset sample population who do not have Ethnicity or IMD 2015 deprivation quintile available in CPRD data, as such the sum total for such categories may be lower

Appendix 5.4: Multinomial logistic regression output for likelihood of cluster membership based on socio-economic and geographic explanatory factors

		Early-Onset Dementia						Late-Onset Dementia					
		Healthca	e Trajectory	Cluster (ref:	cluster 3)		Healthcare Trajectory Cluster (ref: cluster 4)						
Evplopetory Easter	Clust	er 1	Cluster 2 Cluster 4			er 4	Cluster 1		Cluster 2		Cluster 3		
Explanatory Factor	Log odds		Log odds		Log odds		Log odds		Log odds		Log odds		
	(95% Confidence	Std.Er	(95% Confidence	Std.Er	(95% Confidence	Std.Er	(95% Confidence	Std.Er	(95% Confidence	Std.Er	(95% Confidence	Std.Er	
	Intervals)		Intervals)		Intervals)		Intervals)		Intervals)		Intervals)		
(Intercept)	-2.559	0.451	-4.457	0.785	-0.215	0.187	-1.758	0.232	-0.517	0.152	-3.436	0.411	
Sex (ref: Female)													
Male	0.205	0.158	-0.342	0.199	-0.050	0.073	-0.042	0.098	0.046	0.062	-0.142	0.125	
Age Group (ref: 55-64)			_		_								
<45	-0.066	0.611	1.048	0.462	0.198	0.261							
45-54	-0.019	0.214	-0.276	0.287	-0.089	0.099							
75-84							0.130	0.114	0.153	0.074	0.330	0.159	
85-94							0.043	0.138	0.438	0.086	0.853	0.170	
95+							-0.580	0.756	0.562	0.331	0.815	0.575	
Ethnicity (ref: White)							_						
Asian	-0.785	0.735	-11.999	187.462	0.155	0.220	-0.879	0.534	0.170	0.241	-0.606	0.611	
Black	0.048	0.560	-0.351	0.569	-0.068	0.251	-0.863	0.389	-0.274	0.210	-0.959	0.531	
Mixed/Other	0.661	0.559	-0.108	0.759	-0.542	0.395	-0.488	0.627	0.536	0.301	-0.044	0.630	
IMD 2015 Quintile (ref: Quintile	5: Least De	prived)					_						
Quintile 4	-0.046	0.238	0.552	0.334	0.110	0.115	0.171	0.136	0.094	0.085	0.016	0.160	
Quintile 3	-0.184	0.257	0.599	0.346	0.098	0.119	-0.043	0.147	-0.153	0.090	-0.211	0.172	
Quintile 2	-0.025	0.257	0.716	0.352	0.115	0.123	0.269	0.147	0.095	0.093	0.016	0.178	
Quintile 1 (Most deprived)	-0.195	0.272	0.828	0.368	0.033	0.127	0.489	0.152	0.050	0.101	0.124	0.189	
Urban-Rural GP Classification	(ref: Urban)						_						
Rural	0.153	0.240	0.493	0.283	0.217	0.111	-0.094	0.143	0.105	0.085	0.129	0.164	
GP Region (ref: North East)							_						
North West	0.361	0.427	0.923	0.756	-0.219	0.175	0.069	0.207	0.221	0.137	1.262	0.384	
Yorkshire & The Humber	0.071	0.559	0.820	0.884	-0.324	0.235	-0.150	0.294	0.101	0.184	1.119	0.448	
East Midlands	0.251	0.620	1.249	0.941	0.060	0.263	-0.330	0.421	0.348	0.224	1.326	0.504	
East of England	-0.307	0.585	1.005	0.862	-0.336	0.228	0.109	0.271	0.034	0.176	0.882	0.451	
West Midlands	0.092	0.448	0.744	0.779	-0.184	0.180	0.026	0.216	0.310	0.140	1.212	0.390	
London	-0.043	0.483	1.763	0.761	-0.371	0.197	0.238	0.229	0.176	0.153	1.440	0.400	
South East Coast	0.101	0.494	1.653	0.781	-0.405	0.210	0.211	0.245	0.200	0.161	1.431	0.409	
South Central	0.476	0.453	1.766	0.767	0.016	0.190	0.313	0.220	0.079	0.148	1.177	0.399	
South West	0.170	0.460	1.040	0.780	-0.225	0.189	0.122	0.214	-0.023	0.144	0.895	0.397	

	Late-onset dementia							
Explanatory Factor	Hazard Ratio (HR)	95% Confidence Intervals	p- value	sig	Hazard Ratio (HR)	95% Confidence Intervals	p- value	sig
Cluster 1	2.21	(1.78 – 2.75)	0.00	***	1.08	(0.96 – 1.21)	0.21	
Cluster 2	0.47	(0.28 – 0.77)	0.00	**	0.72	(0.66 – 0.80)	0.00	***
Cluster 3	Not A	pplicable (refere	nce group)	0.32	(0.25 – 0.40)	0.00	***
Cluster 4	1.37	(1.21 – 1.56)	0.00	***	Not A	pplicable (refere	nce group)
Age At Diagnosis	1.02	(1.00 – 1.03)	0.01	*	1.06	(1.05 – 1.07)	0.00	***
Male	1.09	(0.97 – 1.23)	0.14		1.21	(1.11 – 1.32)	0.00	***
Asian	0.72	(0.45 – 1.13)	0.15		1.03	(0.71 – 1.48)	0.89	
Black	0.98	(0.64 – 1.49)	0.92		0.89	(0.65 – 1.21)	0.46	
Mixed/Other	0.81	(0.42 – 1.58)	0.54		1.33	(0.87 – 2.03)	0.19	
Quintile 4	1.04	(0.86 – 1.26)	0.66		1.06	(0.94 – 1.19)	0.36	
Quintile 3	1.13	(0.93 – 1.38)	0.23		1.05	(0.93 – 1.19)	0.45	
Quintile 2	1.16	(0.95 – 1.42)	0.15		1.05	(0.92 – 1.20)	0.46	
Quintile 1 (Most Deprived)	1.02	(0.82 – 1.26)	0.86		1.16	(1.01 – 1.33)	0.03	*
Rural	1.00	(0.83 – 1.20)	0.99		1.01	(0.90 – 1.14)	0.87	
North West	1.04	(0.77 – 1.40)	0.81		0.88	(0.73 – 1.05)	0.15	
Yorkshire & The Humber	0.99	(0.67 – 1.49)	0.98		0.82	(0.64 – 1.05)	0.11	
East Midlands	0.78	(0.49 – 1.24)	0.29		0.95	(0.70 – 1.30)	0.75	
East of England	1.27	(0.87 – 1.85)	0.22		0.81	(0.64 - 1.02)	0.07	
West Midlands	0.95	(0.69 – 1.29)	0.73		0.78	(0.65 – 0.94)	0.01	**
London	0.94	(0.67 – 1.32)	0.72		0.63	(0.51 – 0.78)	0.00	***
South East Coast	1.07	(0.75 – 1.53)	0.71		0.64	(0.51 – 0.80)	0.00	***
South Central	1.24	(0.91 – 1.70)	0.17		1.01	(0.83 – 1.22)	0.93	
South West	1.10	(0.80 - 1.51)	0.58		0.91	(0.75 – 1.09)	0.30	

Appendix 5.5: Cox Proportional Hazards regression outputs for association between mortality risk and explanatory factors⁴

Please note significance levels: '***' = <0.001; '**' = <0.01 '*'' = <0.05

⁴ Reference groups for explanatory factors: Healthcare cluster: Early-onset = cluster 3; Late-onset = cluster 4; Sex = female; Ethnicity = White; IMD 2015 Deprivation Quintile = Quintile 5 (Least Deprived); Urban-Rural GP classification = Urban; GP Region = North East; as a continuous variable there is no reference for Age At Diagnosis

6. Chapter 6: Discussion

This section will provide a summary of the key findings and contributions of this PhD thesis. The main findings will be discussed in relation to the aims of the PhD project (see Chapter 1, page 9), integrating the findings from each paper and highlighting their wider narrative for how they all fit together. Given the nature of this PhD project and the papers encompassed, findings will then be discussed under sub-headings. The first is focused on healthcare use trajectories, then moving on to the findings related to each of the socio-economic or geographic factors explored in this PhD project. The strengths and limitations of the PhD project and research conducted will then be discussed. Finally, this chapter will draw conclusions from the findings and the narrative discussed, setting out recommendations, noting how findings can be used to introduce policy and practice changes and recommend ideas for future research.

6.1. Introduction

The number of PLWD has been increasing in the UK and globally, and is expected to continue to do so in the coming years and decades, particularly among those with more severe symptomatology and greater day-to-day care needs. Health and social care services in the UK are struggling to meet current demand, and an increasing population of PLWD, particularly those with more acute care need, will present even greater pressures on services. Social and spatial inequalities exist from the point of trying to access a dementia diagnosis, to the frequency and quality of subsequent care and treatment they receive, through to their likelihood of moving into nursing care, and risk of mortality. There is a lack of forthcoming funding from central government to support services and improve staffing levels. As a result, the increased pressure of additional need is only likely to exacerbate current inequalities, meaning PLWD from the most disadvantaged groups in society are likely to endure further inequalities in care and health outcomes.
To address current and negate future inequalities in the care and health outcomes for PLWD, it is vital we understand the picture currently. Routine, cohort datasets, including big data and secondary datasets of electronic health records have been used to examine inequalities in the care and outcomes of PLWD (Cooper et al., 2017; van de Vorst et al., 2016). However, this thesis has highlighted several key gaps in the existing literature which need to be investigated. Firstly, there was no synthesis of the findings from studies using routine, cohort datasets of electronic health records have been used to evidence inequalities among PLWD. Secondly, the current research does not include more than one or two social or spatial variables as potential factors associated with inequalities in care, nor does it simultaneously examine the use of a range of healthcare services as outcome measures. Finally, the existing research does not tend to investigate healthcare use as a series of cumulative, interlinked events, but rather it examines healthcare use as a series of individual, separate events. This thesis sought to address these gaps in the literature through four primary aims, which would be achieved via four sequential research papers:

- 1. Explore the potential of routinely collected data for investigating dementia inequalities
- 2. Examine potential inequalities in healthcare use among PLWD
- 3. Examine potential inequalities in health outcomes (e.g. mortality risk) among PLWD
- 4. Identify variations in healthcare use and its impact on health outcomes.

6.2. Key Findings

The foundation of this PhD project was to demonstrate the potential of secondary data to improve health and care, and narrow inequalities, among PLWD as a means to improve quality of life and save lives. This began with conducting a systematic review on how routine datasets have been used to explore inequalities in the care and health outcomes among PLWD. This review highlighted that there were inequalities and differences in access, use and quality of health and social care among different socio-economic and geographic groups, across numerous - primarily Western – countries. The review also demonstrated substantive and important gaps in the knowledge of dementia inequalities. Firstly, existing

literature explores few studies examining multiple factors together in the same analysis of inequalities in care and health outcomes among PLWD. This may have been partly due to a dominance of clinical focused studies, whose focus was not on the social determinants of dementia. Secondly, the systematic review highlighted that existing research has often examined health and social care as a series of one-off events, rather than a collection of interlinked events that reflects an integrated and comprehensive pathway. These gaps in the literature bring to light wider implications in how researchers and policy makers should be utilising electronic health records for improving dementia-related outcomes and their associated inequalities.

In light of these findings, the systematic review demonstrated the avenues through which secondary data could be used within this PhD project. Using CPRD data, I explored how healthcare use and mortality risk differ between social and spatial groups, and how healthcare trajectories vary among PLWD and can impact mortality risk. The first quantitative paper from this thesis explored socio-economic, demographic and geographic variables as potential factors in inequalities in mortality risk. The findings showed that some socio-economic and geographic groups had a greater risk of mortality after dementia diagnosis, specifically older PLWD, men, PLWD from White ethnicity groups, those from more deprived areas, and people in some GP regions. Additionally, frequency of primary healthcare utilisation was examined as factor in mortality risk. Findings showed increased rates of GP contact for PLWD was associated with increased mortality risk, and for late-onset dementia an increased rate of prescribed dementia medications was associated with greater risk of mortality.

The first quantitative paper (Chapter 3) was based on the gaps in the literature identified from the initial systematic review, and the evident benefits of employing healthcare use variables in inequalities research, as highlighted by the first quantitative paper. The second quantitative paper (Chapter 4) employed the same geographic and socio-economic variables as factors for variation in the use of different types of primary and secondary healthcare. Based on the same sample population, *frequency* of GP contact, and both dementia and non-dementia medications, and the *likelihood* of A&E attendance, and emergency and elective admissions to hospital varied based on age, sex, ethnicity, level of deprivation and geography. These inequalities were often nuanced and inconsistent across outcome measures suggesting strategies aimed at tackling inequalities need to be multi-faceted.

The first two quantitative papers (Chapters 3 and 4) investigated a greater number of simultaneous socio-economic and geographic factors in outcome measures among PLWD than has been explored in previous research. However, a major gap in the literature highlighted from the systematic review illustrated that existing literature does not tend to examine temporal trajectories in the use of healthcare services among PLWD. As a result, the final quantitative paper (Chapter 5) examined temporal healthcare trajectories among PLWD. The findings indicated – among both people with either early- or late-onset dementia - there were four distinct pathways experienced and mortality risk varied between different healthcare pathway clusters. Mortality risk was not associated with a single distinctive healthcare use trajectory in either early- or late-onset dementia populations. Instead, increased mortality risk was observed among clusters with gradually or exponentially increasing rates of healthcare use, and significantly lower mortality risk occurred among clusters with increasing or falling rates of primary healthcare use. The fourth and final paper from this PhD project is novel, demonstrating how big-data can be leveraged to identify patterns in differential use of various services among PLWD, and the degree to which patterns in service use can impact health outcomes.

6.2.1. Healthcare use

A PLWD's use of health and social care is influenced by their background and where they live. I have added to the wider literature through demonstrating how the frequency of healthcare use is impacted by demographic, geographic and socio-economic factors (Chapter 4), and frequency of primary healthcare use can impact mortality risk (Chapter 3). I have also illustrated that temporal patterns in primary and secondary healthcare use are associated with variations in mortality risk among PLWD (Chapter 5). There are direct and indirect ways in which socio-economic and geographic factors can impact the frequency and quality of health and social care use. Services can be less accessible and appropriate for some population groups, as highlighted for example among women struggling to get appropriate care after diagnosis (Cooper et al., 2017; Sundermann et al., 2016), in PLWD from ethnic minority backgrounds accessing appropriate treatment and ongoing support (Thorpe et al., 2016; Tsamakis et al., 2021), among PLWD from rural areas attaining good quality and continuity in primary healthcare (Baird and Wright, 2006), and PLWD from deprived areas being treated and managed in an integrated and comprehensive way (McMaughan, Oloruntoba and Smith, 2020).

Healthcare pathways are an ongoing series of interconnected events, with each contact representing a PLWD's need at a point in time. Depending on appropriateness and quality of the healthcare contact, these events have the potential impact the type and degree of future healthcare need (Bunn et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2021). PWLD struggling to receive a dementia diagnosis or subsequent appropriate healthcare involvement can have a detrimental impact on their experiences of dementia, reducing treatment options for dementia, increasing the rate of dementia progression, use of emergency healthcare, and impairing quality of life (Alzheimer's Association, 2017; Robinson, Tang and Taylor, 2015). My analyses show no one trajectory in healthcare is conducive to better outcomes among PLWD, but rather each experiences their dementia differently (Melis, Haaksma and Muzi-Terrera, 2019). It is therefore imperative that we understand treatment and support needs for PLWD from diagnosis, and follow up checks to identify any potential changes which may alter their need and treatment. Meeting comprehensive and changing care needs can increase the chances of PLWD staying at home and maintain their quality of life, and slow down the decline in their condition (Kim and Park, 2017; Moore and Crawley, 2020).

6.2.2. Age

Increasing age was found to have a significant impact on the use of services and health outcomes among PLWD across all research papers. The systematic review (Chapter 2) showed that increasing age among PLWD was associated with fewer surgical consultations, but greater emergency healthcare contact. It also noted that increasing age in dementia was linked to greater likelihood of transitions into nursing homes and more rapid dementia progression. From the quantitative research papers (Chapters 3 and 4), we additionally demonstrated that older PLWD - those aged 85 years and over - had fewer elective hospital admissions and greater likelihood of mortality than their younger counterparts. These findings are not necessarily surprising. Ageing increases the likelihood of ill-health, and PLWD are even more likely to have a greater number, and more severe, long-term health conditions than the general population (Divo, Martinez and Mannino, 2014). Spouses contribute a great deal of the informal care to PLWD, and ageing can mean increased burden - caregiver ill-health and stress - in providing the breadth of care in dementia (Barbosa et al., 2021; Tsai et al., 2021). Caregiver strain and ageing can increase the likelihood of movements into formal care (Banerjee et al., 2003; Gaugler, Pot and Zarit, 2007). Transitions into nursing homes can in-turn heighten the risk of care mismanagement and negative health outcomes (Manderson et al., 2012), including dementia progression and how rapidly their general health may deteriorate (Ryman et al., 2019).

It can also be noted that the youngest PLWD – e.g. the youngest people with early-onset dementia – had fewer elective hospital admissions (Chapter 3) and are less likely to have annual dementia reviews with their consultant (Chapter 2). People with early-onset dementia are less likely to have multiple long-term health conditions and severe ill-health (Gerritsen et al., 2016) than older PLWD. However, people with early-onset dementia are more likely to have rare forms of dementia than their older counterparts which are harder to treat (Alzheimer's Society, 2020), and are more likely to have upheaval in their personal and working life (Rossor et al., 2010). Spousal care presents a substantial proportion of the day-

to-day care and support provided to PLWD, especially when the person with dementia does not have adult children capable of supporting a spouse in the role (Brodaty and Donkin, 2009). The person diagnosed with early-onset dementia may have to give up employment as a result of their diagnosis. This can have a detrimental impact on their mental health and their family finances (Kilty et al., 2023). This can place further pressure on spouses to manage the financial dichotomy between needing to provide care for their spouse with dementia and the cost of buying in formal care to do so (Bayly et al., 2021; Mayrhofer et al., 2021). Age is therefore an important determinant of inequalities in the experiences of PLWD.

6.2.3. Sex

This thesis highlights distinct differences between men and women in how they interact with health and social care and their health outcomes. The review demonstrated that women were more likely than men to be living with dementia and also to be institutionalised earlier after dementia diagnosis, with more mild symptomatology (Chapter 2). Women often survive longer with dementia, and are diagnosed earlier in their dementia, but men and women can often present differently. Women are more likely to retain their memory in the early stages and score better on screening tests (Sundermann et al., 2016). This may mean missed diagnoses, or perceptions of less severe symptomatology and lesser requirement for support (Alzheimer's Research UK, 2022). In later-life dementia tends to progress at a more rapid rate for women than men (Podcasy and Epperson, 2016) and concurrently, women are more likely to move into nursing home care in later-life than men (Zafeiridi et al., 2021). Moving into nursing care can increase the speed at which somebody's condition deteriorates, particularly later in life, which can increase the chances of using emergency healthcare (Bartlett et al., 2016), and mortality risk (Aneshensel et al., 2000).

I have illustrated that men were more likely to experience faster dementia progression
(Chapter 2) and have greater contact with both primary and secondary healthcare (Chapter 4) across our quantitative analyses and the systematic review. Males were also more likely to die than females (Chapter 3), but understanding these patterns is complex. Men's more

severe pattern of multiple long-term conditions - particularly as they age (Bauer et al., 2014; Gambassi et al., 1999) – creates greater challenges to providing comprehensive treatment. Men are therefore more likely to require frequent healthcare contact to provide appropriate care and treatment. However, men are more likely to show a reticence to engage with health and social care (Schaffler-Schaden et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2013) or adhere to treatment (Mahmoodi et al., 2019), combined with greater complexity of conditions (Bauer et al., 2014). This can result in transitions into nursing home care, a lack of appropriate pharmacological treatments and comprehensive care, rapid dementia progression, greater use of emergency healthcare, and increased mortality risk (Delgado et al., 2020; Gungabissoon et al., 2021; Kim and Lee, 2020; Peterson et al., 2008).

6.2.4. Ethnicity

I have demonstrated that PLWD from ethnic minority groups have greater frequency of GP contacts, but a lower likelihood of secondary healthcare contact (Chapter 4), and reduced mortality risk than PLWD from White ethnic groups (Chapter 3). PLWD from ethnic minority groups were also less likely to move into formal care settings, but have increased difficulties in accessing and adherence to taking anti-dementia medications (Chapter 2). The impact of ethnicity on health and social care use, and health outcomes among PLWD, is nuanced (Watson et al., 2021). Dementia tends to be less severe among PLWD from ethnic minority backgrounds (Parveen and Ovebode, 2018) and they also have a younger population than that of White populations (ONS, 2022). In combination with societal expectations among some ethnic groups to provide care for older relatives, this can increase the likelihood of greater informal care at home for PLWD from ethnic minority groups (Duran-Kirac, 2022; Parveen and Oyebode, 2018). Care at home for longer and less severe dementia are both strongly associated with a greater probability of better health outcomes (Brodaty and Donkin, 2009; Schultze et al., 2022). Care at home can maintain quality of life, but doing so requires an accurate diagnosis and adequate care and treatment from formal services (Olsen et al., 2016). PLWD from ethnic minority backgrounds are more likely to be living with dementia

(Tsamakis et al., 2021), but are more likely to encounter incorrect or delayed diagnoses (Gianattasio et al., 2019; Lin et al., 2021), and poor accessibility and quality of healthcare (Duran-Kirac et al., 2021;). They are also more likely to have poor health and a greater number of multiple long-term conditions than their counterparts from White ethnic groups (Price et al., 2013; Quinones et al., 2019).

6.2.5. Deprivation

Increased levels of deprivation are associated with suboptimal health and social care contact and worse health outcomes. The systematic review (Chapter 2) demonstrated that a greater proportion of PLWD live in areas of greater deprivation, but experience lower rates of antidementia medication initiation. The quantitative research additionally highlighted that deprivation is associated with higher frequency of GP contact and increased likelihood of emergency healthcare use, but a lower probability of elective healthcare (Chapter 4). This would seem to indicate that PLWD from more disadvantaged areas are in greater need of a range of services, but don't necessarily experience the level or quality of healthcare they require (Cooper et al., 2016). This may be borne-out by our finding of much greater risk of mortality for PLWD from the most deprived areas compared to the most affluent (Chapter 3), and the literature demonstrating poorer quality of life and wellbeing among PLWD in deprived areas (Wu et al., 2018). The pattern in healthcare use demonstrated among PLWD from deprived areas (Chapter 4) has been shown in previous research to be associated with worse health outcomes (Cooper et al., 2016; Jitlal et al., 2021). The proportion of undiagnosed and incorrectly diagnosed dementia in areas of greater deprivation is higher than in affluent areas (Petersen et al., 2021). This is alongside a lack of appropriate or accessible healthcare services, and poorer healthcare quality for people who do receive a diagnosis (McMaughan, Oloruntoba and Smith, 2020). Whether diagnosed or undiagnosed, there is high unmet need among PLWD in more deprived areas (Connolly et al., 2011), which could be reflected in the frequent GP and emergency healthcare contact I highlight. Areas of higher socio-economic deprivation have greater dementia prevalence (Arapakis et

al., 2021). However, PLWD from deprived areas are more likely to be diagnosed when their condition is advanced (Petersen et al., 2021), and have more multiple long-term conditions (Browne et al., 2017). Increased severity of ill-health, difficulties accessing services, and poorer quality care for PLWD, will increase the likelihood of faster deterioration in health, emergency healthcare utilisation and transitions into nursing home care – factors associated with greater likelihood of worse health outcomes, including increased mortality risk (Leniz et al., 2019; Sommerlad et al., 2019; Van de Vorst et al., 2016).

6.2.6. Geography

Geography is a critical factor which can affect healthcare use and health outcomes for PLWD. Our systematic review (Chapter 2) demonstrated that previous research has not investigated geography widely as a potential factor for inequalities among PLWD. When accounting for confounders, I highlighted significant variations in healthcare use (Chapter 4) and mortality risk (Chapter 3) between people living in different regions of England, and between PLWD registered with rural and urban GPs.

Firstly, looking at urbanity and rurality, I illustrated that PLWD with rural GPs were more likely to attend A&E, but less likely to see their GP or have emergency hospital admissions (Chapter 4). Geography and deprivation are inherently bound and issues persist in healthcare variation. This can be seen in rural areas with social and service isolation for people in more localised communities (Alzheimer's Society, 2018; Rahman et al., 2020). PLWD in rural and remote areas often have fewer care and support options and may have to travel further to receive adequate diagnosis or treatment (Morgan et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2022). With limited choice in primary care, PLWD may be reliant on the availability, capacity and knowledge of their local GP, who can represent the gateway through which a PLWD will access diagnosis, treatment and onward referrals for support (Bourque and Foley, 2020; Rural Services Network, 2017). Differing care needs for PLWD from rural and urban areas, represents an important policy area for minimising spatial inequalities. There were also variations in healthcare use and health outcomes between the regions of England. PLWD in the North East had less contact with their GP and fewer anti-dementia medications, but more medications prescribed for their multiple long-term conditions, and greater likelihood of emergency hospital admissions (Chapter 4). Along with the North West, PLWD in the North East also had increased mortality risk. Both the North East and North West have high levels of morbidity, shortest life and healthy life expectancies of any region in England (NHS England, 2022; ONS, 2022 (2); The Health Foundation, 2022). This is at least in part due to growing healthcare inequalities driven by variation in service provision, treatment accessibility and care quality (Corris et al., 2020). Greater ill-health in areas like the North East of England will increase the need for health and social care among PLWD (Wu et al., 2018). However, with staff and finances more constrained in areas of greater deprivation this will likely increase unmet need in these areas (Read et al., 2021).

6.2.7. Contribution to wider research and knowledge

This PhD thesis aimed to address gaps in the existing literature of social and spatial inequalities in healthcare use and health outcomes for PLWD, using secondary datasets of electronic health records. In synthesising the exiting literature which used routine, cohort datasets to examine health and social care service use and quality, and health outcomes for PLWD, I highlight the potential of using secondary datasets to examine inequalities (Aim 1), as well as demonstrating several key research gaps. This addressed both the first aim of the study (see Introduction, pages 7-8), and demonstrated further gaps in the current knowledge. Aims two, three and four were developed to account for these limitations, by encompassing multiple social and spatial variables as potential factors associated with both mortality risk (Aim 2), and frequency or likelihood of contact with an array of primary and secondary healthcare services (Aim 3) among PLWD. Finally, research has tended to investigate use of healthcare services as individual, unlinked event. The final aim of this thesis was to demonstrate different temporal patterns in the use of multiple healthcare

services, and highlight any association between healthcare pathways and subsequent mortality risk.

The contribution of this thesis comes in two strands: the methods and application of data, and the additional knowledge generated on inequalities in dementia. Firstly, it is important to highlight the novel methods used in some of the research in this thesis, particularly in the final paper (Chapter 5). Clustering methods have barely been used in dementia research, especially not in investigating the use of a wide array of healthcare services. Using clustering methods for temporal patterns in service use, I have not only employed methods novel to understanding variation in the care of PLWD, but I have begun to highlight the potential effect that healthcare patterns can have on health outcomes for PLWD.

Within Chapters 3-5 I have highlighted variations and inequalities in healthcare use and mortality risk associated with age, sex, ethnicity, deprivation and geography. In doing so I have demonstrated the importance and potential to include a wider array of social and spatial variables as potential factors associated with variation in service use, service quality, and experience of health outcomes. These novel methods and applications of data have come from the use of large datasets of linked, electronic health records. With over 120 million records of healthcare contacts for over 142,000 PLWD, I have been able to explore primary and secondary healthcare use, and mortality risk, and the impact demographic, geographic and socio-economic factors can have on the experience a PLWD can have of them. There is great potential in using existing datasets to examine inequalities in the care and outcomes for PLWD, but further research can go a long way to demonstrating the impact that social and spatial factors, and patterns in health and social care use can have on the ongoing health, and health outcomes on PLWD.

From the findings highlighted through this thesis and brought together in Chapter 6, I have added to the knowledge of social and spatial inequalities and variations in healthcare use and mortality risk among PLWD. This is particularly important given the limited existence of research which included more than one or two potential factors for variation in outcome measures. Including several demographic, geographic and socio-economic factors as confounders in this research has not only highlighted the associations between these factors and outcomes, but also the importance of incorporating a greater breadth of confounding factors, given there are a myriad of variables which can impact the frequency and quality of health and social care use, and the experience of health outcomes among PLWD.

6.3. Strengths and Limitations

6.3.1. Strengths

This PhD thesis has provided two novel strands of evidence related to inequalities in service use and health outcomes among PLWD: (i) embedding social and spatial inequalities thinking into understanding healthcare and health outcomes among PLWD, and (ii) examining healthcare use as a series of interlinked events, rather than a set of unrelated, one-off events.

Previous research has often focused on few explanatory factors of the role of the wider determinants of health in the care and health outcomes for PLWD (Chapter 2). This thesis however has illuminated how a variety of simultaneous geographic and socio-economic factors impact the frequency or likelihood of PLWD coming into contact with primary and secondary healthcare and their mortality risk. In particular, the thesis has added novel evidence of the role of geography in explaining healthcare patterns (Chapter 4) and mortality risk (Chapter 3) which the systematic review identified as a significant research gap. Specifically, variations in healthcare use and mortality risk have been noted based on the geographic region somebody accesses primary healthcare, and whether they are registered with a rural or an urban GP. This PhD project has produced new knowledge related to the variation in healthcare use pathways among PLWD, the social and spatial differences in likelihood of encountering different healthcare pathways, and their subsequent mortality risk (Chapter 5).

I have demonstrated the potential for investigating inequalities in a variety of measures of healthcare and health outcomes among PLWD by using secondary data sources. Though there is great potential for future research employing similar datasets - including examining multiple long-term conditions and other time-to-event analyses (e.g. time to hospital admissions from diagnosis) - the research forming this thesis has gone beyond previous research into inequalities in care and outcomes among PLWD. The data employed in the quantitative studies (Chapters 3-5) here is related to PLWD from the same original sample population, emphasising the possibilities of investigating multiple outcomes using the same dataset. Understanding inequalities across a series of different outcomes and examining longitudinal trajectories in healthcare use among the same population can set a precedent in providing novel evidence, whilst also being pragmatic and efficient with secondary data. The final research paper (Chapter 5) also applied data science methods underused in quantitative dementia research. This paper has employed group-based trajectory models to demonstrate a variety of longitudinal healthcare pathways. Further analysis has then explored how social and spatial factors can impact a PLWD's likelihood of encountering specific healthcare pathways, and subsequent mortality risk.

6.3.2. Limitations

This thesis is subject to some limitations. Firstly, the research encompassed within this PhD thesis are more exploratory in nature than hypothesis-led. The research papers (Chapter 2-6) explore gaps in the existing knowledge of variation and inequalities in dementia care and mortality, but there are limitations to exploratory research of this nature. Hypothesis-led research can identify a research question, with a very specific aim, which we can test. In more exploratory research we do not have a specific, focused, hypothesis or research question. Exploratory research – without a very specific hypothesis – can be more prone to bias, including false-negative results. The lack of research encompassing multiple social and spatial factors of variation among PLWD, and a lack of research of healthcare as pathways,

means that the exploratory research in this PhD has helped to identify areas for future research which can support more hypothesis-led studies.

Though less of an issue in the first two quantitative papers (Chapters 3 and 4), attrition rates from the population with both early- and late-onset population were high, presenting a potential issue with selection bias. Attrition in itself is an issue if seen in large enough numbers from a study population, but given there were already small sub-populations within our study – particularly for ethnic minority groups and within the much smaller early-onset population – the loss to follow-up in the final quantitative study presents issues in the generalising of findings to the wider population of PLWD. There were also data-specific issues, specifically regarding date of dementia diagnosis. Inclusion within the data was based on people's presence on a CPRD-registered GP dementia-register at data source, but the CPRD data does not include a dementia diagnosis date. As such, I had to define a date for each member of the study population which could be standardised and applied rigorously for everyone. Date of dementia diagnosis was generated for each member of the study population in which a dementia-specific term was given. This standardised date of diagnosis could be applied rigorously for all members of the sample population, negating this potential issue within the data.

Data availability could also present an issue with explanatory variables for the associations examined in this PhD thesis. Geographic factors examined for potential associations with outcomes were at the GP region level and static at the point of entry to the data. Unfortunately, within the available CPRD data, only GP region and rural-urban GP classification variables were available. Differences in funding, staffing and quality of health and social care services at a very local level mean that the larger-area geographic variables may not encompass the level of granularity required to understand the complexity of the experience among PLWD. Lower-level geography would at greater nuance to findings and potentially emphasise smaller pockets within England which may be encountering differential use of healthcare services, or more likely to experience poorer health outcomes and greater

risk of mortality. A lack of residential variables, or time-varying geographic variables has drawbacks. The large area covered by regions can hide some of the nuance in funding and service availability in smaller geographic areas. Given the nature of dementia, and the size of the GP regions, it is unlikely many of the sample population will have moved from one geographic region to another during the study. However, with access and quality of care varying at such a local level, it is important to note that the lack of time-varying and residential-linked geographic factors can limit the application of findings.

There is also a limitation regarding direction of causality between exposure and outcome variables. This is particularly the case in regards to mortality risk and patterns in healthcare use. The frequency and the type of healthcare services a PLWD used can change as a result of their care need, which can be impacted when their condition is progressing and they move towards the end of life. In this instance, defining direction of causality without data related to level of care need (i.e. comorbidity) or their dementia severity is not entirely possible. Furthermore, as dementia is a condition that can change greatly and at times, rapidly, a lack of temporal data to demonstrate changing healthcare need and dementia severity is identified as a limitation. Inclusion of greater depth of longitudinal data could benefit association-based research and help to provide stronger clarification of the direction of causality between healthcare use and health outcomes, and identify changing care need. More generally, the inclusion of further variables capturing wider dimensions of socioeconomic and geographic inequalities that were not included could have also strengthened our analyses. Data relating to wider ill-health and multiple long-term conditions, a person's sexuality, lower-level geography (e.g. local authority, or super-output areas), social care use and transitions into nursing home care, and informal care availability are all factors with great potential for research, but limited exploration among PLWD. These data variables were either not available, or not possible to analyse from CPRD datasets. This is not a flaw of the project, but shows the potential to benefit from a wider dataset related to the individual,

environment, health and the wider determinants of health than can all impact lived experience.

The findings within the encompassed quantitative research studies (Chapter 3-5) are a result of association-based analyses, which describe inequalities rather than explain the pathways and mechanisms for why inequalities may exist. Causal inference is a process that allows us to draw causal conclusions between the input or explanatory variables and outcome measure(s) from our data (Pearl, 2009), and could have provided further weight to the research conducted.

6.4. Future Research

This thesis emphasises the benefits of using secondary datasets to explore socio-economic and geographic inequalities in healthcare and health outcomes for PLWD. We also illustrated the potential of large secondary datasets, to identify temporal trajectories in healthcare use, and their impact on health outcomes in dementia. However, there are multiple potential avenues to explore in research using large-scale, routine datasets for the health, service use and health outcomes of PLWD.

6.4.1. Additional variables, potential inequalities and outcomes

There are inherent limits to different secondary datasets. They are standardised and routinely-collected, which has practical benefits, but they may not include the extent of the data required. Dementia subtype can impact the symptomatology in dementia and the type and level and need a PLWD has. As such, it would be beneficial to include this as not only a factor which can drive potential inequalities of variations in healthcare use and outcomes, but also as a variable for understanding the needs among different sub-population of PLWD. These can be potential explanatory or confounding factors of inequalities in outcome measures, for example, a person's sexuality, number of comorbidities or comorbidity scale rating, and a variety of geographies.

There are also limits to the breadth of the datasets available. Throughout this thesis, I discuss the degree to which demographic, geographic and socio-economic factors can impact outcomes among PLWD, but there is an emerging need to understand the interplay between intrinsically linked factors. Specifically, there is an overlapping impact on outcomes for PLWD, between where somebody lives or accesses services, and the levels of socio-economic deprivation in these areas have on outcomes for PLWD, which needs to be truly drawn out through intersectional analysis. Intersectionality between multiple explanatory factors in outcomes has seen limited research in health, but could help to better define the extent to which overlapping explanatory factors impact health inequalities (Holman et al., 2022). There is also potential in time-to-event analysis for different outcomes measures. I explored mortality risk and use of different healthcare types, but it could provide a great deal of evidence to frame care discussions. Better knowledge of time from diagnosis to transition into nursing care, to first A&E attendance or admission to hospital could generate further understanding of care and inequalities among PLWD.

6.4.2. Comprehensive and integrated trajectories in care

Healthcare use provides only one part of the picture of care for PLWD. Dementia is a complex health condition, and often PLWD have more severe multiple long-term conditions (Bunn et al., 2014). Alongside the potential for rapid changes in health and social care need, this can mean it is difficult to understand the entirety of the picture of health and need among PLWD. However, there is a need for greater inclusion of social care, transitions in care and use of community support and social groups, and informal care availability to portray a more complete picture of a PLWD's service engagement, ongoing support and health and how service involvement and movements in care impact their health outcomes. Having access to informal care provision, alongside the routinely collected information from health records, would strengthen this measurement.

6.4.3. Applying methods internationally and cross-country comparisons

There are many countries collecting standardised datasets related to the health and healthcare of large populations, for example the Danish and Dutch Population Registries and English Longitudinal Study for Ageing (ELSA). Some of the research methods employed in this thesis have seen limited application in investigating inequalities in health and health outcomes in dementia. This is specifically the case in in using secondary data to define clusters of PLWD with similarities in healthcare pathways and variations in subsequent health outcomes. Little existing research has investigated inequalities across multiple countries (Kahle-Wrobleski et al., 2017; Verbeek et al., 2015), but there are opportunities to build upon and expand such research. Countries may have differences in their standardised datasets, such as the variables collected, or the measurement used. However, applying the methods from this PhD project to routine datasets globally could provide a picture of patterns in service use and subsequent health outcomes within countries, and also develop international and regional comparisons of health and care for PLWD. These comparisons can allow different countries or regions to learn from one another and emphasise the benefits of different healthcare systems for PLWD. This could aid in improving services globally, fostering better care and more positive health outcomes for PLWD.

6.4.4. Machine learning for supporting person-centred care

The focus of this thesis was to provide evidence to support health and social care staff, PLWD and informal carers in person-centred care discussions. Machine learning using large datasets can provide a great deal of support to clinicians. Using a swathe of previous data, machine learning can predict future need and outcomes based on a person's previous health and social care use, multiple long-term conditions, care support and environment, and other factors. Dementia is complex and situations and care need can change quickly for PLWD, as such, there is a call for decision-making to be fully supported by evidence. Machine learning methods can support clinicians to identify the best potential care and treatment options (Javaid et al., 2022). These choices can then be brought into care discussions and provide PLWD and carers with options in their own care (Belam and Nilforooshan, 2021). This could involve PLWD and carers in care decisions more, have a positive impact on the health and quality of life for PLWD, and reduce the cost to health and social care through reduced use of emergency healthcare services (Javaid et al., 2022; Lennox-Chhugani, 2022). However, there are ethical and practical issues in machine learning and in providing the most appropriate, effective and empathetic care for PLWD, which would need to be overcome to leverage this technology (Belam and Nilforooshan, 2021; Hine, Nilforooshan and Barnaghi, 2022).

6.5. Policy and Practice Recommendations

There are several recommendations that can be made as a result of the findings from this research, particularly when contextualised within the wider literature and the changing nature of dementia in the UK. Beyond future research implications, there is a need for additional support for health and social care professionals. Central Governmental has made commitments to dementia research, and funding of services, but they have not been enacted. There is a need for additional financial and staffing support for health and social care services in the UK, and the opportunity for staff to continue personal, and professional development, to aid current shortfalls in staffing, and enhance to capacity within the existing workforce. Potential policy and practice changes can improve treatment, care and support for PLWD. These should all be viewed in the current climate, particularly in understanding the pragmatic and practical potential in an environment with restricted funding and staffing.

6.5.1. Reduce health inequalities for disadvantaged groups through improved access and continuity of care

While most PLWD face barriers to receiving care, some demographic, geographic and socioeconomic groups are more likely to experience inappropriate, disjointed or poor-quality health and social care services (Watson et al., 2021). Improving the appropriateness, accessibility and continuity of health and social care can improve the management of health and treatment for PLWD, reducing the impact of potential symptoms and hospitalisations, and the risk of poor health outcomes (Bunn et al., 2017; Delgado et al., 2022). Poor access to diagnosis and treatment is noted among PLWD from deprived backgrounds (Mukadam et al., 2013; Vohra et al., 2021). GPs and post-diagnostic services need to be aware of the different ways in which dementia can present and of the early signs for dementia, particularly among different demographic groups who are currently diagnosed later, or receive an unspecified diagnosis (Jitlal et al., 2021; Petersen et al., 2021). Improving access to diagnosis and in-turn enabling better access and quality of post-diagnostic treatment and support, can enable better access to treatment and help maintain health and foster better health outcomes (Robinson, Tang and Taylor, 2015; Woods et al., 2018).

6.5.2. Improve provision and access to care for PLWD in rural areas

Quality and capacity in primary care can lead to differential experience in access to diagnosis and subsequent treatment (Ahmad et al., 2010). Improving knowledge of dementia and capacity in primary care, as well as service equity and accessibility is critical. Rural areas may have fewer services and are more reliant on their GP to act as a referral gatekeeper to specialist services (Bradford et al., 2010). A PLWD from a rural or deprived area may be dependent on their GP as they have restricted options of primary care provider, and so the ability of their GP to recognise symptoms and care needs is crucial (Rasmussen and Langerman, 2019). Continuity in care from diagnosis onwards includes health and social care staff communicating effectively with each other, and with PLWD and carers (Zimmerman et al., 2005). Maintaining continuity in who is providing care and where it is provided can promote a more stable social environment and care situation for PLWD (Reckrey et al., 2022). Consistency in care can be crucial to prolonging quality of life and positive health among PLWD (Delgado et al., 2022). Managing the treatment and support can be difficult, but PLWD and informal carers being involved in care choices and decision can further continuity and maintain positive health for longer among PLWD (Kim and Park, 2017).

6.5.3. Develop infrastructure and practice in primary care to enable better access to diagnosis and care

Provision of appropriate and accessible care with greater continuity will require a great deal of infrastructure development. Health and social care services for PLWD do not tend to be standardised across the UK and good quality care and services can often be unequally provided across the UK (Chase et al., 2020; Pierse et al., 2020), and PLWD from different geographic areas, demographic and socio-economic backgrounds (Giebel et al., 2021). The appropriateness of care can differ from person to person and between different population groups, so being aware of individual needs and local service availability is imperative to providing effective care (Iliffe et al., 2009). This is no different in rural areas that are more sparsely populated, with further to travel to services, and for health and social care staff to make home and community visits (Bauer et al., 2019).

6.5.4. Person-centred care

There are numerous practical benefits to both the PLWD and the wider health and social care system of providing person-centred care. This focus on an individuals' need has been shown to reduce the burden and severity of symptoms of dementia and mental health comorbidities and improve the quality of life for PLWD (Kim and Park, 2017). Involving PLWD - in different care settings - and informal carers in care discussions and decision-making can also reduce the financial cost to the health and social system. Effective management of treatment and care can help to reduce the use of inappropriate hospital care and unnecessary GP contacts (Tay et al., 2018; Mayor, 2018). Person-centred care requires health and social care staff to be mindful of changes in a PLWD's symptoms, environment and needs, with changing frequency and levels of contact between clinicians and PLWD. Noting changes and discussing needs throughout a person's trajectory is critical to maintaining practical and pragmatic person-centred care as dementia develops.

References

Aaltonen M, Rissanen P, Forma L, Raitanen J and Jylhä M, 2012. The impact of dementia on care transitions during the last two years of life. *Age Ageing*;41(1):52-57.

Adames, HY, Chavez-Dueñas, NY, Salas, SP, Manley, CR., 2020. Intersectionality as a Practice of Dementia Care for Sexual and Gender Minoritized Latinxs. In: Adames, H., Tazeau, Y. (eds) Caring for Latinxs with Dementia in a Globalized World. Springer, New

York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-0716-0132-7_12.

Afonso-Argilés FJ, Meyer G, Stephan A, Comas M, Wübker A, Leino-Kilpi H, Lethin C, Saks K, Soto-Martin M, Sutcliffe C, Verbeek H, Zabalegui A, Renom-Guiteras A, 2020. RightTimePlaceCare Consortium. Emergency department and hospital admissions among people with dementia living at home or in nursing homes: results of the European RightTimePlaceCare project on their frequency, associated factors and costs. *BMC Geriatr.* 5;20(1):453. doi: 10.1186/s12877-020-01835-x

Agénor M. Future Directions for Incorporating Intersectionality Into Quantitative Population Health Research. *Am J Public Health*. 2020 Jun;110(6):803-806. doi:

10.2105/AJPH.2020.305610.

Ahmad S, Orrell M, Iliffe S and Gracie A, 2010. GPs' attitudes, awareness, and practice regarding early diagnosis of dementia. *Br J Gen Pract*,60(578):e360-5. doi:

10.3399/bjgp10X515386

ALLAN R, WILLIAMSON P and KULU H, 2017. Unravelling urban–rural health disparities in England. *Popul Space Place*, **23**, e2073. DOI: 10.1002/psp.2073 Alzheimer's Association, 2017. Policy Brief: Reducing Potentially Preventable Hospitalizations for People Living with Alzheimer's and Other Dementias [Online]. Available from: https://www.alz.org/media/documents/policy-brief-preventable-hospitalalzheimers.pdf (Accessed: 02/03/2023) Alzheimer's Research UK, 2022. The Impact of Dementia on Women [Online] Available from: https://www.alzheimersresearchuk.org/about-us/our-influence/policywork/reports/the-impact-of-dementia-on-women/ (Accessed: 02/03/2023) Alzheimer's Society (2020). What causes young-onset dementia? [Online] Available from: https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-dementia/types-dementia/what-causes-young-onsetdementia (Accessed: 02/03/2023)

Alzheimer's Society, 2014. Dementia UK: Update (Second edition) [Online][Available from: https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-us/policy-and-influencing/dementia-uk-report (Accessed: 23/02/2023)

Alzheimer's Society, 2018. Carers for people with dementia struggling in silence [Online]. Available from: https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/news/2018-06-22/carers-people-dementiastruggling-silence (Accessed: 23/02/2023)

Alzheimer's Society, 2018. People with dementia in rural communities increasingly isolated. [Online] Available from: https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/news/2018-10-09/people-dementia-rural-communities-increasingly-isolated)Accessed: 02/03/2023)

ALZHEIMER'S SOCIETY, 2020 (2). Worst hit: dementia during coronavirus. [Online] Available from: https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/Worst-hit-

Dementia-during-coronavirus-report.pdf (Accessed 23/02/2023)

Alzheimer's Society, 2020(1). The impact of COVID-19 on People Affected by Dementia

[Online]. Available from: https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-

08/The_Impact_of_COVID-19_on_People_Affected_By_Dementia.pdf (Accessed: 23/02/2023)

ALZHEIMER'S SOCIETY, 2020. *How much does dementia care cost?* [Online] Available from: https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/blog/how-much-does-dementia-care-cost (Accessed 23/02/2023)

Alzheimer's Society, 2021 (2). The progression, signs and stages of dementia [Online] Available from: https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-dementia/symptoms-anddiagnosis/how-dementia-progresses/progression-stages-dementia Accessed: 23/02/2023 Alzheimer's Society, 2021 (2). Treatment for dementia [Online] Available from: https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-dementia/treatments (Accessed: 23/02/2023) Alzheimer's Society, 2021. Increasing access to a dementia diagnosis [Online] Available from: https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-us/policy-and-influencing/increasing-accessdementia-diagnosis Accessed: 23/02/2013

Alzheimer's Society, 2021. The progression, signs and stages of dementia. [Online] Available from: https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-dementia/symptoms-anddiagnosis/how-dementia-progresses/progression-stages-dementia (Accessed: 23/02/2023)

Alzheimer's Society, 2022. Funding for social care to solve crisis 'won't scratch the surface', warns dementia charity [Online] Available from:

https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/news/2022-10-07/funding-social-care-solve-crisis-wontscratch-surface-warns-dementia-charity Accessed: 23/02/2013

ALZHEIMER'S SOCIETY, 2018. Dementia – the true cost: Fixing the care crisis [Online] Available from: https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-us/policy-and-influencing/dementiatrue-cost-fixing-care-crisis Accessed 19/04/2022

ALZHEIMER'S SOCIETY, 2020. What is young-onset dementia? [Online] Available from: https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-dementia/types-dementia/young-onset-dementia Accessed 19/04/2022

Alzheimer's Society, 2021. Emergency admissions from dementia care failures soaring, and worse to come warns charity [Online] Available from:

https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/news/2021-05-17/emergency-admissions-dementia-carefailures-soaring-and-worse-come-warns-charity Accessed 19/04/2022 Andersen CK, Lauridsen J, Andersen K, Kragh-Sørensen P, 2003. Cost of dementia: impact of disease progression estimated in longitudinal data. *Scand J Public Health*. 2003;31(2):119-25. doi: 10.1080/14034940210134059

ANDERSEN CK, LAURIDSEN J, ANDERSEN K. and KRAGH-SØRENSEN P, 2003. Cost of dementia: impact of disease progression estimated in longitudinal data. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, **31**(2), pp. 119-125. DOI: 10.1080/14034940210134059 Aneshensel CS, Pearlin LI, Levy-Storms L and Schuler RH, 2000. The transition from home to nursing home mortality among people with dementia. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*;55(3):S152-62. doi: 10.1093/geronb/55.3.s152

Arapakis K, Brunner E, French E and McCauley J, 2021. Dementia and disadvantage in the USA and England: population-based comparative study. *BMJ Open*;11(10):e045186. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-045186

Archibald, C., Innes, A. and Murphy, C. (2004). Dementia and social inclusion marginalised groups and marginalised areas of dementia research, care and practice / edited by Anthea Innes, Carole Archibald and Charlie Murphy. London ;: Jessica Kingsley. Arsenault-Lapierre G, Bui TX, Le Berre M, Bergman H, Vedel I. Rural and urban differences in quality of dementia care of persons with dementia and caregivers across all domains: a systematic review. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2023 Jan 31;23(1):102. doi: 10.1186/s12913-023-09100-8.

BAIRD AG and WRIGHT N, 2006. Poor access to care: rural health deprivation? The British journal of general practice : the journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners, 56(529), 567–568.

Bambra C, Gibson M, Sowden A, Wright K, Whitehead M and Petticrew M, 2010. Tackling the wider social determinants of health and health inequalities: evidence from systematic reviews. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*; 64:284-291. doi:

10.1136/jech.2008.082743.

BANERJEE S and WITTENBERG R, 2009. The use of antipsychotic medication for people with dementia: Time for action. A report for the Minister of State for Care Services by Professor Sube Banerjee. [Online] Available from:

http://psychrights.org/research/digest/nlps/BanerjeeReportOnGeriatricNeurolepticUse.pdf Accessed: 08/09/2021

BANERJEE S, 2009. The use of antipsychotic medication for people with dementia: Time for action. A report for the Minister of State for Care Services by Professor Sube Banerjee. [Online] Available from:

http://psychrights.org/research/digest/nlps/BanerjeeReportOnGeriatricNeurolepticUse.pdf (Accessed 23/02/2023)

Banerjee S, Murray J, Foley B, Atkins L, Schneider J and Mann A, 2003. Predictors of institutionalisation in people with dementia. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*;74(9):1315-6. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.74.9.1315

Barbosa F, Delerue Matos A, Voss G and Costa P, 2021. Spousal Care and Pain Among the Population Aged 65 Years and Older: A European Analysis. *Front Med (Lausanne)*. 11;8:602276. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.602276

Barnett JH, Lewis L, Blackwell AD, Taylor M, 2014. Early intervention in Alzheimer's disease: a health economic study of the effects of diagnostic timing. *BMC Neurol*.

7;14:101. doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-14-101

BARTLETT R, GJERNES T, LOTHERINGTON A-T and OBSTEFELDER A., 2016.

Gender, citizenship and dementia care: a scoping review of studies to inform policy and future research. Health Soc Care Community, 26: 14-26

Bauer K, Schwarzkopf L, Graessel E and Holle R, 2014. A claims data-based comparison

of comorbidity in individuals with and without dementia. BMC Geriatr 14, 10 (2014).

https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2318-14-10

BAUER M, FETHERSTONHAUGH D, BLACKBERRY I, FARMER J and WILDING C,

2019. Identifying support needs to improve rural dementia services for people with

dementia and their carers: A consultation study in Victoria, Australia. Aust. J. Rural Health, 27: 22-27. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajr.12444

BAYLY M, MORGAN D, FROELICH CHOW A, KOSTENIUK J and ELLIOT V, 2020. Dementia-Related Education and Support Service Availability, Accessibility, and Use in Rural Areas: Barriers and Solutions. Can J Aging, 39(4):545-585. doi:

10.1017/S0714980819000564. Epub 2020 Jan 24. PMID: 31975685.

Bayly M, O'Connell ME, Kortzman A, Peacock S, Morgan DG and Kirk A, 2021. Family carers' narratives of the financial consequences of young onset dementia. *Dementia (London)*;20(8):2708-2724. doi: 10.1177/14713012211009341

Belam G and Nilforooshan R, 2021. The use of artificial intelligence and machine learning in the care of people with dementia: A literature review. *Eur Psychiatry*;64(Suppl 1):S429. doi: 10.1192/j.eurpsy.2021.1144

Bennett HQ, Norton S, Bunn F, Robinson L, Rait G, Goodman C, Brayne C and Matthews FE, 2018. The impact of dementia on service use by individuals with a comorbid health condition: A comparison of two cross-sectional analyses conducted approximately 10 years apart. *BMC Medicine*, **16**(1), 114. DOI: 10.1186/S12916-018-1105-8

Bennett HQ, Norton S, Bunn F, Robinson L, Rait G, Goodman C, Brayne C and Matthews FE, 2018. The impact of dementia on service use by individuals with a comorbid health condition: A comparison of two cross-sectional analyses conducted approximately 10

years apart. BMC Medicine, 16(1), 114. DOI: 10.1186/S12916-018-1105-8

BERTOGG A and STRAUSS S, 2020. Spousal care-giving arrangements in Europe. The role of gender, socio-economic status and the welfare state. Ageing and Society, 40(4), 735-758. doi:10.1017/S0144686X18001320

Black BS, Johnston D, Rabins PV, Morrison A, Lyketsos C, Samus QM, 2013. Unmet needs of community-residing persons with dementia and their informal caregivers: findings from the maximizing independence at home study. *J Am Geriatr Soc*;61(12):2087-2095. doi: 10.1111/jgs.12549

BLACK N, DIXON J, TAN S and KNAPP M, 2015. Black, N., Dixon, J., Tan, S., & Knapp, M., 2015. Improving healthcare for people with dementia in England: good progress but more to do. Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine, 108(12), 478–481.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0141076815600960

Bökberg C, Ahlström G and Karlsson S, 2018. Utilisation of formal and informal care and services at home among persons with dementia: a cross-sectional study. *Scand J Caring Sci.*;32(2):843-851. doi: 10.1111/scs.12515

Bone AE, Evans CJ, Etkind SN, Sleeman KE, Gomes B, Aldridge M, Keep J, Verne J and Higginson IJ, 2019. Factors associated with older people's emergency department attendance towards the end of life: A systematic review. *Eur J Public Health*;29(1):67-74. Bourque M and Foley T, 2020. Improving the Quality of Dementia Care in General Practice: A Qualitative Study. *Front Med (Lausanne)*;7:600586. doi:

10.3389/fmed.2020.600586

Bradford A, Kunik ME, Schulz P, Williams SP and Singh H, 2009. Missed and delayed diagnosis of dementia in primary care: prevalence and contributing factors. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*;23(4):306-14. doi: 10.1097/WAD.0b013e3181a6bebc

Bradford A, Kunik ME, Schulz P, Williams SP and Singh H, 2009. Missed and delayed diagnosis of dementia in primary care: prevalence and contributing factors. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*;23(4):306-14. doi: 10.1097/WAD.0b013e3181a6bebc

BRIGGS R, DYER A, NABEEL S, COLLINS R, DOHERTY J, COUGHLAN T, O'NEILL D and KENNELLY SP, 2017. Dementia in the acute hospital: the prevalence and clinical outcomes of acutely unwell patients with dementia. Great Britain: Oxford University Press. Briggs R, Dyer A, Nabeel S, Collins R, Doherty J, Coughlan T, O'Neill D, Kennelly SP, 2017. Dementia in the acute hospital: the prevalence and clinical outcomes of acutely unwell patients with dementia. *QJM*;110(1):33-37. doi: 10.1093/gjmed/hcw114 British Geriatrics Society, 2018. BGS Response on the Prime Minister's Challenge on Dementia 2020 [Online]. Available from: https://www.bgs.org.uk/policy-and-media/bgsresponse-on-the-prime-ministers-challenge-on-dementia-2020 (Accessed: 23/02/2023) Brodaty H and Donkin M, 2009. Family caregivers of people with dementia. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*;11(2):217-28. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2009.11.2/hbrodaty

BRODATY H, HOWARTH GC and CURRIE SE, 1994. General practice and dementia. *Medical Journal of Australia*, **160**(1), pp. 10-14.

Brodaty, H. and Donkin, M, 2019. Clinical Research. Dialogues in Clinical

Neuroscience;11(2), pp. 217–228.

Broese van Groenou, Marjolein I and De Boer A, 2016. Providing informal care in a changing society. *European Journal of Ageing*;13(3):271-279.

Brown M, Tolson D, Ritchie L, 2020. Changing needs in advanced dementia. *Nurs Older People*. 20. doi: 10.7748/nop.2020.e1204

BROWNE J, EDWARDS DA and RHODES KM, 2017. Association of comorbidity and health service usage among patients with dementia in the UK: a population-based study. BMJ Open 2017;7:e012546. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012546

Bunn F, Burn AM, Goodman C, Rait G, Norton S, Robinson L, Schoeman J and Brayne C, 2014. Comorbidity and dementia: A scoping review of the literature. *BMC Medicine*;12(1).

Bunn F, Burn AM, Goodman C, Robinson L, Rait G, Norton S, Bennett H, Poole M,

Schoeman J and Brayne C, 2016. Comorbidity and dementia: a mixed-method study on improving health care for people with dementia (CoDem). *Health Services and Delivery Research*;4(8):1-156.

Bunn F, Burn AM, Robinson L, Poole M, Rait G, Brayne C, Schoeman J, Norton S, Goodman C, 2017. Healthcare organisation and delivery for people with dementia and comorbidity: a qualitative study exploring the views of patients, carers and professionals. *BMJ Open.* 18;7(1):e013067. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013067 Calvó-Perxas L, de Eugenio RM, Marquez-Daniel F, Martínez R, Serena J, Turbau J, Vilalta-Franch J, Viñas M, Turró-Garriga O, Roig AM, López-Pousa S and Garre-Olmo J, 2012. Profile and variables related to antipsychotic consumption according to dementia subtypes. *International Psychogeriatrics*;24(6):940-947.

Calvó-Perxas L, Turró-Garriga O, Aguirregomozcorta M, Bisbe J, Hernández E, López-Pousa S, Manzano A, Palacios M, Pericot-Nierga I, Perkal H, Ramió L, Vilalta-Franch J and Garre-Olmo J, 2014. Psychotropic drugs in patients with alzheimer's disease: A longitudinal study by the registry of dementias of Girona (ReDeGi) in Catalonia, Spain. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*;15(7):497-503.

Campbell M, Katikireddi SV, Sowden A, McKenzie JE and Thomson H, 2018. Improving Conduct and Reporting of Narrative Synthesis of Quantitative Data (ICONS-Quant): Protocol for a mixed methods study to develop a reporting guideline. *BMJ Open*;8(2):1-5. CASEY JA, SCHWARTZ BS, STEWART WF and ADLER NE, 2016. Using Electronic Health Records for Population Health Research: A Review of Methods and Applications. *Annual Review of Public Health*, **37**, pp. 61-81. doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032315-021353

Catalogue of Bias Collaboration, Bankhead C, Aronson JK and Nunan D, 2017. Attrition bias: Unequal loss of participants from study groups in a trial. [Online] Available from: https://catalogofbias.org/biases/attrition-bias/ Accessed: 23/02/2023

Cerejeira J, Lagarto L and Mukaetova-Ladinska EB, 2012. Behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia. *Frontiers in Neurology*;3, pp. 1–21.

Cermakova P, Nelson M, Secnik J, Garcia-Ptacek S, Johnell K, Fastbom J, Kilander L, Winblad B, Eriksdotter M and Religa D, 2017. Living Alone with Alzheimer's Disease: Data from SveDem, the Swedish Dementia Registry. *J Alzheimer's Dis*;58(4):1265-1272. Chan MS, van den Hout A, Pujades-Rodriguez M, Jones MM, Matthews FE, Jagger C, Raine R, Bajekal M, 2019. Socio-economic inequalities in life expectancy of older adults with and without multimorbidity: a record linkage study of 1.1 million people in England. *International journal of epidemiology,* **48**(4), pp. 1340-1351. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyz052 Chao YH, Huang WY, Tang CH, Pan YA, Chiou JY, Ku LE, Wei JC, 2022. Effects of continuity of care on hospitalizations and healthcare costs in older adults with dementia. *BMC Geriatr.* 2;22(1):724. doi: 10.1186/s12877-022-03407-7

Chase M, Lloyd CEM, Peters BJ, Chase E and Lee K, 2021. Joining the dots: Day to day challenges for practitioners in delivering integrated dementia care. *Health Soc Care Community*;29(4):1061-1071. doi: 10.1111/hsc.13140. Epub 2020 Aug 18 Chen YH, Lai YC, Wu YC, Sasaki J, Tsai KT, Ho CH, 2021. Healthcare Utilization in Different Stages among Patients with Dementia: A Nationwide Population-Based Study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* 26;18(11):5705. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18115705 CHITHIRAMOHAN A, ILIFFE S and KHATTAK I, 2018. Identifying barriers to diagnosing dementia following incentivisation and policy pressures: General practitioners' perspectives. Dementia, 18(2), 514–529. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301216682625 CO M, COUCH E, GAO Q, MARTINEZ A, DAS-MUNSHI J. and PRINA M, 2021. Differences in survival and mortality in minority ethnic groups with dementia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, 2021; 1-24. doi: 10.1002/gps.5590

Connolly A, Gaehl E, Martin H, Morris J and Purandare N, 2011. Underdiagnosis of dementia in primary care: Variations in the observed prevalence and comparisons to the expected prevalence. *Aging Mental Health*;15(8):978-984.

CONNOLLY A, GAEHL E, MARTIN H, MORRIS J and PURNDARE N, 2011.

Underdiagnosis of dementia in primary care: variations in the observed prevalence and comparisons to the expected prevalence. *Aging Ment Health*, 15(8); 978-84. doi:

10.1080/13607863.2011.596805

Connolly A, Iliffe S, Gaehl E, Campbell S, Drake R, Morris J, Martin H and Purandare N, 2012. Quality of care provided to people with dementia: Utilisation and quality of the

annual dementia review in general practice. British Journal of General

Practice;62(595):91-98.

Cookson R, Propper C, Asaria M and Raine R, 2016. Socio-Economic Inequalities in Health Care in England. Fiscal Studies: 37(3-4), 371-403. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-5890.2016.12109.

Cooper C, Lodwick R, Walters K, Raine R, Manthorpe J, Iliffe S and Petersen I, 2016. Observational cohort study: Deprivation and access to anti-dementia drugs in the UK. *Age Ageing*;45(1):148-154.

Cooper C, Lodwick R, Walters K, Raine R, Manthorpe J, Iliffe S and Petersen I, 2017. Inequalities in receipt of mental and physical healthcare in people with dementia in the UK. Age Ageing;46(3):393-400

Cooper C, Lodwick R, Walters K, Raine R, Manthorpe J, Iliffe S and Petersen I, 2017. Inequalities in receipt of mental and physical healthcare in people with dementia in the UK. *Age Ageing*;46(3):393-400

Cooper C, Lodwick R, Walters K, Raine R, Manthorpe J, Iliffe S and Petersen I, 2017. Inequalities in receipt of mental and physical healthcare in people with dementia in the UK. *Age Ageing*;46(3):393-400.

COOPER C, TANDY AR, BALAMURALI TB and LIVINGSTON GA, 2010. A systematic review and meta-analysis of ethnic differences in use of dementia treatment, care, and research. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry, 18(3):193-203. doi: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e3181bf9caf. PMID: 20224516.

Corris, V, Dormer, E, Brown, A, Whitty P, Collingwood P, Bambra C and Newton JL, 2020. Health inequalities are worsening in the North East of England. *British medical bulletin,*

134(1), pp. 63-72. doi: 10.1093/bmb/ldaa008

Cotrell V and Engel RJ, 1999. Living Alone and Depression Among Older Chinese Immigrants. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*;4372(907140962):37-41. CPRD, 2021. CPRD Aurum Data Specification: Version 2.5: Date: 21 January 2021. [Online] Available from:

https://www.cprd.com/sites/default/files/CPRD%20Aurum%20Data%20Specification%20v 2.6.pdf (Accessed 23/02/2023)

CPRD, 2021. CPRD Aurum Data Specification: Version 2.5: Date: 21 January 2021.

[Online] Available from:

https://www.cprd.com/sites/default/files/CPRD%20Aurum%20Data%20Specification%20v 2.6.pdf (Accessed 23/02/2023)

CREAVIN ST, NOEL-STORR AH, RICHARD R, CREAVIN AL, CULLUM S, BEN-

SHLOMO Y and PURDY S, 2017. Clinical judgement by primary care physicians for the diagnosis of all-cause dementia or cognitive impairment in symptomatic people. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2017(2), CD012558.

https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD012558

Curelaru A, Marzolf SJ, Provost JKG, Zeon HHH, 2021. Social Isolation in Dementia: The Effects of COVID-19. *J Nurse Pract*,17(8):950-953. doi: 10.1016/j.nurpra.2021.05.002 Curnow E, Rush R, Maciver D, Górska S, Forsyth K, 2021. Exploring the needs of people with dementia living at home reported by people with dementia and informal caregivers: a systematic review and Meta-analysis. *Aging Ment Health*;25(3):397-407. doi:

10.1080/13607863.2019.1695741

Dahlgren G and Whitehead M, 1991. Policies and Strategies to Promote Social Equity in Health. Background document to WHO – Strategy paper for Europe. Arbetsrapport 2007:14, Institute for Futures Studies.

DAL BELLO-HAS VP, CAMMER A, MORGAN D, STEWART N and KOSTENIUK J, 2014. Rural and remote dementia care challenges and needs: perspectives of formal and informal care providers residing in Saskatchewan, Canada. Rural Remote Health, 14(3):2747. Epub 2014 Aug 1. https://doi.org/10.22605/RRH2747 Daley S, Farina N, Hughes L, Armsby E, Akarsu N, Pooley J, Towson G, Feeney Y, Tabet N, Fine B, Banerjee S, 2022. Covid-19 and the quality of life of people with dementia and their carers-The TFD-C19 study. *PLoS One*;17(1):e0262475. doi:

10.1371/journal.pone.0262475

Dash, S, Shakyawar, SK, Sharma, M and Kaushik, S, 2019. Big data in healthcare: management, analysis and future prospects. *J Big Data*, 6, 54.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s40537-019-0217-0.

Dawson A, Bowes A, Kelly F, Velzke K and Ward R, 2015. Evidence of what works to support and sustain care at home for people with dementia: A literature review with a systematic approach. *BMC Geriatrics*; 15(1), p. 59.

Dawson A, Bowes A, Kelly F, Velzke K and Ward R, 2015. Evidence of what works to support and sustain care at home for people with dementia: A literature review with a systematic approach. *BMC Geriatrics*; 15(1), p. 59.

de Oliveira AM, Radanovic M, de Mello PC, Buchain PC, Vizzotto AD, Celestino DL, Stella

F, Piersol CV, Forlenza OV, 2015. Nonpharmacological Interventions to Reduce

Behavioral and Psychological Symptoms of Dementia: A Systematic Review. *BioMed*

research international, 2015, pp. 218980. doi: 10.1155/2015/218980

de Vugt ME and Verhey FR, 2013. The impact of early dementia diagnosis and

intervention on informal caregivers. Prog Neurobiol;110:54-62. doi:

10.1016/j.pneurobio.2013.04.005

de Vugt ME and Verhey FR, 2013. The impact of early dementia diagnosis and intervention on informal caregivers. *Prog Neurobiol*;110:54-62. doi:

10.1016/j.pneurobio.2013.04.005

Delgado J, Bowman K, Clare L, 2020. Potentially inappropriate prescribing in dementia: a state-of-the-art review since 2007. *BMJ Open*. 2;10(1):e029172. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-029172

DELGADO J, EVANS PH, GRAY DP, SIDEWAY-LEE K, ALLAN L, CLARE L, BALLARD C, MASOLI J, VALDERAS JM and MELZER D, 2022. Continuity of GP care for patients with dementia: impact on prescribing and the health of patients. Br J Gen Pract,

72(715):e91-e98. doi: 10.3399/BJGP.2021.0413. PMID: 35074796

DELGADO J, EVANS PH, GRAY DP, SIDEWAY-LEE K, ALLAN L, CLARE L, BALLARD

C, MASOLI J, VALDERAS JM and MELZER D, 2022. Continuity of GP care for patients

with dementia: impact on prescribing and the health of patients. Br J Gen Pract,

72(715):e91-e98. doi: 10.3399/BJGP.2021.0413. PMID: 35074796

Dementia Statistics Hub, Alzheimer's Research UK, 2022 (2). Prevalence projections in the UK. [Online] Available from: https://dementiastatistics.org/statistics/prevalence-projections-in-the-uk-2/ (Accessed: 23/02/2023)

Dementia Statistics Hub, Alzheimer's Research UK, 2022. Deaths due to dementia.

[Online] Available from: https://dementiastatistics.org/statistics/deaths-due-to-dementia/ (Accessed: 23/02/2023)

Dementia Statistics Hub, Alzheimer's Research UK, 2022. Prevalence projections in the

UK. [Online] Available from: https://dementiastatistics.org/statistics/prevalence-projections-

in-the-uk-2/ (Accessed: 23/02/2023)

DementiaUK, 2022. What is young onset dementia [Online]. Available from:

https://www.dementiauk.org/about-dementia/young-onset-dementia/what-is-young-onsetdementia/ Accessed 19/04/2022

Department of Health and Social Care, 2015. Prime Minister's challenge on dementia 2020. [Online] Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prime-ministers-challenge-on-dementia-2020 (Accessed: 23/02/2023)

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE, 2016. Prime Minister's challenge on Dementia 2020: Implementation Plan. [Online] Available from:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/challenge-on-dementia-2020-implementationplan (Accessed 23/02/2023) DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE, 2016. Prime Minister's challenge on Dementia 2020: Implementation Plan. [Online] Available from:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/challenge-on-dementia-2020-implementationplan Accessed: 08/09/2021

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE, 2016. Prime Minister's challenge on Dementia 2020: Implementation Plan. [Online] Available from:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/challenge-on-dementia-2020-implementationplan Accessed: 23/02/2023

Department of Health and Social Care, 2022. Health Secretary announces 10-year plan for dementia [Online]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/healthsecretary-announces-10-year-plan-for-dementia (Accessed: 23/02/2023) Dilworth-Anderson P, Moon, H and Aranda, MP, 2020. Dementia Caregiving Research: Expanding and Reframing the Lens of Diversity, Inclusivity, and Intersectionality. *The Gerontologist*, 60(5), 797–805. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnaa050.

Divo MJ, Martinez CH and Mannino DM, 2014. Ageing and the epidemiology of multimorbidity. *Eur Respir J*;44(4):1055-68. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00059814 Dodd E, Pracownik R, Popel S, Collings S, Emmens T, Cheston R, 2022. Dementia

services for people from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic and White-British communities:

Does a primary care based model contribute to equality in service provision? Health Soc

Care Community;30(2):622-630. doi: 10.1111/hsc.13167

Donegan K, Fox N, Black N, Livingston G, Banerjee S and Burns A, 2017. Trends in diagnosis and treatment for people with dementia in the UK from 2005 to 2015: a longitudinal retrospective cohort study. *The Lancet Public Health*;2(3):e149-e156.

DUMMER TJ, 2008. Health geography: supporting public health policy and planning.

CMAJ : Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale

canadienne, 178(9), 1177–1180. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.071783
DURAN-KIRAC G, UYSAL-BOZKIR O, UITTENBROEK R, VAN HOUT H and BROESE VAN GROENOU MI, 2022. Accessibility of health care experienced by persons with dementia from ethnic minority groups and formal and informal caregivers: A scoping review of European literature. Dementia, 21(2):677-700. doi:10.1177/14713012211055307 Dyer SM, Suen J, Williams H, Inacio MC, Harvey G, Roder D, Wesselingh S, Kellie A, Crotty M, Caughey GE, 2022. Impact of relational continuity of primary care in aged care: a systematic review. *BMC Geriatr*.14;22(1):579. doi: 10.1186/s12877-022-03131-2 Eriksson H, Fereshtehnejad S, Falahati F, Farahmand B, Religa D and Eriksdotter M, 2014. Differences in routine clinical practice between early and late onset Alzheimer's disease: data from the Swedish Dementia Registry (SveDem). *Journal of Alzheimer's disease*; 41(2):411-419.

Eyles E, Redaniel MT, Purdy S, Tilling K, Ben-Shlomo Y. Associations of GP practice characteristics with the rate of ambulatory care sensitive conditions in people living with dementia in England: an ecological analysis of routine data. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2021 Jun 29;21(1):613. doi: 10.1186/s12913-021-06634-7.

Fereshtehnejad SM, Damangir S, Cermakova P, Aarsland D, Eriksdotter M and Religa D, 2014. Comorbidity profile in dementia with Lewy bodies versus Alzheimer's disease: A linkage study between the Swedish dementia registry and the Swedish National Patient Registry. *Alzheimer's Research and Therapy*;6(5-8):1-14.

Fereshtehnejad SM, Johannsen P, Waldemar G and Eriksdotter M, 2015. Dementia diagnosis, treatment, and care in specialist clinics in two scandinavian countries: A data comparison between the swedish dementia registry (SveDem) and the danish dementia registry. *J Alzheimer's Dis*;48(1):229-239.

Fillenbaum G, Heyman A, Peterson BL, Pieper CF and Weiman AL, 2001. Use and cost of outpatient visits of AD patients: CERAD XXII. *Neurology*;56(12):1706-1711.

FOGG C, MEREDITH P, BRIDGES J, GOULD GP and GRIFFITHS, P, 2017. The relationship between cognitive impairment, mortality and discharge characteristics in a

large cohort of older adults with unscheduled admissions to an acute hospital: a retrospective observational study. *Age and Ageing*, **46**(5), pp.794-807. doi:

0.1093/ageing/afx022

Fong TG, Jones RN, Marcantonio ER, Tommet D, Gross AL, Habtemariam D, Schmitt E, Yap L, Inouye SK, 2012. Adverse Outcomes After Hospitalization and Delirium in Persons With Alzheimer Disease. *Ann Intern Med*;156(12):848-W296.

Fortinsky RH, Zlateva I, Delaney C, Kleppinger A, 2010. Primary care physicians' dementia care practices: evidence of geographic variation. *Gerontologist*,50(2):179-91. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnp106

Fox C, Lafortune L, Boustani M, Brayne C, 2013. The pros and cons of early diagnosis in dementia. *Br J Gen Pract.*;63(612):e510-2. doi: 10.3399/bjgp13X669374 Frahm-Falkenberg S, Ibsen R, Kjellberg J and Jennum P, 2016. Health, social and economic consequences of dementias: a comparative national cohort study. *European Journal of Neurology*;23(9):1400-1407.

GAMBASSI G, LAPANE KL, LANDI F, SGADARI A, MOR V and BERNABEI R, 1999. Gender differences in the relation between comorbidity and mortality of patients with Alzheimer's disease, Neurology, 53 (3) 508; https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.53.3.508 Gamble LD, Matthews FE, Jones IR, Hillman AE, Woods B, Macleod CA, Martyr A, Collins R, Pentecost C, Rusted JM and Clare L, 2022. Characteristics of people living with undiagnosed dementia: findings from the CFAS Wales study. BMC Geriatr 22, 409. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-022-03086-4

Gaugler JE, Kane RL, Kane RA, Newcomer R, 2005. The longitudinal effects of early behavior problems in the dementia caregiving career. *Psychol Aging*;20(1):100-16. doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.20.1.100

Gaugler JE, Pot AM, Zarit SH, 2007. Long-term adaptation to institutionalization in dementia caregivers. *Gerontologist*,47(6):730-40. doi: 10.1093/geront/47.6.730

George J, Long S and Vincent C, 2013. How can we keep patients with dementia safe in our acute hospitals? A review of challenges and solutions. *J R Soc Med*;106(9):355-361. Gerritsen AA, Bakker C, Verhey FR, de Vugt ME, Melis RJ and Koopmans RT, 2016; 4C study team. Prevalence of Comorbidity in Patients With Young-Onset Alzheimer Disease Compared With Late-Onset: A Comparative Cohort Study. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*;

1;17(4):318-23. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2015.11.011

GERRITSEN AAJ, BAKKER C, VERHEY FRJ, PIJNENBURG YAL, MILLENAAR JK, DE VUGT ME and KOOPMANS RTCM, 2019. Survival and life-expectancy in a young-onset dementia cohort with six years of follow-up: the NeedYD-study. Int Psychogeriatr, 31(12):1781-1789. doi:

Gianattasio KZ, Prather C, Glymour MM, Ciarleglio A and Power MC, 2019. Racial disparities and temporal trends in dementia misdiagnosis risk in the United States. *Alzheimers Dement (N Y)*;5:891-898. doi: 10.1016/j.trci.2019.11.008

Giebel, CM, Sutcliffe C and Challis D, 2015. Activities of daily living and quality of life across different stages of dementia: a UK study. *Aging Ment Health*;19(1):63-71. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2014.915920

GIEBEL C, 2020. "Current dementia care: what are the difficulties and how can we advance care globally?" BMC Health Serv Res 20, 414. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05307-1

Giebel C, Cannon J, Hanna K, Butchard S, Eley R, Gaughan A, Komuravello A, Shenton J, Callaghan S, Tetlow H, Limbert S, Whittington R, Rogers C, Rajagopal M, Ward K, Shaw L, Corcoran R, Bennett K and Gabbay M, 2021. Impact of COVID-19 related social support service closures on people with dementia and unpaid carers: a qualitative study, *Aging & Mental Health*, 25:7, 1281-1288, DOI: 10.1080/13607863.2020.1822292 GIEBEL C, EASTHAM C, CANNON J, WILSON J, WILSON J and PEARSON A, 2020. Evaluating a young-onset dementia service from two sides of the coin: staff and service

user perspectives. BMC Health Serv Res 20, 187. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-5027-8

Giebel C, Hanna K, Cannon J, Eley R, Tetlow H, Gaughan A, Komuravelli A, Shenton J, Rogers C, Butchard S, Callaghan S, Limbert S, Rajagopal M, Ward K, Shaw L, Whittington R, Hughes M and Gabbay M, 2020. Decision-making for receiving paid home care for dementia in the time of COVID-19: a qualitative study. BMC Geriatr 20, 333. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-020-01719-0

Giebel C, Hanna K., Tetlow H, Ward K, Shenton J, Cannon J, Butchard S, Komuravelli A, Gaughan A, Eley R, Rogers C, Rajagopal M, Limbert S, Callaghan, Whittington R, Shaw L and Gabbay M, 2021 (2). "A piece of paper is not the same as having someone to talk to": accessing post-diagnostic dementia care before and since COVID-19 and associated inequalities. Int J Equity Health 20, 76 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-021-01418-1 Giebel C, Hanna K., Tetlow H, Ward K, Shenton J, Cannon J, Butchard S, Komuravelli A, Gaughan A, Eley R, Rogers C, Rajagopal M, Limbert S, Callaghan, Whittington R, Shaw L and Gabbay M, 2021 (2). "A piece of paper is not the same as having someone to talk to": accessing post-diagnostic dementia care before and since COVID-19 and associated inequalities. Int J Equity Health 20, 76 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-021-01418-1 GIEBEL C, SUTCLIFFE C, DARLINGTON-POLLOCK F, GREEN MA, AKPAN A, DICKINSON J, WATSON J and GABBAY M, 2021. Health Inequities in the Care Pathways for People Living with Young- and Late-Onset Dementia: From Pre-COVID-19 to Early Pandemic. International journal of environmental research and public health, 18(2), 686. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18020686 GIEBEL C, SUTCLIFFE C, DARLINGTON-POLLOCK F, GREEN MA, AKPAN A,

DICKINSON J, WATSON J and GABBAY M, 2021. Health Inequities in the Care Pathways for People Living with Young- and Late-Onset Dementia: From Pre-COVID-19 to Early Pandemic. International journal of environmental research and public health, 18(2), 686. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18020686 Giebel CM, Flanagan E, Sutcliffe C, 2019. Predictors of finance management in dementia: managing bills and taxes matters. *Int Psychogeriatr*,31(2):277-286. doi:

10.1017/S1041610218000820

Giebel CM, Zubair M, Jolley D, Bhui KS, Purandare N, Worden A and Challis D, 2015. South Asian older adults with memory impairment: Improving assessment and access to dementia care. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*;30(4):345-356.

Gillette-Guyonnet S, Andrieu S, Nourhashemi F, Gardette V, Coley N, Cantet C, Gauthier S, Ousset PJ and Vellas B, 2011. Long-term progression of Alzheimer's disease in patients under antidementia drugs. *Alzheimer's and Dementia*;7(6):579-592.

Gilmore-Bykovskyi AL, Jin Y, Gleason C, Flowers-Benton S, Block LM, Dilworth-Anderson P, Barnes LL, Shah MN and Zuelsdorff M, 2019. Recruitment and retention of underrepresented populations in Alzheimer's disease research: A systematic review. *Alzheimers Dement*, 19;5:751-770. doi: 10.1016/j.trci.2019.09.018.

GLIKLICH RE, LEAVY MB, DREYER NA, L&M POLICY RESEARCH and CHRISTIAN J,

2018. 21st Century Patient Registries: EBook Addendum to Registries for Evaluating Patient Outcomes: A User's Guide, 3rd Edition. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. [Online] Available from: https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/products/registries-guide-3rd-edition-addendum/research-2018 (Accessed 23/02/2023)

GODDARD M, KASTERIDIS P, JACOBS R, SANTOS R and MASON A, 2016. Bridging the gap: The impact of quality of primary care on duration of hospital stay for people with dementia. *Journal of Integrated Care*, **24**(1), pp. 15-25.

GOVERNMENT OFFICE FOR SCIENCE, 2016. Future of an Ageing Population. Oxford, England: Oxford Institute of Population Ageing; 124.

Government Office for Science, 2016. Future of an Ageing Population. *The Oxford Institute of Population Ageing*:124-124. (Accessed: 23/02/2023) Grand JH, Caspar S and Macdonald SW, 2011. Clinical features and multidisciplinary approaches to dementia care. *J Multidiscip Healthc*. 2011;4:125-47. doi:

10.2147/JMDH.S17773

Griffith LE, Gruneir A, Fisher K, Panjwani D, Gandhi S, Sheng L, Gafni A, Patterson C, Markle-Reid M and Ploeg J, 2016. Patterns of health service use in community living older adults with dementia and comorbid conditions: a population-based retrospective cohort study in Ontario, Canada. *BMC Geriatrics*, **16**. doi: 10.1186/s12877-016-0351-x GRUER L, Cézard G, Clark E, Douglas, Steiner M, Millard A, Buchanan D, Katikireddi SV, Sheikh A and Bhopal R, 2016. Life expectancy of different ethnic groups using death records linked to population census data for 4.62 million people in Scotland. *Journal of epidemiology and community health*, **70**(12), pp. 1251-1254. doi: 10.1136/jech-2016-207426

Gungabissoon U, Perera G, Galwey NW and Stewart R, 2022. Potentially avoidable causes of hospitalisation in people with dementia: contemporaneous associations by stage of dementia in a South London clinical cohort. *BMJ Open*;12(4):e055447. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-055447

Gungabissoon U, Perera G, Galwey NW, Stewart R, 2020. The association between dementia severity and hospitalisation profile in a newly assessed clinical cohort: the South London and Maudsley case register. *BMJ Open.* 12;10(4):e035779. doi:

10.1136/bmjopen-2019-035779

GUPTA S, FIERTAG O and WARNER J, 2009. Rare and unusual dementias. Advances in Psychiatric Treatment, 15(5), 364-371. doi:10.1192/apt.bp.107.003558 Gustavsson A, Van Der Putt R, Jonsson L and McShane R, 2009. Economic evaluation of cholinesterase inhibitor therapy for dementia: comparison of Alzheimer's Disease and Dementia with Lewy bodies. *Clinical Interventions in Aging*;24:1072-1078. Hackett RA, Steptoe A, Cadar D and Fancourt D, 2019. Social engagement before and after dementia diagnosis in the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *PLoS ONE*;14(8):1-12.

Haenssgen MJ and Ariana P, 2016. Healthcare access: A sequence-sensitive approach. *SSM Popul Health*. 30;3:37-47. doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2016.11.008

HANDLEY M, BUNN F and GOODMAN C, 2017. Dementia-friendly interventions to improve the care of people living with dementia admitted to hospitals: a realist review. *BMJ OPEN*, **7**(7), pp. e015257. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-015257

Harari L and Lee C, 2022. Intersectionality in quantitative health disparities research: A systematic review of challenges and limitations in empirical studies. *Soc Sci Med.* 2021 May;277:113876. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.113876.

Hartz S, Getsios D, Tao S, Blume S and Maclaine G, 2012. Evaluating the cost effectiveness of donepezil in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease in Germany using discrete event simulation. *BMC Neurology*;12(1):2-2.

Hawkins NM, Scholes S, Bajekal M, Love H, O'Flaherty M, Raine R and Capewell S, 2012. Community Care in England: Reducing Socioeconomic Inequalities in Heart Failure. *Circulation (New York, N.Y.)*, **126**(9), pp. 1050-1057. doi:

10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.088047

Hazzan AA, Dauenhauer J, Follansbee P, Hazzan JO, Allen K, Omobepade I, 2022. Family caregiver quality of life and the care provided to older people living with dementia: qualitative analyses of caregiver interviews. *BMC Geriatr*,22(1):86. doi: 10.1186/s12877-022-02787-0

Head A, Fleming K, Kypridemos C, Schofield P, Pearson-Stuttard J and O'Flaherty M, 2021. Inequalities in incident and prevalent multimorbidity in England, 2004–19: a population-based, descriptive study. *The Lancet Healthy Longevity*. 2(8), 489-497. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2666-7568(21)00146-X</u>

Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA (editors). *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* version 6.3 (updated
February 2022). Cochrane, 2022. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.
Hilbe, J.M. (2007) Negative Binomial Regression. *Cambridge University Press*. Available
at: https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511811852.

HINDORFF LA, BONHAM VL and OHNO-MACHADO L, 2018. Enhancing diversity to reduce health information disparities and build an evidence base for genomic medicine. *PERSONALIZED MEDICINE*, **15**(5), pp. 403-412. doi: 10.2217/pme-2018-0037 Hine C, Nilforooshan R and Barnaghi P, 2022. Ethical considerations in design and implementation of home-based smart care for dementia. *Nurs Ethics*;29(4):1035-1046. doi: 10.1177/09697330211062980

Hirschman KB, Hodgson NA, 2018. Evidence-Based Interventions for Transitions in Care for Individuals Living With Dementia. *Gerontologist.* 18;58(suppl_1):S129-S140. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnx152

HOANG MT, KAREHOLT I, VON KOCH L, XU H, SECNIK J, RELIGA D, TAN EDK, JOHNELL K and GARCIA-PTACEK S, 2021. Socioeconomic inequalities in dementia diagnostic process and medication prescription: Experience from the Swedish Dementia Registry. Alzheimer's Dement., 17: e049802. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.049802 Holman D, Bell A, Green M and Salway S, 2022. Neighbourhood deprivation and intersectional inequalities in biomarkers of healthy ageing in England. *Health Place*;77:102871. doi: 10.1016/j.healthplace.2022.102871

Hu B, Read S, Wittenberg R, Brimblecombe N, Rodrigues R, Banerjee S, Dixon J, Robinson L, Rehill A and Fernandez J-L, 2022. Socioeconomic inequality of long-term care for older people with and without dementia in England. *Ageing & Society*, 1-21. doi:10.1017/S0144686X22000885 Huang Y, Macera CA, Cornman CB, Davis DR, Scott WK and Neff L, 1994. Survival of Alzheimer's disease patients with regard to pattern of care in South Carolina, 1988-1993. *J S C Med Assoc*;90(2):51-55.

HUSAINI B, GUDLAVALLETI AS, CAIN V, LEVINE R and MOONIS M, 2015. Risk Factors and Hospitalization Costs of Dementia Patients: Examining Race and Gender Variations. Indian journal of community medicine: official publication of Indian Association of Preventive & Social Medicine, 40(4), 258–263. https://doi.org/10.4103/0970-0218.164396. IFS, 2022. Does funding follow need? An analysis of the geographic distribution of public spending in England [Online]. Available from: https://ifs.org.uk/publications/does-fundingfollow-need-analysis-geographic-distribution-public-spending-england

Iliffe S, Robinson L, Brayne C, Goodman C, Rait G, Manthorpe J and Ashley P, 2009.
DeNDRoN Primary Care Clinical Studies Group. Primary care and dementia: 1. diagnosis, screening and disclosure. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*;24(9):895-901. doi: 10.1002/gps.2204
Innes A, Morgan D, and Farmer J, 2020. (Eds.) *Remote and Rural Dementia Care: Policy, Research and Practice*. Bristol University Press. doi:10.46692/9781447344964
Institute of Health Equity, 2010. Fair Society, Healthy Lives (The Marmot Review) [Online].
Available from: https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review (Accessed: 06/03/2023)

Institute of Health Equity, 2020. Marmot Review 10 Years On [Online]. Available from: <u>https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/marmot-review-10-years-on</u> (Accessed: 06/03/2023)

JAMES T, MUKADAM N, SOMMERLAD A, GUERRA CEBALLOS S and LIVINGSTON G, 2021. Culturally tailored therapeutic interventions for people affected by dementia: a systematic review and new conceptual model. *The Lancet Healthy Longevity*, **2**(3), pp. e171-e179. doi: 10.1016/S2666-7568(21)00001-5

Javaid M, Haleem A, Pratap Singh R, Suman R and Rab S, 2022. Significance of machine learning in healthcare: Features, pillars and applications. International Journal of Intelligent Networks; 3, 55-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijin.2022.05.002

Jennings LA, Laffan AM, Schlissel AC, Colligan E, Tan Z, Wenger NS, Reuben DB, 2019. Health Care Utilization and Cost Outcomes of a Comprehensive Dementia Care Program for Medicare Beneficiaries. *JAMA Intern Med* 1;179(2):161-166. doi:

10.1001/jamainternmed.2018.5579

JITLAL M, AMIRTHALINGHAM CNK, KARANIA T, PARRY E, NEIGAN A, DOBSON R, NOYCE AJ and MARSHALL CR, 2021. The Influence of Socioeconomic Deprivation on Dementia Mortality, Age at Death, and Quality of Diagnosis: A Nationwide Death Records Study in England and Wales 2001-2017. J Alzheimers Dis, 81(1):321-328. doi:

10.3233/JAD-210089. PMID: 33780372.

Johnell K, Religa D and Eriksdotter M, 2013. Differences in drug therapy between dementia disorders in the swedish dementia registry: A nationwide study of over 7,000 patients. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*;35(5-6):239-248.

Kahle-Wrobleski K, Andrews JS, Belger M, Ye W, Gauthier S, Rentz DM and Galasko D, 2017. Dependence Levels as Interim Clinical Milestones Along the Continuum of Alzheimer's Disease: 18-Month Results from the GERAS Observational Study. *The journal of prevention of Alzheimer's disease*;4(2):72-80.

Kassahun WT, 2018. The effects of pre-existing dementia on surgical outcomes in emergent and nonemergent general surgical procedures: Assessing differences in surgical risk with dementia. *BMC Geriatrics*;18(1):1-9.

Kasteridis P, Mason A, Goddard M, Jacobs R, Santos R, Rodriguez-Sanchez B,

McGonigal G, 2016. Risk of Care Home Placement following Acute Hospital Admission:

Effects of a Pay-for-Performance Scheme for Dementia. *PLoS One*. 26;11(5):e0155850.

doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155850

Kelly, E and Stoye, G, 2014. GP Practice Size and Quality of Primary Care. Institute for Fiscal Studies [Online] Available from: https://ifs.org.uk/publications/does-gp-practice-sizematter-gp-practice-size-and-quality-primary-care (Accessed: 23/02/2023) Kenning C, Daker-White G, Blakemore A, Panagioti M and Waheed W, 2017. Barriers and facilitators in accessing dementia care by ethnic minority groups: a meta-synthesis of qualitative studies. *BMC Psychiatry* 17, 316. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-017-1474-Kenning C, Daker-White G, Blakemore A, Panagioti M and Waheed W, 2017. Barriers and facilitators in accessing dementia care by ethnic minority groups: A meta-synthesis of qualitative studies. *BMC Psychiatry* 17, 17(1).

Kilty C, Cahill S, Foley T and Fox S, 2023. Young onset dementia: implications for employment and finances. *Dementia (London)*;22(1):68-84. doi:

10.1177/14713012221132374

Kim JH and Lee Y, 2020. Potentially Avoidable Hospitalization among Long-Term Care Insurance Beneficiaries with Dementia. *Korean J Fam Med*;41(5):318-324. doi:

10.4082/kjfm.18.0184. Epub 2020 Apr 22

Kim SK and Park M, 2017. Effectiveness of person-centered care on people with dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Interv Aging* 17;12:381-397. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S117637

KING'S FUND, 2018. The NHS at 70: What's the problem with social care, and why do we need to do better? [Online] Available from: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/nhs-70-whats-the-problem-with-social-care Accessed 19/04/2022

KING'S FUND, 2021. The health of people from ethnic minority groups in England [Online] Available from: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minoritygroups-england Accessed 19/04/2022

Klinger EV, Carlini SV, Gonzalez I, Hubert SS, Linder JA, Rigotti NA, Kontos EZ, Park ER, Marinacci LX and Haas JS, 2015. Accuracy of race, ethnicity, and language preference in an electronic health record. *Journal of general internal medicine*, **30**(6), pp. 719-723. doi: 10.1007/s11606-014-3102-8

Knapp M, Chua KC, Broadbent M, Chang CK, Fernandez JL, Milea D, Romeo R, Lovestone S, Spencer M, Thompson G, Stewart R and Hayes RD, 2016. Predictors of care home and hospital admissions and their costs for older people with Alzheimer's disease: Findings from a large London case register. *BMJ Open*;6(11):1-15. Knapp M, Chua KC, Broadbent M, Chang CK, Fernandez JL, Milea D, Romeo R, Lovestone S, Spencer M, Thompson G, Stewart R and Hayes RD, 2016. Predictors of care home and hospital admissions and their costs for older people with Alzheimer's disease: Findings from a large London case register. *BMJ Open*;6(11):1-15 KOEDAM EL, LAUFFER V, VAN DER VLIES AE, VAN DER FLIER WM, SCHELTENS P and PIJNENBURG, YA, 2010. Early-versus late-onset Alzheimer's disease: more than age alone. J Alzheimers Dis. 19(4):1401-8. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-1337.

Korhonen K, Einio E, Leinonen T, Tarkiainen L and Martikainen P, 2018. Time-varying effects of socio-demographic and economic factors on the use of institutional long-term care before dementia-related death: A Finnish register-based study. *PLoS ONE*;13(6):1-16.

KORHONEN K, EINIÖ E, TARKIAINEN L, MARTIKAINEN P and LEINONEN T, 2020. Midlife socioeconomic position and old-age dementia mortality: A large prospective register-based study from Finland. *BMJ Open*, **10**(1). doi 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-033234 KUAN V, Denaxas S, Gonzalez-Izquierdo A, Direk K, Bhatti O, Husain S, Sutaria S, Hingorani M, Nitsch D, Parasinos CA, Lumbers RT, Mathur R, Sofat R, Casaslan JP, Wong CK, Hemingway H and Hingorani AD, 2019. A chronological map of 308 physical and mental health conditions from 4 million individuals in the English National Health Service. *The Lancet Digital Health*, **1**(2), pp. e63-e77. doi: 10.1016/S2589-7500(19)30012-

3

Lane NE, Ling V, Glazier RH, Stukel TA, 2021. Primary care physician volume and quality of care for older adults with dementia: a retrospective cohort study. *BMC Fam Pract.* 9:22(1):51. doi: 10.1186/s12875-021-01398-9

Leist AK, 2017. Social Inequalities in Dementia Care, Cure, and Research. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 65: 1100-1101. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.14893

Leniz J, Higginson IJ, Stewart R and Sleeman KE, 2019. Understanding which people with dementia are at risk of inappropriate care and avoidable transitions to hospital near the end-of-life: a retrospective cohort study. *Age Ageing*;48(5):672-679. doi:

10.1093/ageing/afz052

Lennox-Chhugani N, 2022. Artificial intelligence as a driver of shifting power towards patients – How could new technology enable integrated person-centered care?. *International Journal of Integrated Care*;22(S1):24. DOI:

http://doi.org/10.5334/ijic.ICIC21013

Lewis G, Werbeloff N, Hayes JF, Howard R and Osborn DPJ, 2018. Diagnosed depression and sociodemographic factors as predictors of mortality in patients with dementia. *Br J Psychiatry*. 2018 Aug;213(2):471-476. doi: 10.1192/bjp.2018.86.

Lim RH, Sharmeen T. Medicines management issues in dementia and coping strategies used by people living with dementia and family carers: A systematic review. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2018 Dec;33(12):1562-1581. doi: 10.1002/gps.4985

LIN KA, CHOUDHURY KR, RATHAKRISHNAN BG, MARKS DM, PETRELLA JR and DORAISWARMY PM, 2015. Marked gender differences in progression of mild cognitive impairment over 8 years. Alzheimer's & dementia (New York, N. Y.), 1(2), 103–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trci.2015.07.001

LIN P-J, DALY A, OLCHANSKI N, COEN JT, NEUMANN PJ, FAUL JD, FILLIT HM and FREUND KM, 2020. Dementia diagnosis disparities by race and ethnicity. Alzheimer's Dement., 16: e043183. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.043183

Lin PJ, Daly AT, Olchanski N, Cohen JT, Neumann PJ, Faul JD, Fillit HM and Freund KMm 2021. Dementia Diagnosis Disparities by Race and Ethnicity. *Med Care*;59(8):679-686. doi: 10.1097/MLR.00000000001577

Lindeza P, Rodrigues M, Costa J, Geurreiro M and Rosa MM, 2020. Impact of dementia on informal care: a systematic review of family caregivers' perceptions. *BMJ Support Palliat Care*. 2020 Oct 14:bmjspcare-2020-002242. doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2020-002242 Liu Q, Vaci N, Koychev I, Kormilitzin A, Li Z, Cipriani A, Nevado-Holgado A, 2022. Personalised treatment for cognitive impairment in dementia: development and validation of an artificial intelligence model. *BMC Med*. 1;20(1):45. doi: 10.1186/s12916-022-02250-2 Local Government Association, 2021. Dementia Action Week, House of Commons, 27 May 2021 [Online]. Available from: https://www.local.gov.uk/parliament/briefings-andresponses/dementia-action-week-house-commons-27-may-2021 (Accessed: 23/02/2023) LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION. (2017). *Health and Wellbeing in rural areas*. [Online] Available from:

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/1.39_Health%20in%20rural%20area s_WEB.pdf (Accessed 23/02/2023)

LOVHEIM H, SANDMAN P, KARLSSON S and GUSTAFSON Y, 2009. Sex differences in the prevalence of behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia. International Psychogeriatrics, 21(3), 469-475. doi:10.1017/S1041610209008497.

LU ZK, XIONG X, WANG X and WU J, 2021. Gender Disparities in Anti-dementia Medication Use among Older Adults: Health Equity Considerations and Management of Alzheimer's Disease and Related Dementias. Frontiers in pharmacology, 12, 706762. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.706762

Luckmann R. Evidence-Based Medicine: How to Practice and Teach EBM, 2nd Edition: By David L. Sackett, Sharon E. Straus, W. Scott Richardson, William Rosenberg, and R. Brian Haynes, Churchill Livingstone, 2000. Journal of Intensive Care Medicine. 2001;16(3):155-156. doi:10.1177/088506660101600307 LYKETSOS CG, STEELE C, GALIK E, ROSENBLATT A, STEINBERG M, WARREN A and SHEPPARD JM, 1999. Physical aggression in dementia patients and its relationship to depression. Am J Psychiatry, 156(1):66-71. doi: 10.1176/ajp.156.1.66. PMID: 9892299. Ma C, Bao S, Dull P, Wu B, Yu F, 2019. Hospital readmission in persons with dementia: A systematic review. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*.;34(8):1170-1184. doi: 10.1002/gps.5140 Mahmoodi H, Jalalizad Nahand F, Shaghaghi A, Shooshtari S, Jafarabadi MA and Allahverdipour H, 2019. Gender Based Cognitive Determinants Of Medication Adherence In Older Adults With Chronic Conditions. *Patient Prefer Adherence*;15;13:1733-1744. doi: 10.2147/PPA.S219193

MANCA DP, 2015. Rebuttal: Do electronic medical records improve quality of care? Yes. *Canadian family physician Medecin de famille canadien,* **61**(10), pp. e435. Manderson B, McMurray J, Piraino E and Stolee P, 2012. Navigation roles support chronically ill older adults through healthcare transitions: a systematic review of the literature. *Health Soc Care Community*;20(2):113-27. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-

2524.2011.01032.x

Marden JR, Tchetgen Tchetgen EJ, Kawachi I, Glymour MM. Contribution of Socioeconomic Status at 3 Life-Course Periods to Late-Life Memory Function and Decline: Early and Late Predictors of Dementia Risk. *Am J Epidemiol*;186(7):805-814. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwx155.

Mayor S, 2018. Person centred care that includes antipsychotic review reduces agitation in dementia patients, finds study. *BMJ*; 363 :k4899 doi:10.1136/bmj.k4899 Mayrhofer AM, Greenwood N, Smeeton N, Almack K, Buckingham L, Shora S, and Goodman C, 2021. Understanding the financial impact of a diagnosis of young onset dementia on individuals and families in the United Kingdom: Results of an online survey. Health Soc Care Community; 29: 664– 671. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.13334 McMaughan DJ, Oloruntoba O, Smith ML, 202. Socioeconomic Status and Access to Healthcare: Interrelated Drivers for Healthy Aging. *Front Public Health*. 18;8:231. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.00231

Melis RJF, Haaksma ML, Muniz-Terrera G, 2019. Understanding and predicting the longitudinal course of dementia. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*.;32(2):123-129. doi:

10.1097/YCO.00000000000482

Memon A, Taylor K, Mohebati LM, Sundin J, Cooper M, Scanlon T and de Visser R, 2016. Perceived barriers to accessing mental health services among black and minority ethnic (BME) communities: A qualitative study in Southeast England. *BMJ Open*;6(11):1-9. Miller SC, Prohaska TR, Furner SE, Freels S, Brody JA and Levy PS, 1998. Time to nursing home admission for persons with Alzheimer's disease: The effect of health care system characteristics. *Journals of Gerontology - Series B Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*;53(6):341-353.

Miller, B, 1990. Gender Differences in Spouse Caregiver Strain: Socialization and Role Explanations. *National Council on Family Relations*; 52(2), pp. 311–321.

MINISTRY OF HOUSING, COMMUNITIES & LOCAL GOVERNMENT, 2015. English indices of deprivation 2015 [Online] Available from:

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2015 MINISTRY OF HOUSING, COMMUNITIES & LOCAL GOVERNMENT, 2019. *The English Indices of Deprivation 2019 (IoD2019)*. [Online] Available from:

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019 (Accessed 23/02/2023)

Minyo MJ, Judge KS, 2022. Perceived Unmet Need and Need-Related Distress of People Living With Dementia. *Gerontol Geriatr Med.* 26;8:23337214221092886. doi:

10.1177/23337214221092886

Moise P, Schwarzinger M and Um M, 2004. Dementia care in 9 OECD countries: a comparative analysis, OECD Health Working Paper no. 13, OECDL Paris.

Monazam Tabrizi N and Masri F, 2021. Towards safer healthcare: qualitative insights from a process view of organisational learning from failure. *BMJ Open*. 10;11(8):e048036. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-048036

Moore KJ and Crawley S, 2020. The challenge of providing a timely and holistic approach to support people with dementia and their caregivers. *International Psychogeriatrics*,

32(5), 543-546. doi:10.1017/S104161021900156X

Moore MJ, Zhu CW and Clipp EC, 2001. Informal costs of dementia care: Estimates from the National Longitudinal Caregiver Study. *Journals of Gerontology - Series B Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*;56(4):219-228.

Morgan D, Kosteniuk J, O'Connell ME, Kirk A, Stewart NJ, Seitz D, Bayly M, Froelich Chow A, Elliot V, Daku J, Hack T, Hoium F, Kennett-Russill D and Sauter K, 2019. Barriers and facilitators to development and implementation of a rural primary health care intervention for dementia: a process evaluation. BMC Health Serv Res 19, 709. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4548-5

Morgan DG, Crossley M, Kirk A, D'Arcy C, Stewart N, Biem J, Forbes D, Harder S, Basran J, Dal Bello-Haas V, McBain L, 2009. Improving access to dementia care: development and evaluation of a rural and remote memory clinic. Aging Ment Health. 13(1):17-30. doi: 10.1080/13607860802154432

Mueller C, Hunley J, Stubbs B, Sommerlad A, Carvalho AF, Perera G, Stewart R and Veronese N, 2017. ssociations of Neuropsychiatric Symptoms and Antidepressant Prescription with Survival in Alzheimer's Disease. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2017 Dec 1;18(12):1076-1081. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2017.07.001.

MUKADAM N, COOPER C and LIVINGSTON GA, 2011. A systematic review of ethnicity and pathways to care in dementia. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry, 26(1):12-20. doi:

10.1002/gps.2484. PMID: 21157846.

Mukadam N, Cooper C, Livingston G, 2011. A systematic review of ethnicity and pathways to care in dementia. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*;26(1):12-20.

Mukadam N, Cooper C, Livingston G, 2013. Improving access to dementia services for people from minority ethnic groups. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*;26(4):409-414.

Mukadam N, Marston L, Lewis G, Mathur R, Rait G, Livingston G, 2023. Incidence, age at diagnosis and survival with dementia across ethnic groups in England: A longitudinal study using electronic health records. *Alzheimers Dement*. 19(4):1300-1307. doi:

10.1002/alz.12774.

Murman DL, Chen Q, Colucci PM, Colenda CC, Gelb DJ and Liang J, 2002. Comparison of healthcare utilization and direct costs in three degenerative dementias. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*;10(3):328-336.

Nagin DS, 2014. Group-based trajectory modeling: an overview. *Ann Nutr Metab*;65(2-3):205-10. doi: 10.1159/000360229

Nagin DS, Jones BL, Passos VL, Tremblay RE, 2018. Group-based multi-trajectory modeling. *Stat Methods Med Res*;27(7):2015-2023. doi: 10.1177/0962280216673085 NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND CARE EXCELLENCE, 2021. Hospital Care [Online] Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/about/what-we-do/intopractice/measuring-the-use-of-nice-guidance/impact-of-our-guidance/niceimpact-

dementia/ch3-hospital-care Accessed 19/04/2022

NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND CARE EXCELLENCE, 2021. Hospital Care

[Online] Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/about/what-we-do/into-

practice/measuring-the-use-of-nice-guidance/impact-of-our-guidance/niceimpact-

dementia/ch3-hospital-care Accessed 23/02/2023 Accessed: 23/02/2013

NEBEL RA, AGGARWAL NT, BARNES LL, GALLACHER A, GOLDSTEIN JM,

KANTARCI K, MALLAMPALLI MP, MORMINO EC, SCOTT L, YU WH, MAKI PM and

MIELKE MM, 2018. Understanding the impact of sex and gender in Alzheimer's disease: A

call to action. Alzheimer's & dementia : the journal of the Alzheimer's Association, 14(9),

1171–1183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2018.04.008

Nelis SM, Wu YT, Matthews FE, Martyr A, Quinn C, Rippon I, Rusted J, Thom JM, Kopelman MD, Hindle JV, Jones RW and Clare L, 2019. The impact of co-morbidity on the quality of life of people with dementia: Findings from the IDEAL study. *Age Ageing*;48(3):361-367.

Neumann PJ, Araki SS, Arcelus A, Longo A, Papadopoulos G, Kosik KS, Kuntz KM and Bhattacharjya A, 2001. Measuring Alzheimer's disease progression with transition probabilities: Estimates from CERAD. *Neurology*;57(6):957-964.

NHS England, 2022. Making health services work for deprived populations in the North East [Online]. Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/blog/making-health-serviceswork-for-deprived-populations-in-the-north-east/ (Accessed: 02/03/2023) NHS, 2020 (2). Symptoms of dementia: Dementia guide. [Online] Available from: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/dementia/symptoms/ (Accessed: 23/02/2023) NHS, 2020. About Dementia: Dementia guide. [Online] Available from: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/dementia/about/ (Accessed: 23/02/2023) NHS, 2020. *What are the treatments for dementia*? [Online] Available from: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/dementia/treatment/ (Accessed 23/02/2023)

NHS, 2020 (2). Overview: Vascular dementia [Online]. Available from:

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/vascular-dementia/ (Accessed: 06/03/2023)

NHS, 2020 (3). Overview: Dementia with Lewy Bodies [Online]. Available from:

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/dementia-with-lewy-bodies/ (Accessed: 06/03/2023)

NHS, 2020 (4). Overview: Frontotemporal dementia [Online]. Available from:

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/frontotemporal-dementia/ (Accessed: 06/03/2023)

NHS, 2021. Is there a cure for dementia? Dementia guide [Online] Available from:

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/dementia/cure/ (Accessed: 23/02/2023)

NUFFIELD TRUST, 2020. *Poorest get worse quality of NHS care in England, new research finds.* [Online] Available from: https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/news-item/poorestget-worse-quality-of-nhs-care-in-england-new-research-finds (Accessed 23/02/2023) NUFFIELD TRUST, 2020. *Poorest get worse quality of NHS care in England, new research finds.* [Online] Available from: https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/news-item/poorestget-worse-quality-of-nhs-care-in-england-new-research-finds (Accessed 23/02/2023) Numbers K and Brodaty H, 2021. The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on people with dementia. *Nat Rev Neurol* **17**, 69–70 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-020-00450-z O'Brien JT, Holmes C, Jones M, Jones R, Livingston G, McKeith I, Mittler P, Passmore P, Ritchie C, Robinson L, Sampson EL, Taylor JP, Thomas A, Burns A, 2017. Clinical practice with anti-dementia drugs: A revised (third) consensus statement from the British Association for Psychopharmacology. *JOURNAL OF PSYCHOPHARMACOLOGY*, **31**(2), pp. 147-168. doi: 10.1177/0269881116680924

Office for Health Improvement & Disparities, 2022. Health and disparities and health inequalities: applying All Our Health [Online]. Available from:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-disparities-and-health-inequalitiesapplying-all-our-health/health-disparities-and-health-inequalities-applying-all-our-health (Accessed: 06/03/2023)

Ogden J, 2017. Rising cost of dementia care risks social care funding crisis. *Prog Neurol Psychiatry*;21(1):5-5.

Olsen C, Pedersen I, Bergland A, Enders-Slegers MJ, Jøranson N, Calogiuri G, Ihlebæk C, 2016. Differences in quality of life in home-dwelling persons and nursing home residents with dementia - a cross-sectional study. *BMC Geriatr*, 11;16:137. doi:

10.1186/s12877-016-0312-4

ONO T, TAMAI A, TAKEUCHI D, TAMAI Y, IDEKI H, FUKUSHIMA H and KASAHARA S,

2010. Predictors of length of stay in a ward for demented elderly: gender differences.

Psychogeriatrics, 10: 153-159. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1479-8301.2010.00328.x

ONS, 2018. UK population by ethnicity. [Online] Available from: https://www.ethnicity-

facts-figures.service.gov.uk/uk-population-by-ethnicity (Accessed 23/02/2023)

ONS, 2020 (2). Dementia and Alzheimer's disease deaths including comorbidities,

England and Wales: 2019 registrations. [Online] Available from:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths /bulletins/dementiaandalzheimersdiseasedeathsincludingcomorbiditiesenglandandwales/2 019registrations (Accessed 23/02/2023)

ONS, 2020. Life expectancy for local areas of the UK: between 2001 to 2003 and 2017 to 2019. [Online] Available from:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlife expectancies/bulletins/lifeexpectancyforlocalareasoftheuk/between2001to2003and2017to2 019 (Accessed 23/02/2023)

ONS, 2022 (2). Health state life expectancies, UK: 2018 to 2020 [Online]. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlife expectancies/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesuk/2018to2020 (Accessed: 02/03/2023) ONS, 2022. Ethnic group by age and sex, England and Wales: Census 2021 [Online]. Available from:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/ethnicity/articles/et hnicgroupbyageandsexenglandandwales/census2021 (Accessed: 02/03/2023) Parveen S and Oyebode JR, 2018. BETTER HEALTH BRIEFING 46 Dementia and Minority Ethnic Carers. 2018. http://raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/07/REF-Better-Health-463.pdf. Accessed May 2020. (Accessed: 23/02/2023)

Pastorino R, De Vito C, Migliara G, Glocker K, Binenbaum I, Ricciardi W and Boccia S, 2019. Benefits and challenges of Big Data in healthcare: an overview of the European initiatives. Eur J Public Health;1;29(Supplement_3):23-27. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckz168 Payne EH, Gebregziabher M, Hardin JW, Ramakrishnan V, Egede LE. An empirical approach to determine a threshold for assessing overdispersion in Poisson and negative

binomial models for count data. Commun Stat Simul Comput. 47(6):1722-1738. doi:

10.1080/03610918.2017.1323223

PEARCE J, MITCHELL R and SHIRTT N, 2015. Place, space, and health inequalities. In: Smith, K. E., Bambra, C. and Hill, S. E. (eds.) Health Inequalities: Critical Perspectives. Oxford University Press: Oxford, pp. 192-205. ISBN 9780198703358

Pearl, 2009. Causal inference in statistics: An overview. *Statist. Surv.* 3: 96-146. DOI: 10.1214/09-SS057

PETERSEN JD, WEHBERG S, PACKNESS A, SVENSSON JH., HYLDIG N,

RAUNSGAARD S, ANDERSEN MK, RUG J, MERCER SW, SONDERHAARD J and WALDORFF FB, 2021. Association of Socioeconomic Status With Dementia Diagnosis Among Older Adults in Denmark. JAMA Netw Open, 3;4(5):e2110432. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.10432.

Peterson BL, Fillenbaum GG, Pieper CF and Heyman A, 2008. Home or nursing home: does place of residence affect longevity in patients with Alzheimer's disease? The experience of CERAD patients. *Public Health Nurs*;25(5):490-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1446.2008.00733.x

Peterson BL, Fillenbaum GG, Pieper CF, Heyman A, 2008. Home or nursing home: Does place of residence affect longevity in patients with Alzheimer's disease? the experience of CERAD patients: Special features: Methods. *Public Health Nursing*;25(5):490-497. Pfister B, Jonsson J and Gustafsson M, 2017. Drug-related problems and medication reviews among old people with dementia. *BMC Pharmacol Toxicol.* 27;18(1):52. doi: 10.1186/s40360-017-0157-2

Pham TM, Petersen I, Walters K, Raine R, Manthorpe J, Mukadam N and Cooper C, 2018. Trends in dementia diagnosis rates in uk ethnic groups: Analysis of uk primary care data. *Clinical Epidemiology*;10:949-960. doi: 10.2147/CLEP.S152647 Phelan EA, Borson S, Grothaus L, Balch S, Larson EB, 2012. Association of incident

dementia with hospitalizations. JAMA. 11;307(2):165-72. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.1964

Phillips J, Pond CD, Paterson NE, Howell C, Shell A, Stocks NP, Goode SM and Marley JE, 2012. Difficulties in disclosing the diagnosis of dementia: a qualitative study in general practice. *The British journal of general practice: the journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners*, **62**(601), e546–e553. doi: 10.3399/bjgp12X653598

Pierse T, Keogh F, O'Shea E, Cullinan J, 2020. Geographic availability and accessibility of day care services for people with dementia in Ireland. *BMC Health Serv Res* 27;20(1):476. doi: 10.1186/s12913-020-05341-z

Poblador-Plou B, Calderón-Larrañaga A, Marta-Moreno J, Hancco-Saavedra J, Sicras-Mainar A, Soljak M, Prados-Torres A, 2014. Comorbidity of dementia: a cross-sectional study of primary care older patients. *BMC Psychiatry*. 20;14:84. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-14-84

Podcasy JL and Epperson CN, 2016. Considering sex and gender in Alzheimer disease and other dementias. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*;18(4):437-446. doi:

10.31887/DCNS.2016.18.4/cepperson

Pornprasertmanit S and Little TD, 2012. Determining directional dependency in causal associations. *Int J Behav Dev.* 1;36(4):313-322. doi: 10.1177/0165025412448944.

PRICE JH, KHUBCHANDANI J, MCKINNEY M and BRAUN R, 2013. Racial/ethnic

disparities in chronic diseases of youths and access to health care in the United States.

Biomed Res Int., 2013:787616. doi: 10.1155/2013/787616. Epub 2013 Sep 23.

Price JH, Khubchandani J, McKinney M and Braun R, 2013. Racial/ethnic disparities in chronic diseases of youths and access to health care in the United States. *Biomed Res Int*,2013:787616. doi: 10.1155/2013/787616

Protheroe J, Nutbeam D and Rowlands G, 2009. Medical ethics and the healthcare rights of citizens and others. *British Journal of General Practice*;59(567):720-721.

Public Health England, 2023. Public Health Profiles [Online]. Available from:

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/dementia/data#page/1

Pujades-Rodriguez M, Assi V, Gonzalez-Izquierdo A, Wilkinson T, Schnier C, Sudlow C, Hemingway H and Whiteley WN, 2018. The diagnosis, burden and prognosis of dementia: A record-linkage cohort study in England. *PLoS ONE*;13(6):1-12.

Pujades-Rodriguez M, Guttmann OP, Gonzalez-Izquierdo A, Duyx B, O'Mahony C, Elliott P, Hemingway H, 2018. Identifying unmet clinical need in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy using national electronic health records. *PLoS ONE*, **13**(1), pp. e0191214-e0191214. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0191214

QUINONES AR, BOTOSENEANU A, MARKWARDT S, NAGEL CL, NEWSOM JT, DORR DA and ALLORE HG, 2019. Racial/ethnic differences in multimorbidity development and chronic disease accumulation for middle-aged adults. PLoS One, 17;14(6):e0218462. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0218462

Quiñones AR, Botoseneanu A, Markwardt S, Nagel CL, Newsom JT, Dorr DA and Allore HG, 2019. Racial/ethnic differences in multimorbidity development and chronic disease accumulation for middle-aged adults. *PLoS One*;14(6):e0218462. doi:

10.1371/journal.pone.0218462

RAHMAN M, WHITE EM, THOMAS KS and JUTKOWICZ E, 2020. Assessment of Rural-Urban Differences in Health Care Use and Survival Among Medicare Beneficiaries With Alzheimer Disease and Related Dementia. JAMA Netw Open, 3(10):e2022111.

doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.22111

RAIT G, NAZARETH I, WALTERS K, BOTTOMLEY C, PETERSEN I and ILIFFE S, 2010. Survival of people with clinical diagnosis of dementia in primary care: Cohort study. *BMJ* (*Online*), **341**(7768), pp. 337. doi: 10.1136/bmj.c3584

Ramsey CM, Gnjidic D, Agogo GO, Allore H and Moga D, 2018. Longitudinal patterns of potentially inappropriate medication use following incident dementia diagnosis.

Alzheimer's and Dementia: Translational Research and Clinical Interventions;4:1-10.

Rand SE, Silarova B, Towers AM, Jones K, 2022. Social care-related quality of life of people with dementia and their carers in England. *Health Soc Care Community*;30(5):e2406-e2418. doi: 10.1111/hsc.13681 RASMUSSEN J and LANGERMAN H, 2019. Alzheimer's Disease - Why We Need Early

Diagnosis. Degenerative neurological and neuromuscular disease, 9, 123–130. doi:

10.2147/DNND.S228939

Rattinger GB, Schwartz S, Mullins CD, Corcoran C, Zuckerman IH, Sanders C, Norton MC, Fauth EB, Leoutsakos JM, Lyketsos CG and Tschanz JT, 2015. Dementia severity and the longitudinal costs of informal care in the Cache County population. *Physiol Behav*;176(1):139-148.

Read S, Hu B, Wittenberg R, Brimblecombe N, Robinson L and Banerjee S, 2021. A Longitudinal Study of Functional Unmet Need Among People with Dementia. *J Alzheimers Dis*;84(2):705-716. doi: 10.3233/JAD-210724

Reckrey JM, Perez S, Watman D, Ornstein KA, Russell D and Franzosa E, 2022. The Need for Stability in Paid Dementia Care: Family Caregiver Perspectives. *J Appl Gerontol*:7334648221097692. doi: 10.1177/07334648221097692

Redwood S, Gill PS. Under-representation of minority ethnic groups in research--call for action. *Br J Gen Pract.* 63(612):342-3. doi: 10.3399/bjgp13X668456

Rees JL, Burton A, Walters KR, Leverton M, Rapaport P, Herat Gunaratne R, Beresford-Dent J and Cooper C, 2020. Exploring how people with dementia can be best supported to manage long-term conditions: a qualitative study of stakeholder perspectives. *BMJ open,* **10**(10), pp. e041873. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-041873

Reeves D, Holland F, Morbey H, Hann M, Ahmed F, Davies L, Keady J, Leroi I and Reilly S, 2023. Retrospective study of more than 5 million emergency admissions to hospitals in England: epidemiology and outcomes for people with dementia. *PL o S One*. DOI:

https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-1593977/v1

Reilly ST, Harding AJE, Morbey H, Ahmed F, Williamson PR, Swarbrick C, Leroi I, Davies L, Reeves D, Holland F, Hann M and Keady J, 2020. What is important to people with dementia living at home? A set of core outcome items for use in the evaluation of nonpharmacological community-based health and social care interventions, Age and Ageing, Volume 49, Issue 4, Pages 664–671, https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afaa015 REYNISH EL, HAPCA SM, DE SOUZE N, CVORO V, DONNAN PT and GUTHRIE B, 2017. Epidemiology and outcomes of people with dementia, delirium, and unspecified cognitive impairment in the general hospital: prospective cohort study of 10,014 admissions. BMC Med., 15(1):140. doi: 10.1186/s12916-017-0899-0 RICE N and SMITH PC, 2001. Ethics and geographical equity in health care. Journal of Medical Ethics, 27(4): 256-261. doi: 10.1136/jme.27.4.256 Robinson L, Iliffe S, Brayne C, Goodman C, Rait G, Manthorpe J, Ashley P, Moniz-Cook E and DeNDRoN Primary Care Clinical Studies Group, 2010. Primary care and dementia: 2. Long-term care at home: psychosocial interventions, information provision, carer support and case management. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry.;25(7):657-64. doi: 10.1002/gps.2405 Robinson L, Tang E, Taylor J, 2015. Dementia: timely diagnosis and early intervention. *BMJ*; 350 :h3029 doi:10.1136/bmj.h3029

Robinson L, Tang E, Taylor J, 2015. Dementia: timely diagnosis and early intervention. BMJ; 350 :h3029 doi:10.1136/bmj.h3029

Roes M, Laporte Uribe F, Peters-Nehrenheim V, Smits C, Johannessen A, Charlesworth G, Parveen S, Mueller N, Hedd Jones C, Thyrian R, Monsees J, Tezcan-Güntekin H, 2022. Intersectionality and its relevance for research in dementia care of people with a migration background. *Z Gerontol Geriatr.*, 55(4):287-291. English. doi: 10.1007/s00391-022-02058-y.

Rossor MN, Fox NC, Mummery CJ, Schott JM and Warren JD, 2010. The diagnosis of young-onset dementia. *Lancet Neurol*;9(8):793-806. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70159-9

ROUNTREE SD, DOODY RS, ATRI A and LOPEZ OL, 2012. Effectiveness of antidementia drugs in delaying Alzheimer disease progression. *Alzheimer's and Dementia*, **9**(3): pp. 338-345. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2012.01.002

Rudolph JL, Zanin NM, Jones RN, Marcantonio ER, Fong TG, Yang FM, Yap L and Inouye SK, 2010. Hospitalization in Community-Dwelling Persons with Alzheimer's Disease; Frequency and Causes. *J Am Geriatr Soc*;58(8):1542-1548.

Rural Services Network, 2017. Limited support for rural dementia [Online]. Available from: https://www.rsnonline.org.uk/rural-residents-face-limited-support-for-dementia (Accessed: 02/03/2023)

RURAL SERVICES NETWORK, 2022. Major Inquiry highlights the urban-rural divide in accessing health and care [Online] Available from: https://www.rsnonline.org.uk/major-inquiry-highlights-the-urban-rural-divide-in-accessing-health-and-care Accessed 19/04/2022

Russom, 2011. Big data analytics. TWDI best practices report, fourth quarter, 19(4), 1-34. Ryman FVM, Erisman JC, Darvey LM, Osborne J, Swartsenburg E and Syurina EV, 2019. Health Effects of the Relocation of Patients With Dementia: A Scoping Review to Inform Medical and Policy Decision-Making. *Gerontologist*;16;59(6):e674-e682. doi:

10.1093/geront/gny031

SAGER MA, FRANKE T, INOUYE SK, LANDEFELD CS, MORGAN TM, RUDBERG MA, SEBENS H and WINOGRAD CH, 1996. Functional outcomes of acute medical illness and hospitalization in older persons. Arch Intern Med, 25;156(6):645-52. PMID: 8629876. Samsi K, Manthorpe J, 2014. Care pathways for dementia: current perspectives. *Clin Interv Aging*. 27;9:2055-63. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S70628

Scalmana S, Di Napoli A, Franco F, Vanacore N, Di Lallo D, Giarrizzo ML and Guasticchi G, 2013. Use of health and social care services in a cohort of italian dementia patients. *Funct Neurol*;28(4):265-273.

Schaffler-Schaden D, Krutter S, Seymer A, Eßl-Maurer R, Flamm M and Osterbrink J, 2021. Caring for a Relative with Dementia: Determinants and Gender Differences of Caregiver Burden in the Rural Setting. *Brain Sci*;15;11(11):1511. doi:

10.3390/brainsci11111511

Schrijvers G, van Hoorn A and Huiskes N, 2012. The care pathway: concepts and theories: an introduction. Int J Integr Care. 18;12(*Spec Ed Integrated Care Pathways*):e192. doi: 10.5334/ijic.812

Schultze A, Nightingale E, Evans D, Hulme W, Rosello A, Bates C, Cockburn J, MacKenna B, Curtis HJ, Morton CE, Croker R, Bacon S, McDonald HI, Rentsch CT, Bhaskaran K, Mathur R, Tomlinson LA, Williamson EJ, Forbes H, Tazare J, Grint D, Walker AJ, Inglesby P, DeVito NJ, Mehrkar A, Hickman G, Davy S, Ward T, Fisher L, Green AC, Wing K, Wong AY, McManus R, Parry J, Hester F, Harper S, Evans SJ, Douglas IJ, Smeeth L, Eggo RM, Goldacre B and Leon DA, 2022. Mortality among Care Home Residents in England during the first and second waves of the COVID-19 pandemic: an observational study of 4.3 million adults over the age of 65. *Lancet Reg Health Eur*;14:100295. doi: 10.1016/j.lanepe.2021.100295

Sharma N, Chakrabarti S and Grover S, 2016. Gender differences in caregiving among family - caregivers of people with mental illnesses. *World Journal of Psychiatry*;6(1):7-7. doi: 10.5498/wjp.v6.i1.7.

Sheng B, Law CB and Yeung KM, 2009. Characteristics and diagnostic profile of patients seeking dementia care in a memory clinic in Hong Kong. *International*

Psychogeriatrics;21(2):392-400.

SHEPHERD H, LIVINGSTON G, CHAN J and SOMMERLAD A, 2019. Hospitalisation rates and predictors in people with dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC medicine*, **17**(1), pp. 130. doi: 10.1186/s12916-019-1369-7

SHEPHERD H, LIVINGSTON G, CHAN J and SOMMERLAD A, 2019. Hospitalisation rates and predictors in people with dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC medicine*, **17**(1), pp. 130. doi: 10.1186/s12916-019-1369-7

Shuman SB, Hughes S, Wiener JM and Gould E, 2017. Research on Care Needs and Supportive Approaches for Persons with Dementia [Online] Available from:

https://aspe.hhs.gov/reports/research-care-needs-supportive-approaches-personsdementia-0 Accessed: 23/02/2023

Smith GE, O'Brien PC, Ivnik RJ, Kokmen E and Tangalos EG, 2001. Prospective analysis of risk factors for nursing home placement of dementia patients. *Neurology*;57(8):1467-1473.

SMITS L, VAN HARTEN A, PIJNENBURG Y, KOEDAM ELGE, BOUWMAN FH,

SISTERMANS N, REULING IEW, PRINS ND, LEMSTRA AW, SCHELTENS P and VAN DER FLIER WM, 2015. Trajectories of cognitive decline in different types of dementia, Psychol Med, 45(5):1051-9. doi: 10.1017/S0033291714002153

Sommerlad A, Perera G, Mueller C, Singh-Manoux A, Lewis G, Stewart R and Livingston G, 2019. Hospitalisation of people with dementia: evidence from English electronic health records from 2008 to 2016. *Eur J Epidemiol*;34(6):567-577. doi: 10.1007/s10654-019-00481-x

Sourial N, Arsenault-Lapierre G, Mango-Dermer E, Henein M and Vedel I, 2020. Sex differences in the management of persons with dementia following a subnational primary care policy intervention. *Int J Equity Health* 19, 175. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-020-01285-2

Stevnsborg L, Jensen-Dahm C, Nielsen TR, Gasse C and Waldemar G, 2016. Inequalities in Access to Treatment and Care for Patients with Dementia and Immigrant Background: A Danish Nationwide Study. *J Alzheimer's Dis*;54(2):505-514.

Sundermann EE, Biegon A, Rubin LH, Lipton RB, Mowrey W, Landau S, Maki PM, 2016. Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative. Better verbal memory in women than men in MCI despite similar levels of hippocampal atrophy. *Neurology*. 2016 Apr 12;86(15):1368-1376. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000002570

Sutcliffe CL, Giebel CM, Jolley D and Challis DJ, 2016. Experience of burden in carers of people with dementia on the margins of long-term care. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*;31(2):101-108.

SZYMCZYNSKA P, INNES A, MASON A and STARK C, 2011. A Review of Diagnostic Process and Postdiagnostic Support for People With Dementia in Rural Areas. *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health*, **2**(4), pp. 262-276. doi: 10.1177/2150131911404705 Taipale H, Tanskanen A, Koponen M, Tolppanen AM, Tiihonen J and Hartikainen S, 2014. Antidementia drug use among community-dwelling individuals with Alzheimer's disease in Finland: A nationwide register-based study. *Int Clin Psychopharmacol*;29(4):216-223. Tay FHE, Thompson CL, Nieh CM, Nieh CC, Koh HM, Tan JJC and Yap PLK, 2017. Person-centered care for older people with dementia in the acute hospital. *Alzheimers Dement (N Y)*;4:19-27. doi: 10.1016/j.trci.2017.11.003

The Health Foundation, 2022. Local healthy life expectancy at birth by region and sex [Online] Available from: https://www.health.org.uk/evidence-hub/health-inequalities/local-healthy-life-expectancy-at-birth-by-region-and-sex (Accessed: 02/03/2023)

The King's Fund, 2021. Health inequalities in a nutshell [Online]. Available from:

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/nhs-in-a-nutshell/health-inequalities (Accessed: 06/03/2023)

The King's Fund, 2022. What are health inequalities? [Online]. Available from: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/what-are-health-inequalities#long (Accessed: 06/03/2023)

Thorpe CT, Fowler NR, Harrigan K, Zhao X, Kang Y, Hanlon JT, Gellad WF, Schleiden LJ and Thorpe JM, 2016. Racial and Ethnic Differences in Initiation and Discontinuation of Antidementia Drugs by Medicare Beneficiaries. *J Am Geriatr Soc*;64(9):1806-1814. THORPE JM, VAN HOUTVEN CH, SLEATH BL and THORPE CT, 2010. Rural-Urban Differences in Preventable Hospitalizations Among Community-Dwelling Veterans With Dementia. The Journal of Rural Health, 26: 146-155. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-0361.2010.00276.x

Travers CM, Martin-Khan MG and Lie DC, 2009. Dementia risk reduction in primary care: what Australian initiatives can teach us. *Aust Health Rev*;33(3):461-6. doi:

10.1071/ah090461

TROPEA J, LOGUIDICE D, LIEW D, GORELIK A and BRAND C, 2017. Poorer outcomes and greater healthcare costs for hospitalised older people with dementia and delirium: a retrospective cohort study. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry, 32(5):539-547. doi: 10.1002/gps.4491. TROPEA J, LOGUIDICE D, LIEW D, GORELIK A and BRAND C, 2017. Poorer outcomes and greater healthcare costs for hospitalised older people with dementia and delirium: a retrospective cohort study. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry, 32(5):539-547. doi: 10.1002/gps.4491. Tsai CF, Hwang WS, Lee JJ, Wang WF, Huang LC, Huang LK, Lee WJ, Sung PS, Liu YC, Hsu CC and Fuh JL, 2021. Predictors of caregiver burden in aged caregivers of demented older patients. BMC Geriatr. 14;21(1):59. doi: 10.1186/s12877-021-02007-1 Tsamakis K, Gadelrab R, Wilson M, Bonnici-Mallia AM, Hussain L, Perera G, Rizos E, Das-Munshi J, Stewart R, Mueller C, 2021. Dementia in People from Ethnic Minority Backgrounds: Disability, Functioning, and Pharmacotherapy at the Time of Diagnosis. J Am Med Dir Assoc;22(2):446-452. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2020.06.026 UK Dementia Research Institute, 2022. Diversity and dementia: How is research reducing health disparities? [Online]. Available from: https://ukdri.ac.uk/uploads/UK-DRI_Dementia_Health_Inequalities_Report_2022.pdf (Accessed: 23/02/2023) UK PARLIAMENT, 2016. Dementia: age and deprivation differences. [Online] Available from: https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/dementia-age-and-deprivation-differences/ (Accessed 23/02/2023)

UK Parliament, 2021. Supporting people with dementia and their carers [Online]. Available from: https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5802/cmselect/cmhealth/96/report.html (Accessed: 23/02/2023)

Van De Vorst IE, Vaartjes I, Geerlings MI, Bots ML and Koek HL, 2015. Prognosis of patients with dementia: Results from a prospective nationwide registry linkage study in the Netherlands. *BMJ Open*;5(10). doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-008897

Van De Vorst, Irene E., Koek HL, Stein CE, Bots ML and Vaartjes I, 2016. Socioeconomic Disparities and Mortality after a Diagnosis of Dementia: Results from a Nationwide Registry Linkage Study. *Am J Epidemiol*;184(3):219-226. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwv319 Van De Vorst, Irene E., Koek HL, Stein CE, Bots ML and Vaartjes I, 2016. Socioeconomic Disparities and Mortality after a Diagnosis of Dementia: Results from a Nationwide Registry Linkage Study. *Am J Epidemiol*;184(3):219-226. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwv319 van De Vorst, Irene E., Vaartjes I, Bots ML and Koek HL, 2019. Increased mortality and hospital readmission risk in patients with dementia and a history of cardiovascular disease: Results from a nationwide registry linkage study. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*;34(3):488-496.

van Weel JM, Renehan E, Ervin KE and Enticott J, 2019. Home care service utilisation by people with dementia - A retrospective cohort study of community nursing data in Australia. *Health and Social Care in the Community*;27(3):665-675.

Verbeek H, Meyer G, Challis D, Zabalegui A, Soto ME, Saks K, Leino-Kilpi H, Karlsson S and Hamers JP, 2015. Inter-country exploration of factors associated with admission to long-term institutional dementia care: Evidence from the RightTimePlaceCare study. *J Adv Nurs*;71(6):1338-1350.

VOHRA N, HADI MA, KHANAL S, KURMI OP and PAUDYAL V, 2021. Impact of deprivation, dementia prevalence and regional demography on prescribing of antidementia drugs in England: A time trend analysis. Br J Clin Pharmacol, 87(10):3747-3755. doi: 10.1111/bcp.14782

VORST IE, VAARTJES I, BOTS ML and KOEK HL, 2019. Increased mortality and hospital readmission risk in patients with dementia and a history of cardiovascular disease: Results from a nationwide registry linkage study. *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, **34**(3), pp. 488. doi: 10.1002/gps.5044

VOSS S, BLACK S, BRANDLING J, BUSWELL M, CHESTON R, CULLUM S, KIRBY K, PURDY S, SOLWAY C, TAYLOR H and BENGER J, 2017. Home or hospital for people with dementia and one or more other multimorbidities: What is the potential to reduce avoidable emergency admissions? The HOMEWARD Project Protocol. BMJ Open,

3;7(4):e016651. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016651

VOSS S, BLACK S, BRANDLING J, BUSWELL M, CHESTON R, CULLUM S, KIRBY K, PURDY S, SOLWAY C, TAYLOR H and BENGER J, 2017. Home or hospital for people with dementia and one or more other multimorbidities: What is the potential to reduce avoidable emergency admissions? The HOMEWARD Project Protocol. BMJ Open,

3;7(4):e016651. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016651

Wang Y, Hunt K, Nazareth I, Fremantle N and Petersen I, 2013. Do men consult less than women? An analysis of routinely collected UK general practice data. *BMJ*

Open;3:e003320. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003320

Wanless, D, 2016. Securing good care for older people: taking a long-term view. King's Fund. http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/resources/publications/appendices_to.html.

WATSON J, DARLINGTON-POLLOCK F, GREEN M, GIEBEL C and AKPAN A, 2021 (2). The Impact of Demographic, Socio-Economic and Geographic Factors on Mortality Risk among People Living with Dementia in England (2002-2016). Int J Environ Res Public Health, 18(24):13405. doi: 10.3390/ijerph182413405

WATSON J, DARLINGTON-POLLOCK F, GREEN M, GIEBEL C and AKPAN A, 2021. The Impact of Demographic, Socio-Economic and Geographic Factors on Mortality Risk among People Living with Dementia in England (2002-2016). Int J Environ Res Public Health, 18(24):13405. doi: 10.3390/ijerph182413405 WATSON J, GIEBEL C, GREEN M, DARLINGTON-POLLOCK F and AKPAN A, 2021.

Use of routine and cohort data globally in exploring dementia care pathways and inequalities: A systematic review. *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, **36**(2), pp. 252. doi: 10.1002/gps.5419

Watson J, Green MA, Giebel C, Darlington-Pollock F, Akpan A, 2022. Social and spatial inequalities in healthcare use among people living with dementia in England (2002-2016). *Aging Ment Health.* 12:1-12. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2022.2107176

Wattmo C, Paulsson E, Minthon L and Londos E, 2013. A longitudinal study of risk factors for community-based home help services in alzheimer's disease: The influence of cholinesterase inhibitor therapy. *Clinical Interventions in Aging*;8:329-339.

WHO, 2022. Meeting on secondary use of health data [Online]. Available from: https://www.who.int/europe/news-room/events/item/2022/12/13/default-calendar/meeting-on-secondary-use-of-health-data (Accessed: 06/03/2023)

WILLIAMS DR and COOPER LA, 2019. Reducing Racial Inequities in Health: Using What We Already Know to Take Action. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, **16**(4), pp. 606. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16040606

Wittenberg R, Hu B, Barraza-Araiza L and Rehill A, 2019. Projections of Older People with Dementia and Costs of Dementia Care in the United Kingdom, 2019-2040. Care Policy and Evaluation Centre:1-79.

Wittenberg R, Hu B, Barraza-Araiza L and Rehill A, 2019. Projections of Older People with Dementia and Costs of Dementia Care in the United Kingdom, 2019-2040. Care Policy and Evaluation Centre:1-79.

WITTENBERG R, HU B, BARRAZA-ARAIZA L and REHILL A, 2020. Projections of care for older people with dementia in England: 2015 to 2040. *Age and Ageing*, **49**(2), pp.264–269. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afz154

Wittenberg R, Hu B, Jagger C, Kingston A, Knapp M, Comas-Herrera A, King D, Rehill A and Banerjee S, 2020. Projections of care for older people with dementia in England: 2015 to 2040, Age and Ageing, Volume 49, Issue 2, March 2020, Pages 264–269, https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afz154

Woods B, Arosio F, Diaz A, Gove D, Holmerová I, Kinnaird L, Mátlová M, Okkonen E, Possenti M, Roberts J, Salmi A, van den Buuse S, Werkman W and Georges J, 2019. Timely diagnosis of dementia? Family carers' experiences in 5 European countries. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*;34(1):114-121. doi: 10.1002/gps.499

WU Y, ZHENG H, LIU Z, WANG S, LIU Y and HU S, 2020. Dementia-Free Life Expectancy among People over 60 Years Old by Sex, Urban and Rural Areas in Jiangxi Province, China. International journal of environmental research and public health, 17(16), 5665. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17165665

Wu YT, Clare L, Jones IR, Martyr A, Nelis SM, Quinn C, Victor CR, Lamont RA, Rippon I and Matthews FE, 2018. Inequalities in living well with dementia - The impact of deprivation on well-being, quality of life and life satisfaction: Results from the improving the experience of dementia and enhancing active life study. *Int J Geriatr*

Psychiatry;33(12):1736-1742. doi: 10.1002/gps.4998

Wu YT, Clare L, Jones IR, Martyr A, Nelis SM, Quinn C, Victor CR, Lamont RA, Rippon I and Matthews FE, 2018. Inequalities in living well with dementia - The impact of deprivation on well-being, quality of life and life satisfaction: Results from the improving the experience of dementia and enhancing active life study. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*;33(12):1736-1742. doi: 10.1002/gps.4998 Xu WY, Jung J, Retchin SM, Li Y and Roy S, 2022. Rural-Urban Disparities in Diagnosis of Early-Onset Dementia. *JAMA Netw Open*;5(8):e2225805. doi:

10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.25805

Yoon K, Kim JT, Kwack WG, Kim D, Lee KT, Yang S, Lee S, Choi YJ, Chung EK, 2022. Potentially Inappropriate Medication Use in Patients with Dementia. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 10;19(18):11426. doi: 10.3390/ijerph191811426

Yorganci E, Stewart R, Sampson EL and Sleeman KE, 2022. Patterns of unplanned hospital admissions among people with dementia: from diagnosis to the end of life, Age and Ageing, Volume 51, Issue 5, afac098, https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afac098 Zafeiridi E, McMichael AJ, Passmore AP and McGuinness B, 2021. Factors influencing transition to care homes for people with dementia in Northern Ireland. *Alzheimers Dement (N Y)*; 17;7(1):e12120. doi: 10.1002/trc2.12120

Zhang X, Pérez-Stable EJ, Bourne PE, Peprah E, Duru OK, Breen N, Berrigan D, Wood F, Jackson JS, Wong DWS, Denny J. Big Data Science: Opportunities and Challenges to Address Minority Health and Health Disparities in the 21st Century. *Ethn Dis.* 27(2):95-106. doi: 10.18865/ed.27.2.95

Zimmerman S, Sloane PD, Williams CS, Reed PS, Preisser JS, Eckert JK, Boustani M and Dobbs D, 2005. Dementia care and quality of life in assisted living and nursing homes. *Gerontologist*;45 Spec No 1(1):133-46. doi: 10.1093/geront/45.suppl_1.133 Zwaanswijk M, Peeters JM, van Beek APA, Meerveld JHCM and Francke AL, 2013. Informal Caregivers of People with Dementia: Problems, Needs and Support in the Initial Stage and in Subsequent Stages of Dementia: A Questionnaire Survey. *The Open Nursing Journal*;7:6-13.